Factors Contributing to Cyanobacteria Blooms and Cyanotoxin Production and Release

AUGUST 19, 2021



Innovative solutions
Sound science

Factors Contributing to Cyanobacteria Blooms and Cyanotoxin Production and Release

AUGUST 19, 2021

PREPARED FOR:

Sabine Lange, Ph.D., DABT
Section Manager and Project Manager
Toxicology, Risk Assessment, and Research Division
Texas Commission on Environmental Quality
12100 Park 35 Circle
Austin, TX 78753

PREPARED BY:

ToxStrategies, Inc. 9390 Research Blvd Bldg 2, Suite 100 Austin, Texas

Table of Contents

Acı	ronyms	S	iv
Exe	cutive	Summary	. 1
1	Intro	oduction	. 4
2	Cyan	nobacteria Properties	. 4
:	2.1	Appearances	. 4
	2.1.1	Color	5
	2.1.2	Bloom formations	5
	2.1.3	Benthic mat formations	5
:	2.2	Geographic Occurrence	10
	2.2.1	Trophic state	10
	2.2.2	Planktonic cyanobacteria	11
	2.2.3	Benthic cyanobacteria	11
3	Envir	ronmental Factors that Affect Cyanobacteria Growth	12
3	3.1	Nutrients	14
	3.1.1	Nutrient usage, competitive advantage	15
	3.1.2	Nitrogen	15
	3.1.3	Phosphorus	16
	3.1.4	Nitrogen-to-phosphorus ratios	17
3	3.2	Light	18
	3.2.1	Buoyancy, competitive advantage	18
	3.2.2	Light usage, competitive advantage	19
3	3.3	Temperature	19
3	3.4	Waterbody Size, Shape, and Hydrodynamics	20
3	3.5	pH and Dissolved Inorganic Carbon	21
3	3.6	Salinity	22
;	3.7	Biological Agents	22
	3.7.1	Resistance to grazing	22
	3.7.2	Zebra mussel impacts	22
	3.7.3	B Predators	23

	3.8	Xenobiotics	24
	3.9	Overwintering	24
4	Fact	ors that Affect Cyanotoxin Concentrations	25
	4.1	Cyanotoxins and Genetics	25
	4.2	Clonal Composition	29
	4.3	Spatial Variability	30
	4.4	Environmental and Biomass Conditions	31
	4.4.1	Cyanobacterial biovolumes	31
	4.4.2	2 Cell counts	31
	4.4.3	B Chlorophyll-a concentrations	32
	4.4.4	Water transparency	32
	4.4.5	Nutrient concentrations	32
	4.5	Meteorological Conditions	33
	4.6	Xenobiotics	34
5	Drin	king Water Concerns	34
	5.1	Intake Management	35
	5.2	Cyanobacterial Cell Removal	35
	5.2.1	Coagulation, flocculation, sedimentation, and filtration	35
	5.2.2	2 Dissolved air flotation	35
	5.2.3	B Membrane filtration	35
	5.3	Oxidants	36
	5.3.1	Chlorination and disinfection byproducts	36
	5.3.2	2 Ultraviolet irradiation	36
	5.3.3	B Potassium permanganate	36
	5.3.4	Ozone	37
	5.4	Activated Carbon	37
6	Texa	s Case Studies	37
	6.1	Large Reservoir in West Texas, 2015–2017	38
	6.2	Buffalo Springs Lake and Lake Ransom Canyon, 2003–2004	38
	6.3	National Lakes Assessments, 2007, 2012, and 2017	38
	6.4	Lady Bird Lake, 2019	39

6.5	Lake Travis, 2021	39				
6.6	Lake Houston, 2006–2008	39				
6.7	Port Aransas Beach, 2007–2011	39				
6.8	Lake Cliff Park and Other Dallas Waterbodies, 2017					
6.9	Ingleside, 2016	40				
6.10	Lake Texoma, 2011–2012	40				
6.11	Zebra Mussels	40				
7 Cond	lusions	41				
8 Refe	rences	43				
Appendix	,					
Table 1.	Common cyanobacteria morphologies in vegetative states: Toxic planktonic	6				
Table 2.	Common cyanobacteria morphologies in vegetative states: Toxic benthic	7				
Table 3.	Common cyanobacteria morphologies in vegetative states: Toxic but do not form blooms	S				
Table 4.	Common cyanobacteria morphologies in vegetative states: Forms blooms with novel toxins	9				
Table 5.	Trophic state definitions (adapted from Ibelings et al., 2021)	10				
Table 6.	Typical generalized waterbody conditions for high cyanobacterial biomass (Adapted from Burch et al., 2021)	12				
Table 7.	Hypotheses for cyanobacterial success in freshwater systems (adapted from Mioni et al., 2012)	13				
Table 8.	Common cyanobacteria and their cyanotoxins: Toxic planktonic	26				
Table 9.	Common cyanobacteria and their cyanotoxins: Toxic benthic	26				
Table 10.	Common cyanobacteria and their cyanotoxins: Toxic but do not form blooms	27				
Table 11.	Common cyanobacteria and their cyanotoxins: Forms blooms with novel toxins	28				

Acronyms

ATX anatoxin-a

CYN cylindrospermopsin
DAF dissolved air flotation
dhATX dihydroanatoxin-a

EPS extracellular polysaccharides

fg femtogram

GAC granular activated carbon HAB harmful algal blooms

MC microcystin NOD nodularin

PAC powdered activated carbon

RuBisCo ribulose bisphosphate carboxylase/oxygenase

SRP soluble reactive phosphate

STX saxitoxins
TN total nitrogen
TP total phosphorus

USEPA United States Environmental Protection Agency

Executive Summary

ToxStrategies conducted a comprehensive literature review on the factors and conditions causing and contributing to cyanobacterial blooms, as well as their toxin production and release, especially as they relate to Texas surface waters. This report discusses the various environmental factors and their complex relationships with cyanobacteria and their toxins. However, environmental factors discussed are general in nature, and there can be significant variability among waterbodies, even within the same region. Drinking water treatment methods and Texas case studies are presented as well.

Cyanobacteria, also known as "blue-green algae," occur in surface waters worldwide. Cyanobacterial toxins, or "cyanotoxins," released from cyanobacteria can harm the health of animals and humans. Cyanobacterial blooms are typically associated with eutrophication, which is enhanced biological production in surface waterbodies as a result of increased nutrient loads. When cyanobacteria in these bloom events lyse, they release their cyanotoxins. Cyanobacteria have been found throughout water columns as planktonic species, where they can aggregate during blooms, as well as in the benthos as mats. Historically, they have been considered as algae, given their morphologies. However, morphology alone is insufficient to identify cyanobacteria, and phylogenetic molecular techniques have become the standard for identification. Improved and expanded phylogenetic profiling continues with the evolution of cyanobacterial taxonomy.

Nutrient concentrations are important environmental factors that promote cyanobacterial growth. Nutrients, namely phosphorus and nitrogen, enter a waterbody from point sources, such as discharges and outfalls, and nonpoint sources, such as surface runoff and groundwater inflow. Phosphorus is frequently considered to be rate limiting because many cyanobacteria can fix nitrogen from the atmosphere, but nitrogen concentrations can also affect cyanobacterial growth. Cyanobacteria can use multiple forms of nitrogen, and they can store phosphorus internally to give them an advantage when external phosphorus concentrations are low.

Other important environmental factors include light availability, temperature, waterbody hydrodynamics, pH, and salinity. Some cyanobacteria have lower light requirements than other phytoplankton, and they have multiple pigments that allow them to harvest light at wavelengths unusable to their non-cyanobacteria competitors. Planktonic cyanobacteria contain gas vesicles that make them buoyant and enable them to remain in the euphotic zone. Some, but not all, cyanobacteria thrive at higher temperatures. Many cyanobacteria have overwintering capabilities in which they can bloom in cold temperatures to keep waters turbid or produce akinetes (dormant cells) that germinate when warm temperatures return. Higher temperatures promote thermal stratification in a waterbody and affect its mixing depth, enabling buoyant cyanobacteria to maintain their access to light. In addition, cyanobacteria that grow

slowly tend to favor waterbodies with long residence times. Large cyanobacterial blooms can raise the pH of a waterbody during photosynthesis because they use a variety of methods to take up inorganic carbon, and some cyanobacteria can grow more successfully at higher pH levels than other phytoplankton. Many cyanobacteria are also resistant to osmotic shock and can survive in higher salinities.

Other organisms interact with cyanobacteria. Many cyanobacteria are resistant to grazing by zooplankton because of their toxicity, filament or colony size, or low nutrition. Blooms can also provide a refuge for small fish that consume zooplankton, reducing their grazing pressure. In particular, zebra mussels selectively reject feeding on cyanobacteria when grazing on phytoplankton, thus giving cyanobacteria a competitive advantage. Zebra mussels can also act as a sink and a source of phosphorus as they mobilize iron-bound phosphorus from sediments. Furthermore, as zebra mussels uptake calcium, they affect waterbody chemistry by reducing alkalinity, which may give cyanobacteria an advantage.

Cyanobacterial populations and behaviors can vary with environmental conditions, even at a local scale. Although multiple studies have attempted to tie regional climate and meteorological conditions to cyanobacteria and cyanotoxin production, variability exists even among waterbodies that are near each other.

Cyanobacteria strains that possess the appropriate genes produce cyanotoxins, and they can co-exist with nontoxic strains. Cyanobacteria within a given species can produce multiple toxins. The amount of cyanotoxin in a given strain can also vary, and seasonal patterns of cyanotoxin production fluctuate among waterbodies. It has been hypothesized that environmental conditions may affect whether genes related to cyanotoxin production are upregulated, but this is not yet well understood. Even if nontoxic clones dominate a given bloom, the toxic clones present may still produce toxins in excess of acceptable limits. Nevertheless, in general, factors that affect cyanobacterial growth are also relevant to their effects on cyanotoxin production.

Cyanotoxins may present health concerns to humans as hepatotoxins, dermatoxins, and neurotoxins when they are released from cyanobacterial cells. This release typically follows cell lysis when the toxins enter surface waterbodies that are used for drinking water or recreational activities, resulting in incidental ingestion. When adjusting the drinking water source intake to avoid cyanobacterial blooms is impractical, drinking water must be treated to remove intracellular (intact cyanobacteria) and extracellular cyanotoxins. Conventional treatment methods may remove cyanobacterial cells and extracellular cyanotoxins, although an integrated approach using multiple methods is often preferred. Drinking water treatment efficacy varies among extracellular cyanotoxins depending on their chemical and physical properties. Coagulation, flocculation, sedimentation, and filtration are often effective at removing intact cells but must be optimized for specific blooms. Dissolved air flotation is useful for removing cyanobacteria with low densities and high buoyancy. Membrane filtration can remove

cyanobacterial cells, and nanofiltration and reverse osmosis can also remove cyanotoxins. Because oxidation at the beginning of a drinking water treatment process has the potential to lyse cyanobacterial cells, treatment plant operators should consider physically removing cells prior to oxidation. This consideration is particularly important for chlorination because it can increase disinfection byproduct concentrations when oxidizing organic cyanotoxins. Whereas ultraviolet irradiation at doses typical for conventional pathogen disinfection is not effective for destroying cyanotoxins, it may be a viable option when used in conjunction with hydrogen peroxide to produce hydroxyl radicals. Potassium permanganate and ozone may also degrade certain cyanotoxins. In addition, activated carbon has been demonstrated to remove cyanotoxins, but tests are required for proper powdered activated carbon dosing or granular activated carbon column design.

There have been few peer-reviewed studies specific to cyanobacterial blooms or cyanotoxins in Texas, but cyanobacteria have been observed widely throughout the state. Several regulatory authorities routinely monitor waterbodies for blooms in and around Texas and warn the public accordingly. Case studies in Texas largely involve animal deaths as they suffer neurological or gastrointestinal effects after consuming water or mats contaminated with cyanotoxins or licking cyanobacteria from their fur. These incidents have raised concerns about cyanobacteria occurrences, and municipal authorities must understand the features and patterns specific to each waterbody because environmental factors are complex and dynamic.

1 Introduction

Cyanobacteria, also known as "blue-green algae," occur in surface waters across the globe. Cyanobacterial toxins, or "cyanotoxins," released from cyanobacteria are a concern for the health of humans and animals. Cyanobacteria growth produces harmful algal blooms (HABs) that are typically associated with eutrophication, which is enhanced biological production in surface waterbodies as a result of increased nutrient loads. Eutrophication often leads to visible blooms, surface scums, and floating plant mats. When cyanobacteria in these bloom events die and lyse, they release their cyanotoxins. In addition, when this organic matter decays, it can deplete dissolved oxygen in the water, causing secondary fish kills. Cyanobacterial biomass can produce offensive taste and odor compounds, and also can foul beaches, affecting important tourism industries. Other harmful effects arise when cyanobacteria compete with other plankton for nutrients such as diatoms, which are important to fish food webs (Steffen et al., 2014). Herein, we discuss the properties of cyanobacteria, environmental factors associated with cyanobacterial growth, and factors that affect cyanotoxin production. Complex and synergistic factors, rather than a single dominant parameter, are responsible for cyanobacteria proliferation, and they are typically specific for a given waterbody. HAB case studies specific to Texas waterbodies are also presented.

This literature review cites references from the recent comprehensive work by Chorus and Welker (2021). References also include relevant cyanobacteria and cyanotoxin citations identified in PubMed, Embase, and Google Scholar. Texas case studies were collected from scientific literature, the popular press, and public notifications.

2 Cyanobacteria Properties

2.1 Appearances

Despite the various names that have been used, cyanobacteria are a group of prokaryotic organisms. However, they have historically been considered as algae, and their established nomenclature follows both bacterial and botanical codes, leading to confusion in their taxonomy, which continues even today (Stanier et al., 1978). Cyanobacterial cells can be unicellular or filamentous and can exist singularly or as colonies. Cell sizes range from 0.2 mm to over 40 mm, and their volumes can vary considerably as they form multicellular aggregates. Many species can form mats or colonies by embedding single cells in mucilage, a mucous matrix. They exist as plankton (suspended in the water column or accumulated at surface) or in the benthos (bottom of waterbody). Although cyanobacteria are generally considered photoautotrophic (i.e., they use light and inorganic carbon for energy), they can also behave as heterotrophs (using nutrients and organic carbon from other organisms) and can produce extracellular polysaccharides (EPS), thus forming colonies (Shen et al., 2011; Lea-Smith

et al., 2013). Tables 1-4 summarize some morphological characteristics among common cyanobacteria in their vegetative (active, reproductive) states, and these characteristics are discussed in greater detail below. Appearances can change over their life cycle, in particular when they form akinetes (dormant cells that rest when environmental conditions do not promote growth and germinate when favorable growth conditions return). However, morphology alone may not be sufficient for identifying cyanobacteria. Rather, advanced molecular methods are critical to characterizing cyanobacterial communities (Kurmayer et al., 2004).

2.1.1 Color

Cyanobacteria differ from other bacteria, in that they contain chlorophyll-a, similar to plant chloroplasts. They also contain phycobilins, which are accessory pigments bound to water-soluble phycobiliproteins (Tandeau de Marsac 2003). For example, phycocyanin is blue, thus giving cyanobacteria the "blue-green algae" moniker. Phycoerythrin gives some cyanobacteria their red or brown appearance. Carotenoids protect chlorophyll-a from oxidative damage and are orange or red. The various ratios of phycocyanin, phycoerythrin, carotenoids, and chlorophyll-a can give cyanobacteria various colors ranging from chartreuse to blue-green to violet-red (Vidal et al., 2021).

2.1.2 Bloom formations

Blooms occur in a variety of forms. In general, blooms refer to high phytoplankton cell density that reduces the amount of light passing into a waterbody. Buoyant cyanobacteria, namely *Microcystis*, *Dolichospermum*, and *Aphanizomenon*, that accumulate at or near the surface produce surface blooms in the form of visible streaks and can occur even with low overall cell density. Wind drift at leeward sites can further accumulate cells. Scum can form where buoyant cyanobacteria accumulate at the surface. Surfaces of very dense scums can dry, and cells can lyse, releasing cyanotoxins, as well as pigments and odors. Other cyanobacteria, such as *Oscillatoria*, tend to remain homogeneously distributed in a water column and produce surface scum only under extreme stability. *Planktothrix*, *Aphanizomenon*, *Dolichospermum*, and *Raphidiopsis* cells may also accumulate in deeper layers, such as between the upper warm and deep cold temperatures, or in low illuminance (Ibelings et al., 2021).

2.1.3 Benthic mat formations

Benthic cyanobacteria are common in mats at the bottom of waterbodies. These mats typically contain other organisms, such as heterotrophic bacteria and eukaryotic algae, as well as sediment. EPS hold these components together in mats (McAllister et al., 2016). Mature benthic mats with increased biomass trap oxygen produced from photosynthesis, which results in the mat becoming buoyant. The dynamic shear forces in the waterbody also contribute to mats detaching from the bottom and reaching the surface (Ibelings et al., 2021). Even when waters appear clear and cyanotoxin concentrations in water are low, floating or beached benthic mats pose health hazards for pets and wildlife (Ibelings et al., 2021).

 Table 1.
 Common cyanobacteria morphologies in vegetative states: Toxic planktonic

Cyanobacteria	Color	Shape and Cell Size	Cell Aggregation	References
Anabaenopsis	Light blue-green	Coiled or straight, 5.3-8.8 μm wide, 5.1-9.3 μm long; may have heterocysts at terminal ends	Free-floating filaments, densely aggregated; contain gas vesicles	Ballot et al. (2008) Baker et al. (2012) Walsby (1972)
Aphanizomenon	Dark brown; filaments may contain pale blue heterocysts	Cylindrical, 5-6 μm in diameter, 8-12 μm long	Unbranched filament, solitary or mat forming; contain gas vesicles	AWWA and WRF (2016) Matthews (2021) Walsby (1972)
Cylindrospermopsis	Blue-green or brown- green	Cylindrical, 1.7-3.0 μm wide, 3-10 μm long	Unbranched filament, straight or coiled; mucilaginous envelope absent; contain gas vesicles	AWWA and WRF (2016) Dordević et al. (2015) Shafik et al. (2003) Saker and Neilan (2001)
Dolichospermum	Light green	Barrel-shaped to spherical, 5.1- 11.5 μm wide, 5.0-10.1 μm long; may have round heterocysts	Solitary, straight filaments; contain gas vesicles	Choi et al. (2018)
Microcystis	Protoplast is pale blue-green, but gas vesicles make cells appear dark or brown	Spherical, 2-5 μm	Unicellular and/or irregularly shaped colonies surrounded by mucilage; contain gas vesicles	AWWA and WRF (2016) Connecticut College (2021)
Nodularia (planktonic species most common in brackish waters, some species are benthic in coastal waters without gas vesicles)	Bright blue-green	Discoid or barrel-shaped, 4.0-16 µm wide, 2.0-5.5 µm long; may have spherical, brown, blue or orange heterocysts	Straight or slightly coiled unbranched filaments; may be aggregated into tangled clumps; planktonic species contain gas vesicles	Baker et al. (2012) Matthews (2021) Bolch et al. (1999)
Planktothrix	Green or red	Cylindrical, 3.5-10 μm wide, <4 μm long	Unbranched filament; contain gas vesicles	AWWA and WRF (2016) Baker et al. (2012)

Cyanobacteria	Color	Shape and Cell Size	Cell Aggregation	References
Pseudanabaena	Green or reddish black	Cylindrical, 0.8-3 μm	Unbranched filament, solitary or agglomerated in very fine, mucilaginous mats; contain gas vesicles	AWWA and WRF (2016) Baker et al. (2012) Acinas et al. (2009)
Raphidiopsis	Pale blue-green, yellowish or olive- green	Cylindrical, 0.8-4.9 μm wide, 4.1- 20.5 μm long	Solitary, free-floating filaments tapered toward ends; straight, waved, or helical; contain gas vesicles	Baker et al. (2012) Aguilera et al. (2018)
Sphaerospermopsis	Blue-green	Spherical or slightly elongated, 4-8 µm wide, 4-8 µm long	Solitary, free floating, coiled or straight; contain gas vesicles	Werner et al. (2012)
Synechococcus	Blue-green or red	Cylindrical or rod-shaped, <3 μm wide, <22 μm long	Solitary or in loose colonies; contain gas vesicles	Baker et al. (2012) Damerval et al. (1989) University of Windsor (2021)

Table 2. Common cyanobacteria morphologies in vegetative states: Toxic benthic

Cyanobacteria	Color	Shape and Cell Size	Cell Aggregation	References
Anabaena (planktonic species now classified as Dolichospermum)	Blue-green to yellow- green	Spherical to oblong, 4-14 μm in diameter, 6-12 μm long	Unbranched filament (beaded chain); may form thin, fuzzy mat; may have colorless mucilage	AWWA and WRF (2016) Baker et al. (2012) Ford et al. (2021)
Geitlerinema	Mostly bright blue- green, rarely violet or brown	Oblong, 1.7-2.6 μm wide, 2.6-6.4 μm long	Unbranched, flexuous or straight filament; usually parallel in membrana-ceous mats	Tinpranee et al. (2018) Baker et al. (2012) Komárek et al. (2003)
Hydrocoleum	Olive, pale green, red, pink, violet, orange, yellow, or brown	Cylindrical, 3.0-29.1 μm wide, 0.64-8.2 μm long	Interwoven filaments form firm or loose mats; mats may be flat, compact cushions, or upright tufts	Palinska et al. (2015)

Cyanobacteria	Color	Shape and Cell Size	Cell Aggregation	References
Lyngbya (some strains have gas vesicles and can be planktonic as well)	Red, brown, black, yellow-brown, slightly red, blue, or gray	Cylindrical, 12.8-36.1 μm wide, 2.4-10.3 μm long	Unbranched, straight filaments; mats resemble fine, silky hair or are clumps; may form thick, floating balls attached by narrow strands to bottom substrate	Sharp et al. (2009) Connecticut College (2021) Engene et al. (2018) Ford et al. (2021)
Merismopedia (some may be planktonic as well)	Pale or bright blue- green, rarely reddish	Spherical to oval, 1.2-6.5 μm in diameter	Cells arranged in rows forming flat and rectangular colonies in mucilage	Baker et al. (2012) Komárek et al. (2003)
Microcoleus (in streams)	Bright, dark or grayish green; occasionally brown, yellow or red	Cylindrical, 3-8 μm wide, 2-6 μm long	Colonies or filaments form thin, compact mats or rope/band-like structures	Strunecký et al. (2013) Baker et al. (2012)
Nostoc (in lakes, on tree trunks and in soggy soil)	Yellow, brown, black, cyan, or emerald	Square, barrel-shaped, spherical, or cylin-drical, 2.0-5.7 μm wide, 2.8-5.7 μm long	Slightly curved filaments form colonies enveloped by gelatinous sheath; colonies can become buoyant, even without gas vesicles	Baker et al. (2012) Singh et al. (2020)
Oscillatoria (planktonic species may be considered Planktothrix)	Black, blue-green, green, brown, gray, or purple	Discoid, 1.8-2.4 μm wide, 2.4-4.2 μm long	Filaments form leathery or fuzzy mats	Heath et al. (2010) Ford et al. (2021) Stal et al. (1985) Mühlsteinová et al. (2018)
Phormidium (in streams)	Black, green, brown, or red	Discoid, 3.6-13.2 μm wide, 1.8- 6.6 μm long	Filaments form leathery mats	Heath et al. (2010) McAllister et al. (2016)
Scytonema (can also be free-floating)	Yellow-brown, green, blue-green, or gray	Cylindrical or barrel-shaped, 5-18 μm wide, 2.5-10 μm long	Filaments slightly flexuous, often coiled and form tangled mats; may be widened toward ends; often form false branches	Baker et al. (2012) Komárek et al (2013)

Cyanobacteria	Color	Shape and Cell Size	Cell Aggregation	References
Tychonema (tychoplanktonic; in lakes)	Green or pink	Cylindrical, isodiametric, 4.5-7 μm	Unbranched filaments mainly solitary, straight, or coiled	Baker et al. (2012) Matthews (2021) Shams et al. (2015)

Table 3. Common cyanobacteria morphologies in vegetative states: Toxic but do not form blooms

Cyanobacteria	Color	Shape and Cell Size	Cell Aggregation	References
Hapalosiphon	Green or brown	Barrel-shaped, 4.8-5.9 μm wide, 5.9-8.5 μm long	Uniseriate trichomes in coiled clusters; initially grow on substrates, but later float among other vegetation	Baker et al. (2012) Nguyen et al. (2017)
Umezakia	Green	Cylindrical, spherical or ellipsoidal, 3-9 μm wide, 4-10 μm long	Filaments may be solitary, free floating, straight, or slightly curved, sometimes with true branches, with thick mucilaginous sheath; may contain gas vesicles	Niiyama et al. (2011)

Table 4. Common cyanobacteria morphologies in vegetative states: Forms blooms with novel toxins

Cyanobacteria	Color	Shape and Cell Size	Cell Aggregation	References
Limnothrix	Black, green, brown, or pale blue-green	Discoid, 1.3-2.4 μm wide, 2.4- 10.6 μm long	Filaments may be solitary or entangled to form leathery mats; may contain gas vesicles	Heath et al. (2010) Gkelis et al. (2005)
Gomphosphaeria	Blue-green	Cells club-shaped or heart- shaped, colonies 25-110 µm in diameter	Spherical colonies joined in the middle by mucilaginous stalks that widen at periphery to enclose cells	Baker et al. (2012) Komárek and Komárková- Legnerová (1992)

2.2 Geographic Occurrence

Cyanobacteria can thrive in a wide variety of habitats and adapt to extreme environmental conditions. Thus, they are found around the globe and are not restricted to a specific geography (Pridmore and Etheredge 1987), although specific environments select for specific species (Martiny et al., 2006). While both toxic and nontoxic genotypes of a given species often coexist in both planktonic and benthic mats, the factors that promote nontoxic vs. toxic strains are still under study (Cadel-Six et al., 2007).

2.2.1 Trophic state

Cyanobacteria occurrence is typically associated with the trophic state of a waterbody. Understanding trophic states is important to cyanobacteria management as an indicator of water quality. Although trophic state definitions can be subjective, they are typically related to the amount of biomass produced. Oligotrophic waterbodies produce little phytoplankton biomass, while eutrophic waterbodies produce much more phytoplankton biomass. The delineation between an anoxic hypolimnion (bottom of a thermally stratified waterbody) and oxygenated waters may further define the difference between mesotrophic and eutrophic waterbodies (Carlson and Simpson 1996; Dodds 2006). Benthic cyanobacteria can occur in oligotrophic waters, whereas planktonic varieties do not. Cyanobacterial blooms are rare in mesotrophic waterbodies, except for *Planktothrix rubescens* and detached benthic mats. Cyanobacteria are abundant in eutrophic and hypereutrophic waters (Ibelings et al., 2021).

Trophic states depend on the concentrations of nutrients, especially phosphorus (see discussion on Nutrients below), chlorophyll-a as a measure of phytoplankton biomass, and water transparency. Table 5 lists commonly referenced features of trophic states, with total phosphorus as the primary limiting nutrient, as well as associated chlorophyll-a concentrations and water transparency as measured from Secchi disc readings (Vollenweider and Kerekes 1982). However, trophic state definitions can be refined further at the local level.

Table 5. Trophic state definitions (adapted from Ibelings et al., 2021)

Trophic State	Total Phosphorus (mean) μg/L	Chlorophyll-a (mean) µg/L	Chlorophyll-a (maximum) µg/L	Transparency (mean) m	Transparency (maximum) m
Ultraoligotrophic	≤4	≤1	≤2.5	≥6	≥12
Oligotrophic	≤10	≤2.5	≤8	≥3	≥6
Mesotrophic	10–35	2.5–8	8–25	3–1.5	6–3
Eutrophic	35–100	8–25	25–75	1.5-0.7	3–1.5

Trophic State	Total Phosphorus (mean) μg/L	Chlorophyll-a (mean) µg/L	Chlorophyll-a (maximum) µg/L	Transparency (mean) m	Transparency (maximum) m
Hypereutrophic	≥100	≥25	≥75	≤0.7	≤1.5

2.2.2 Planktonic cyanobacteria

Globally, the most abundant cyanobacterium is arguably Prochlorococcus, which is common in oligotrophic tropical and subtropical oceans, followed by marine Synechococcus and Trichodesium. Because freshwater accounts for only a small fraction of global surface water, the percentage of planktonic freshwater cyanobacteria is small relative to all cyanobacteria (Garcia-Pichel et al., 2003). Among the planktonic freshwater cyanobacteria are Microcystis, which are found worldwide, often in temperatures above 15°C, under mesotrophic to eutrophic conditions, in thermally stratified lakes (deeper than 6 m), and in more shallow waterbodies (Ibelings et al., 1991). Planktothrix agardhii is common in shallow, temperate, eutrophic, and hypereutrophic lakes in a wide range of temperatures (Suda et al., 2002; Rücker et al., 1997). However, *Planktothrix rubescens*, which has a red pigment, is more restricted to the metalimnion (zone of rapid temperature change between the hypolimnion and epilimnion in a thermally stratified waterbody) where warm surface waters meet cold deep layers and are thus sensitive to eutrophication and turbidity, which restricts light (Nürnberg et al., 2003). Larger mesotrophic lakes may contain nitrogen-fixing Dolichospermum and Aphanizomenon with surface warming, high light, and low turbidity (to produce energy for fixing nitrogen) (Reynolds et al., 2002; Porat et al., 2001). Although Raphidiopsis is considered a tropical cyanobacteria, it has been found in a wide range of temperatures (20-35°C) (Briand et al., 2004). Nodularia spumigena tends to occur in marine and brackish waters, such as estuaries and coastal lagoons (Jones et al., 1994), but a freshwater strain that produced a benthic mat has also been reported (Beattie et al., 2000).

2.2.3 Benthic cyanobacteria

Oligotrophic freshwater and marine environments that allow light to penetrate to the bottom can support benthic cyanobacteria. These varieties attach to sediment (epipsammic), stones (epilithic), or macrophytes (epiphytic). Tychoplanktonic cyanobacteria also typically occur in benthic zones but can thrive in planktonic zones when their benthic habitats are disturbed (Scott and Marcarelli 2012). Benthic *Moorea* (formerly *Lyngbya*) can be found in shallow marine environments in tropical and subtropical zones (Ibelings et al., 2021). Oscillatoriales (*Oscillatoria*, *Planktothrix*, *Microcoleus*, *Phormidium*, *Microseira*, *Moorea*, *Leptolyngbya*, *Tychonema*, *Calothis*, and *Schizothrix*) and Chroococcales (*Aphanothece* and *Synechococcus*) dominate freshwater benthic mats. Nitrogen-fixing Nostocales (*Anabaena*, *Scytonema* and *Nostoc*) are also common in benthic mats (Quiblier et al., 2013, Wood et al., 2020). When planktonic

cyanobacteria are no longer supported in waters that become clearer, benthic and tychoplanktonic cyanobacteria may replace them (Ibelings et al., 2021).

3 Environmental Factors that Affect Cyanobacteria Growth

Several environmental factors influence when and where planktonic cyanobacteria are likely to grow. Table 6 summarizes the most typical factors, which are discussed in more detail below. However, there are many exceptions to these general observations, and this table should not be used as a guide for all waterbodies. Although temperature is often an important factor, cyanobacteria proliferation varies widely with temperature range; the range is waterbody specific and, therefore, is not included in the table. In general, most or all of the listed conditions, rather than a single condition, are associated with the indicated relative cyanobacterial biomass amount. Note that this table does not include cyanobacteria mats attached to surfaces, such as benthic cyanobacterial mats. Table 7 summarizes common hypotheses to explain cyanobacteria success in freshwater systems (adapted from Mioni et al., 2012).

Table 6. Typical generalized waterbody conditions for high cyanobacterial biomass (Adapted from Burch et al., 2021).

Relative Cyanobacterial Biomass Amount	Total Phosphorus (TP) Concentration	Mixing Conditions and	d Waterbody Type	Transparency	рН
	>50 mg/L	Stagnant, depth >5- 10 m, stable thermal gradients; favors scum-forming taxa (Microcystis, Dolichospermum and Aphanizomenon)	Stagnant, shallow, and well-mixed; favors non-scumforming taxa (<i>Planktothrix agardhii</i> and other fine filamentous forms such as <i>Limnothrix</i>)	Low, Secchi depth often <1 m	pH >7 (often >8 or even >9 with high photo- synthesis rates from high biomass)
	20-50 mg/L	Stagnant, deeper than favors <i>Planktothrix rui</i> metalimnion		Moderate, Secchi depth ~1– 3 m	pH ≥7
	10-20 mg/L	Fast-flowing river	Lake or reservoir with residence time	High, Secchi depth ~3–7 m	pH 6-7
	≤10 mg/L	Mountain stream or brook	<1 month	Very high – clear water, Secchi depth often >7 m	pH <6

Table 7. Hypotheses for cyanobacterial success in freshwater systems (adapted from Mioni et al., 2012)

Hypothesis	Advantages for Cyanobacteria	References
Nitrogen speciation	 Some cyanobacteria can fix nitrogen from the atmosphere Nitrogen from ammonium favors non-nitrogen-fixing cyanobacteria Urea may be more energetically favorable for cyanobacteria Other non-nitrogen-fixing cyanobacteria can take up nitrate and nitrite 	Schindler et al. (2008) Davis et al. (2010) Gobler et al. (2016) Oliver and Ganf (2000)
Phosphorus reserves	 Cyanobacteria can increase pH, consuming oxygen as cyanobacteria degrade and release phosphorus bound to sediment Some species in benthic mats release phosphorus from sediments, as well Cyanobacteria can store excess phosphorus internally 	Xie and Xie (2002) Reynolds (2006) Wood et al. (2015)
Low nitrogen to phosphorus ratio	 Ratios may be less of a factor than whether nitrogen or phosphorus is rate limiting Cyanobacterial populations can shift to other species favored by available nutrients 	Reynolds (1999a,b) Chorus and Zessner (2021)
Low light	 Some cyanobacteria have lower light requirements than other phytoplankton Multiple pigments harvest light in the 500- to 650-nm spectrum range 	Reynolds et al. (1981) Reynolds (1997) Wiedner et al. (2007)
Buoyancy	- Many cyanobacteria have gas vesicles that make them buoyant to remain in euphotic zone	Medrano et al. (2013) Humphries and Lyne (1988)
Temperature	 Some cyanobacteria thrive at elevated temperatures, while others prefer moderate temperatures Elevated temperatures also drive thermal stratification and mixing depth; higher temperatures promote nutrient release, as well 	Paerl and Huisman (2008) Srivastava et al. (2013) Walls et al. (2018) Carey et al. (2012) Ibelings et al. (2021)
Hydrodyamics and long residence times	 Buoyant cyanobacteria thrive in thermally stratified waterbodies, whereas large, shallow, turbulent waterbodies favor species that compete well for light Long residence times promote cyanobacteria that grow slowly 	Burch et al. (2021) Ibelings et al. (2021)

Hypothesis	Advantages for Cyanobacteria	References
High pH	 Cyanobacteria can raise pH during photosynthesis They have a variety of systems for carbonate uptake and can adapt to environments with varying inorganic carbon availability Some cyanobacteria grow more successfully at high pH 	Lampert and Sommer (2007) Chorus and Niesel (2011) Huisman et al. (2018) Sandrini et al. (2014) Becker (1994)
Salinity	- Some cyanobacteria are resistant to osmotic shock	Kruk et al. (2017) Moisander et al. (2002)
Biological agents and grazing	 Blooms can provide refuge for small fish that consume zooplankton, thereby reducing grazing pressure Many cyanobacteria are resistant to grazing by zooplankton Zebra mussels selectively reject feeding on cyanobacteria, giving the cyanobacteria a competitive advantage 	Engström-Öst et al. (2009) Kurmayer and Juttner (1999) Raikow et al. (2004) Vanderploeg et al. (2001) Dionisio Pires et al. (2005)
Xenobiotics	 Calcium can trigger anti-oxidation and EPS secretion, increasing cyanotoxin buoyancy Ionic and complexed trace metals can induce cyanobacterial growth 	Gu et al. (2020) Zhou et al. (2019)
Overwintering	 Some cyanobacteria can bloom in cold temperatures and keep waters turbid Other species produce dormant akinetes that sink to sediment until being recruited for germination when warm temperatures return 	Ibelings et al. (2007) Takamura et al. (1984) Ihle et al. (2005) Karlsson-Elfgren et al. (2004)

3.1 Nutrients

Cyanobacteria, along with other phytoplankton biomass, consist primarily of carbon, oxygen, hydrogen, nitrogen, and phosphorus. Oxygen and hydrogen are unlimited in water, and carbon concentrations are also not typically limiting. Nutrients enter a waterbody from its catchment, also known as a watershed, river basin, and drainage area. Catchments include point sources, such as discharges and outfalls, and nonpoint sources, such as surface runoff and groundwater inflow. Tile drainage can be an important nutrient contributor to waterbodies, and small lakes and ponds are particularly susceptible to nutrient deposition effects (Mrdjen et al., 2018a).

3.1.1 Nutrient usage, competitive advantage

Cyanobacteria can be found in all environments where water and nutrients are available, even if in small amounts. However, they compete with each other and phytoplankton for nutrients, especially phosphorus and nitrogen. They have several advantages that favor their proliferation. For example, they store excess phosphorus as polyphosphates, which can be used for several cell divisions when external phosphorus concentrations are low (Reynolds, 2006). They can also acquire various forms of nitrogen, such as nitrate, nitrite, ammonium, and urea, and some can even fix atmospheric nitrogen (Gobler et al., 2016; Oliver and Ganf, 2000). Cyanobacteria can also store surplus nitrogen as cyanophycin, meaning that even those species that cannot fix atmospheric nitrogen may have a competitive advantage over other algae in environments where nitrogen concentrations are low (Li et al., 2001).

These organisms also concentrate carbon, which allows them to efficiently use the ribulose bisphosphate carboxylase/oxygenase (RuBisCo) photosynthesis enzyme to fix carbon dioxide (CO₂). The inorganic carbon in the form of bicarbonate is transported to cellular compartments, where carbonic anhydrase transforms the bicarbonate to CO₂, which the RuBisCo can use. Cyanobacteria varieties have different combinations of the carbon uptake systems, which allow them to adapt to environments with varying inorganic carbon availability (Sandrini et al., 2014).

Diverse microbial communities in benthic mats interact when cycling nutrients within the mat (Bouma-Gregson et al., 2019). These mats also promote phosphorus release from sediment within the mats, which is then available for biomass growth (Wood et al., 2015).

3.1.2 Nitrogen

There has been some debate over whether nitrogen or phosphorus is rate limiting for biomass growth. Although adding both nitrogen and phosphorus can increase biomass (Elser et al., 2007; Chorus and Spijkerman, 2021), there is growing evidence that phosphorus is typically more rate limiting, primarily because nitrogen-fixing organisms can utilize inorganic nitrogen from the air (Schindler et al., 2008). Some scholars have proposed lowering waterbody nitrogen concentrations to shift cyanobacterial community composition to nitrogen-fixing species, but such a strategy may not be effective in turbid waters where light availability is limited because nitrogen fixation requires high light energy (Kolzau et al., 2014). Cyanobacteria can also take up dissolved nitrate, nitrite, and ammonium, and some can reduce nitrate to atmospheric nitrogen via denitrification under anoxic conditions (Ibelings et al., 2021). Nitrogen from urea can preferentially stimulate *Microcystis* growth as an energetically favorable nutrient source (Davis et al., 2010), although dissolved inorganic nitrogen concentrations greater than 30–100 μ g/L make it unlikely for nitrogen to be the rate-limiting nutrient (Kolzau et al., 2014).

Nitrogen can also enter a waterbody when leached from fertilized soil by runoff and can remain in a waterbody when organic matter decays. Excess nitrogen from fertilizer or animal manure does not tend to bind with soil but is readily soluble as nitrate (nitrogen in urea transforms to ammonium and then to nitrate by nitrification in soil) and leaches from soils to nearby waterbodies (Novotny, 2003). However, nitrogen can limit phytoplankton growth in some eutrophic shallow waterbodies, especially during late summer (Søndergaard et al., 2017). It is important to note that, when nitrogen is the rate-limiting nutrient, reducing the phosphorus concentration can make phosphorus rate-limiting nutrient instead (Ibelings et al., 2021).

3.1.3 Phosphorus

Wastewater, manure fertilizer, and runoff from contaminated soils can provide waterbodies with phosphorus. Because phosphorus is more effective than nitrate in binding with soil particles, surface soil runoff and erosion are the principal mechanisms of entry to waterbodies (Ibelings et al., 2021), although point sources such as wastewater discharge can be important as well and easier to control. Sediment is a sink for phosphorus, but it can also be a source as it cycles between water and sediment, especially in shallow waterbodies with low water exchange rates (Conley et al., 2009; Shatwell and Köhler, 2019). Phosphorus, in the form of apatite with soil, settles to sediment where it remains over long periods of time. Phosphorus may also be bound to iron salts, which dissolve in sediment anaerobic zones, and it can then adsorb to ironand aluminum oxides and minerals in the sediment. During summer stratification, anoxic conditions can release iron-bound phosphorus from the sediment. In fact, a feedback loop can occur in which cyanobacterial growth raises pH via photosynthesis, which consumes oxygen as it degrades and leads to additional phosphorus release from the sediment (Xie and Xie, 2002). However, phosphorus bound to organic matter is also readily available as organic matter decays (Psenner et al., 1988).

Sufficiently reducing external phosphorus loads to waterbodies has been shown to successfully control cyanobacteria growth in many locations (Phillips et al., 2008; Evans et al., 2011; Carvalho et al., 2013; Søndergaard et al., 2017), but complex biological and chemical phosphorus cycles within waterbodies can make phosphorus available to cyanobacteria years after external loads are reduced (Chorus and Zessner, 2021). Phosphorus interactions with soil also occur on land and can affect surface waters with runoff (Fox et al., 2016). Many agricultural practices include intensive fertilization so that soils can store phosphorus, but soluble phosphorus leaches to nearby waterbodies when it exceeds the soil binding capacity (Behrendt et al., 2000). However, some studies have reported that reducing only phosphorus in coastal waters and estuaries (e.g., Baltic Sea, Wadden Sea, and Gulf of Mexico) has led to excessive nitrogen levels, which may promote harmful algal blooms (Conley et al., 2009).

An understanding of proper phosphorus nomenclature is important when discussing this critical nutrient. Cyanobacteria take up soluble reactive phosphate (SRP), also known as dissolved inorganic phosphate (DIP) or orthophosphate. However, cyanobacteria quickly

take up phosphate released from degrading organic matter, and cyanobacteria can store phosphate for up to four cell divisions, even if no SRP is detected. Thus, SRP measurements are often a poor indicator of the amount of phosphorus relevant to cyanobacterial proliferation. Rather, total phosphate phosphorus drives the amount of phosphorus in cells and should be investigated when managing biomass. Although total phosphorus (TP) includes mineral forms that are not taken up by organisms, TP often represents total phosphate phosphorus. It is also important to note that TP concentrations are reported as the phosphorus atom (30.97 g/mol), rather than phosphate (PO₄, 94.97 g/mol), and mass conversions must account for this (Ibelings et al., 2021).

TP concentrations below 10 μ g/L are usually too low for cyanobacteria levels to create health concerns. TP concentrations in the range of 20–100 μ g/L drive the amount of cyanobacteria biomass, and biomass levels rarely increase at higher TP concentrations. In fact, higher TP concentrations may drive other resources, such as light, to be rate limiting. (Ibelings et al., 2021). However, the type of waterbody also affects the rate-limiting TP concentration. Some shallow lakes with extensive macrophyte (aquatic plants) cover may not develop cyanobacterial blooms, even when TP concentrations are 100 mg/L (Jeppesen et al., 1991), while large, deep waterbodies can have scums at TP concentrations of 20 mg/L, or *Planktothrix rubescens* in the metalimnion at even lower TP concentrations of 10 mg/L (Chorus and Zessner, 2021).

3.1.4 Nitrogen-to-phosphorus ratios

Some studies have proposed that cyanobacteria can proliferate when the nitrogen-to-phosphorus ratio falls below 29 to 1 (Bulgakov and Levich 1999; Harris et al., 2014), especially in the ratio range of 10 to 15 (Mur et al., 1999). Pawlik-Skowrónska et al. (2013) observed that increasing the nitrogen-to-phosphorus ratio reduced the amount of cyanobacterial biomass but increased the cyanobacterial community variety. However, other studies reported conflicting results in which nitrogen-to-phosphorus ratios were much weaker predictors of cyanobacterial growth than individual nitrogen or phosphorus concentrations (Downing 2001). These contradictory findings can be explained as either or both nitrogen and phosphorus concentrations possibly being too high to be rate limiting, making their ratios irrelevant (Reynolds 1999a,b).

Despite the tendency for phosphorus to be more rate limiting than nitrogen, there are instances in which nitrogen is the rate-limiting factor. Thus, waterbody managers should consider site-specific conditions when assessing the roles of nutrients (Chorus and Zessner, 2021):

 Shallow, well-mixed waterbodies with short-lived (a few days at most) thermal stratification can drive phosphorus to cycle between water and sediment, making nitrogen a better candidate for controlling biomass growth.

- 2. Phosphorus may not be rate limiting when phosphorus concentrations are high (i.e., greater than 25–50 mg/L), soluble phosphorus from phytoplankton is elevated (i.e., greater than 5–10 mg/L), or phosphorus is released from the sediment during the summer, when cyanobacteria proliferate.
- 3. Nitrogen concentrations might be targeted for controlling cyanobacteria growth if they can be reduced to 200–500 mg/L total nitrogen (TN) and to less than 100 mg/L dissolved nitrogen.

It is important to note that limiting nitrogen input can shift phytoplankton communities to nitrogen-fixing varieties, and controlling nitrogen is not an alternative to controlling phosphorus. In fact, rate-limiting nitrogen concentrations are seven to ten times greater than for phosphorus. Rather, nitrogen limitation is an additional approach for overall cyanobacteria management, particularly during summer conditions (Chorus and Zessner, 2021).

3.2 Light

Because cyanobacteria are photoautotrophs, light is a key resource for their growth. When nitrogen and phosphorus are available in excess, greater biomass is produced, making waters turbid. Seasonal changes, such as during darker winter months, can also drive rate limitations toward light when it is less abundant (Ibelings et al., 2021). *Planktothrix agardhii* and *Planktothrix rubescens* can outcompete other organisms in lower light intensities. Other species, such as *Dolichospermum* and those from the Nostocales order, require greater light irradiation (Wiedner et al., 2007).

3.2.1 Buoyancy, competitive advantage

Many species, especially colonial planktonic cyanobacteria, have gas vesicles that give them buoyancy. These gas vesicles tend to develop under low irradiance. Furthermore, when exposed to light, cyanobacteria produce carbohydrates, which can be stored as glycogen. The cyanobacteria, in turn, use glycogen as a ballast and consume it as an energy source in darker depths to regain buoyancy (Medrano et al., 2013). These features allow them to avoid sinking to the sediment where there is low or no light (Ibelings et al., 2021). Eutrophic waterbodies are turbid and limit light penetration to the upper euphotic zone. If water mixing is deeper than the euphotic zone where light is available, phytoplankton's access to light for photosynthesis is partially restricted when they move deeper than the euphotic zone. However, when the water is calm and mixing stops, thermal stratification layers develop, where nonbuoyant plankton sink out of the euphotic zone and buoyant cyanobacteria rise to the surface where light is available (Humphries and Lyne, 1988). Microcystis has a particularly large vertical migration span, making it well suited for deep and intermediate eutrophic lakes (Dokulil and Teubner, 2000). Buoyancy regulation can also result in different cyanobacterial accumulation patterns and, thus, cyanotoxin occurrence (Ibelings et al., 2021). As cyanobacteria with tolerance for low illumination intensities bloom, they create a positive feedback loop as

they prevent light from reaching competing organisms, allowing them to dominate (Burch et al., 2021).

3.2.2 Light usage, competitive advantage

Cyanobacteria contain other photosynthetic pigments in addition to chlorophyll-a, namely phycocyanin and phycoerythrin. These other pigments harvest light in the 500-to 650-nm range (green, yellow, and orange parts) of the solar spectrum, which other phytoplankton do not typically use. Thus, they efficiently harvest light and can grow in even low illumination. *Planktothrix*, a more filamentous variety, is a particularly good competitor for light. However, although *Microcystis* has buoyancy advantages, it forms colonies with reduced surface-to-volume ratios, which lowers its overall growth rate (Reynolds, 1997).

3.3 Temperature

Although there are exceptions, the temperature of a waterbody generally affects cyanobacteria growth by:

- 1. Driving the thermal stratification and mixing depth
- 2. Increasing the cyanobacteria growth with elevated temperature, as with other organisms (Visser et al., 2016)
- 3. Increasing organic matter degradation with elevated temperature, and releasing nutrients (Ibelings et al., 2021).

Higher temperatures (25°C or above) have been linked to cyanobacteria growth (Paerl and Huisman, 2008), although temperature alone may not necessarily be a good predictor of blooms (Huber et al., 2012). For example, there are cyanobacteria that can bloom in cooler temperatures. Rather, indirect temperature effects can be more important than direct effects (Carey et al., 2012). Waterbodies in temperate climates thermally stratify in the spring, with increased solar intensity and temperature. Thermal stratification determines the mixing depth in which phytoplankton occurs, the temperatures and nutrient concentrations in the upper mixing zone, whether phytoplankton sinks, whether blooms will accumulate at the surface or remain in suspension, and whether nutrients from decaying biomass remain in the sediment or are mixed in the water column (Ibelings et al., 2021). For example, buoyant bloomforming cyanobacteria, namely *Microcystis*, are unlikely to proliferate in sustained, well-mixed waterbodies (Visser et al., 2016).

Seasonal changes can also shift cyanobacteria community compositions. Wu et al. (2014) reported that *Microcystis* dominated total phytoplankton biomass from May to December in a large, shallow, eutrophic lake in China. After July, toxic *Microcystis viridis* and nontoxic *Microcystis wesenbergii* dominated, and *Microcystis viridis* became even more pronounced from November to January. Water temperature and nutrient

concentrations were primarily responsible for *Microcystis wesenbergii* growth, whereas nitrite and nitrate concentrations were most associated with *Microcystis viridis* occurrence, although *Microcystis viridis* has been associated with cooler winter temperatures (Takamura and Watanabe, 1987). Another study reported that *Microcystis aeruginosa* was dominant at higher temperatures (24.7–33.9°C), and *Microcystis wesenbergii* was prominent at lower temperatures (19.6–28.6°C) (Imai et al., 2009).

Temperature variations can also affect eutrophic waterbodies dominated by *Planktothrix agardhii*. Walls et al. (2018) found that cyanobacterial biomass in such a waterbody in Ohio increased with warming from 3 to 18°C but decreased at warmer temperatures (20–25°C). Declining biomass led to increased extracellular microcystin (MC) concentrations. However, toxin concentrations do not necessarily increase linearly with cyanobacterial mass, but rather can be at a maximum when environmental conditions for cyanobacterial growth are not optimal (Srivastava et al., 2013; Walls et al., 2018).

Elevated temperatures can also increase phosphorus release and solubility, as well as increasing the activity of aquatic animals that resuspend phosphorus from sediment. This makes temperature a critical factor in cyanobacteria blooms in artificial freshwater aquaculture ponds (Hu et al., 2018).

3.4 Waterbody Size, Shape, and Hydrodynamics

Stratification also depends on the size, depth, shape, wind exposure, and water exchange rate of a waterbody. Buoyant cyanobacteria do not compete well in large, shallow lakes with greater turbulence, especially in the presence of wind. Instead, species such as *Planktothrix agardhii*, which are not strongly buoyant but compete well for light, likely thrive under such conditions. Small, deep, thermally stratified lakes, particularly those that are sheltered from wind, have minimal turbulence and mixing only in the epilimnion (Ibelings et al., 2021). Large, stratified lakes can develop seiches, which are temporary standing wave disturbances that can displace species in the metalimnion, such as *Planktothrix rubescens*. Stable stratification in deep waterbodies also favors phosphorus released from the sediment to remain near the bottom, whereas greater mixing throughout the water column resuspends sediment and its phosphorus (Ibelings et al., 2021).

Waterbodies with regular, well-defined shapes often result in homogeneous water quality and plankton composition. Other waterbodies with irregular shorelines, bays, and tributaries that separate basins create zones in which water quality and bloom formations can vary (Ibelings et al., 2021).

Water residence time, which is estimated from the inflow, outflow, and waterbody volume, can also be an important factor in cyanobacteria proliferation. Cyanobacteria generally grow slowly and require sufficient residence times, often in the range of

weeks, to establish in large numbers (Burch et al., 2021). Low residence times, typically on the order of days, can dilute cyanobacteria sufficiently to lower their ability to multiply (Romo et al., 2013). In temperate climates, cyanobacteria with low growth rates will not outcompete other algal phytoplankton until late summer, although exceptions include *Limnothrix* and *Planktothrix* agardhii, which have high biomasses in summer (Burch et al., 2021). Residence times also affect nutrient concentrations. One study reported that a dilution rate of 10% per day resulted in a nutrient exponential loss rate of –0.16 per day, which limits most phytoplankton growth rates (Reynolds et al., 2012). Long residence times, on the other hand, mean that phosphorus remains available for recycling in a waterbody, even if external nutrient loads are reduced (Jeppesen et al., 1991).

Rivers with rapid flows do not tend to support planktonic cyanobacteria. These rivers can have increased turbidity from high inorganic particle loads, which limit light availability. Benthic grazing and highly fluctuating conditions can also reduce cyanobacteria growth rates in these waterbodies (Dokulil, 1994; Caraco et al., 2006). However, rivers with long stretches of slow flow have fairly constant hydrophysical conditions, and if there are high nutrient concentrations, cyanobacteria that favor well-mixed shallow waterbodies may emerge, such as *Planktothrix agardhii* and other fine filamentous species (Burch et al., 2021). In addition, lowland rivers with low flows can stratify, which may make them suitable for buoyant species such as *Dolichospermum* (Maier et al., 2004).

3.5 pH and Dissolved Inorganic Carbon

Most dissolved inorganic carbon exists as CO_2 in acidic conditions, as bicarbonate (HCO_3^{-1}) at pH 8, and as carbonate (CO_3^{-2}) at high pH values (Stumm and Morgan, 1996). During increased periods of cyanobacterial photosynthesis when carbon uptake exceeds supply, the equilibrium shifts from CO_2 to HCO_3^{-1} and CO_3^{-2} , increasing the pH (Lampert and Sommer, 2007). Thus, large cyanobacterial blooms can cause high pH in a waterbody. Nevertheless, cyanobacteria have a variety of systems for carbon uptake and can be found in waters with both high and low dissolved carbon dioxide concentrations (Huisman et al., 2018). Through carbon overconsumption, they also are known to remove more dissolved inorganic carbon than they require for biomass growth, because they release organic compounds (Schartau et al., 2007). However, one study suggested that increasing dissolved inorganic carbon may suppress toxic *Microcystis* abundance (Yu et al., 2014).

Cyanobacteria are not typically found in acidic waters (pH below 6) (Chorus and Niesel, 2011). In fact, some cyanobacteria grow more successfully at high pH than other phytoplankton (Becker, 1994). Taub (2021) suggested that, as other phytoplankton also consume dissolved inorganic carbon and increase the pH, cyanobacteria may dominate when conditions favor formation of CO₃-2.

3.6 Salinity

Salinity has been considered an important factor for cyanobacterial growth, because it affects osmotic equilibrium and concentrations of the ions responsible for cell function and growth (Silveira and Odebrecht, 2019). Salinity can affect Microcystis aeruginosa cluster composition; large-sized colonies with high amounts of mucilage have been reported to be more resistant to osmotic shock and can recover their vertical position after mixing (Kruk et al., 2017). Moisander et al. (2002) similarly found that Anabaenopsis, Anabaena, and Nodularia were able to acclimate to salt stress, although Cylindrospermopsis raciborskii had an upper salinity tolerance of 4 g/L NaCl. Low salinity levels have been associated with heterocystous cyanobacteria, while high salinities, which can reduce ammonia volatilization, can make the high nitrogen content detrimental for heterocystous species (Srivastava et al., 2009). Staal et al. (2003) explained that heterocysts develop a glycolipid envelope in less saline conditions, which gives them a selective advantage over non-heterocystous varieties. Because mucilage formation has been linked to toxic varieties, increasing salinity may favor toxic cell growth, and may also release intracellular toxins with lysis (Kruk et al., 2017). Salinity can also affect akinete production, with increased salinity and low temperatures triggering their formation (Silveira and Odebrecht, 2019).

3.7 Biological Agents

3.7.1 Resistance to grazing

Cyanobacteria are resistant to grazing by zooplankton for several reasons, including toxicity, filament or colony size, and poor nutritional quality (Kurmayer and Juttner, 1999), although the extent of such resistance is unclear. Successful grazing depends on both the zooplankton and cyanobacteria type (Mohamed, 2001; Wilson et al., 2006), and zooplankton can develop a tolerance against cyanotoxins (Ger et al., 2016). Moreover, there is evidence that in *Microcystis* colonies that have been grazed upon by protozoans, the remaining ungrazed cells had greater photosynthetic growth from protozoan nutrient recycling (Paerl and Millie, 1996).

3.7.2 Zebra mussel impacts

Zebra mussels (*Dreissena polymorpha*) typically intensively filter feed plankton biomass. Adults of this invasive species have been observed to selectively reject feeding on toxic *Microcystis* colonies while consuming algae, thus giving cyanobacteria a competitive advantage and promoting growth (Raikow et al., 2004, Vanderploeg et al., 2001). Other research has demonstrated that zebra mussels consume both toxic and nontoxic *Microcystis* at the same rate and excrete them as pseudofeces (Dionisio Pires et al., 2005). However, juvenile zebra mussels can be susceptible to cyanotoxins with suppressed production and development (Boegehold et al., 2019). One conflicting study concluded that such zebra mussel grazing behavior is not consistent, because some locations experienced a decrease in *Microcystis* abundance in the presence of zebra

mussels (Horst et al., 2014; Smith et al., 1998). In addition, zebra mussels consume both phytoplankton and zooplankton, thereby removing *Microcystis* competitors (Harke et al., 2016a).

Zebra mussels can also increase dissolved organic phosphorus concentrations, altering the nutrient profile to favor *Microcystis* (Heath et al., 1995; Harke et al., 2016a). Zebra mussels may act as a sink for phosphorus (Dolan and Chapra, 2012), as well as a source of soluble reactive phosphorus, because they mobilize iron-bound phosphorus from sediments in their anoxic guts (Turner, 2010).

Other waterbody changes attributed to zebra mussels include water chemistry. These mussels have been observed to take up calcium and store it in their shells, thus reducing water alkalinity. This can result in competition among primary producers for dissolved CO_2 for which *Microcystis* has an advantage. Inorganic carbon tends to convert to bicarbonate under increased pH conditions. *Microcystis* can use bicarbonate as carbonic anhydrase can convert it to CO_2 before it enters the cell, making CO_2 even less available for competitors (Aizawa and Miyachi, 1986; Kotak et al., 2000; Poste et al., 2013; Rinta-Kanto et al., 2005).

3.7.3 Predators

Despite their resistance to grazing and their toxicity, some organisms can help to control cyanobacterial growth (Sigee et al., 1999). Certain fish that consume phytoplankton, such as silver carp and bighead carp, can filter feed on cyanobacteria (Zhang et al., 2008). Fungal parasites, cyanophage, heterotrophic bacteria, actinomycetes, and protozoa can contribute to cyanobacteria losses, although these relationships are still being studied (Sigee et al., 1999; Ibelings et al., 2021). Manage (2009) reported that (in descending order) cyanophages, algicidal bacteria, rotifer Brachionus caliciflorous, zooplankton Cephalodella sp., testate amoeba Penardochlamys sp., and protozoa Polytomella sp. helped to suppress Microcystis aeruginosa growth in a lake in Japan during the normal bloom period. In addition, cyanophage lysis events have resulted in MCs being released from blooms (McKindles et al., 2020). Phage life cycles can be seasonal—one study found lysogeny genes during early (June to July) and late (October) blooms, with lytic genes from late July to October (Stough et al., 2017). However, other studies have reached conflicting conclusions where the phage did not appear to reduce the size of dense blooms (Rozon and Short, 2013), and some *Microcystis* can develop defenses against phage infections (Harke et al., 2016b). Ndlela et al. (2018) reviewed studies using bacteria as cyanobacterial controls and concluded that temperature, pH, and nutrient conditions may lead to reduced performance outside of laboratory-scale studies. Fabbro et al. (2001) reported that *Paramecium* successfully grazed on Cylindrospermopsis. Amoeba predation on cyanobacteria is varied, and possibly preferential for benthic cyanobacteria, although thick mats may inhibit grazing (Ma et al., 2016). Furthermore, Wilken et al. (2014) observed that, at low nitrogen concentrations, Ochromonas, an algae known to compete with and prey on Microcystis,

suppressed *Microcystis* abundance, but lost control over the *Microcystis* population at high nitrogen loads.

Zooplankton are an important link in the food web between primary producers, such as phytoplankton, and higher trophic levels, such as fish. Cyanobacteria effects on zooplankton depend on the species. Increased cyanotoxin production can trigger shifts from large-bodied to small-bodied zooplankton, as well as increased rotifer, copepod, and small-bodied cladoceran biomass, presumably because these organisms can select against toxic cells (Reichwaldt et al., 2013). Other organisms, namely *Daphnia*, starve in the presence of cyanobacteria (Lampert, 1981). In addition, algal blooms, including those from toxic cyanobacteria, can serve as a refuge for small fish against predation, which then consume large zooplankton and reduce grazing pressure (Engström-Öst et al., 2009).

3.8 Xenobiotics

Gu et al. (2020) observed that metals can affect *Microcystis aeruginosa*, with copper (>0.1 mg/L) and lead (>1 mg/L) suppressing the growth rate, but that calcium (>100 mg/L) and cadmium (<0.1 mg/L) facilitated blooms. The high concentrations of calcium triggered anti-oxidation, which promoted EPS secretion, aggregated cells, and significantly increased their buoyancy. Zhou et al. (2019) reported the order of metal ion toxicity to *Microcystis aeruginosa* as copper > zinc > iron. This same study observed that ionic and complexed trace metals induced more cyanobacterial growth than carbonate and sulfide-bound species.

3.9 Overwintering

In warmer climates, cyanobacteria can bloom year-round. For example, *Planktothrix*, among other cyanobacteria, can bloom even during winter months, keeping the water system turbid and preventing light from reaching other algae (Ibelings et al., 2007). Other cyanobacteria have overwintering strategies to remain viable in temperate climates during the colder months. During autumn and winter, the mixing depth of a waterbody deepens, reducing the amount of light available for photosynthesis, which reduces the size of cyanobacteria blooms. During this time of bloom reduction, viable *Microcystis* cells may sink to the sediment and become available to form blooms the following summer (Takamura et al., 1984; Ihle et al., 2005). Nitrogen-fixing *Anabaena*, *Dolichospermum*, *Aphanizomenon*, and *Raphidiopsis* produce akinetes, which are dormant cells that sink and can survive dormant for extended time periods until they germinate under favorable conditions (Karlsson-Elfgren et al., 2004).

4 Factors that Affect Cyanotoxin Concentrations

4.1 Cyanotoxins and Genetics

Cyanobacteria can occur in a wide variety of environments, and therefore, cyanotoxins are also found in most waterbodies. Cyanotoxin concentrations are closely related to the amount of toxic cyanobacteria biomass. Common cyanobacteria and their dominant associated toxins are listed in Tables 8-11 and grouped based on where they are typically found (i.e., planktonic vs. benthic). However, these tables are not exhaustive, and the scientific community's understanding of cyanobacteria taxa and their toxins continues to evolve. Appendix A provides existing regulatory, as well as candidate microcystin-LR (MC-LR), cylindrospermopsin (CYN), and anatoxin-a (ATX) screening levels for humans and animals.

The most common types of cyanotoxins with concentrations relevant to health effects are MCs, which are hepatotoxins and dermatoxins (USEPA, 2015). These are typically found with *Microcystis* and *Planktothrix* (Svirčev et al., 2019). Although *Microcystis* and *Planktothrix* blooms can contain clones both with and without genes for MC production, there are nearly always toxic clones (Kurmayer and Gumpenberger, 2006; Welker et al., 2004). *Oscillatoria*, *Nostoc*, *Anabaena*, *Anabaenopsis*, *Leptolyngbya*, and *Geitlerinema* cyanobacteria also produce MCs (Kaebernick and Neilan, 2001). The *mcyA-J* gene cluster is responsible for MC production in which a multienzyme complex allows MC components to be assembled non-ribosomally (Kaebernick and Neilan, 2001; Dittmann and Börner, 2005).

Nodularins (NODs), another type of hepatotoxin, are associated only with *Nodularia spumigena* (Kaebernick and Neilan, 2001). NOD biosynthesis occurs using a non-ribosomal mechanism similar to that used in MC production (Dittmann and Börner, 2005; Dittmann and Wiegand, 2006).

Several types of cyanobacteria are known to produce cylindrospermopsin (CYN), which are hepatoxins and nephrotoxins. These species include *Cylindrospermopsis raciborskii*, *Aphanizomenon ovalisporum*, *Raphidiopsis curvata*, and *Umezakia natans* (Banker et al., 1997; Fristachi and Sinclair, 2008), as well as *Nostocales*, *Stigonematales*, and *Oscillatoriales* (Christensen and Khan, 2020). These cyanobacteria also use genes that gather CYN components non-ribosomally (Schembri et al., 2001).

 Table 8.
 Common cyanobacteria and their cyanotoxins: Toxic planktonic

Cyanobacteria	Microcystin (MC) (>250 variants ^b)	Nodularin (NOD) (8 variants ^a)	Cylindrospermopsin (CYN) (5 variants ^e)	Anatoxin-a (ATX) (5 variants ^{g,n})	Saxitoxin (STX) (20 variants ^a)
Anabaenopsis a,b,c,d,h,l	х			х	
Aphanizomenon a,c,d,e,h,k,l	Х		Х	Х	Х
Cylindrospermopsis a,c,d,h,j,l			Х	х	х
Dolichospermum ^{b,k}			Х	Х	
Microcystis a,b,c,d,h.j,l	х			х	
Nodularia (planktonic most common in brackish waters, some are benthic in coastal waters) a,b,c,d,h,j		х			
Planktothrix ^{a,b,c,h,j,k,l,}	Х			х	х
Pseudanabaena ^{b,d}	х				
Raphidiopsis ^{a,b,c,d,e,h,k}			Х	Х	Х
Sphaerospermopsis ^{a,k}			Х		
Synechococcus a,b,c,d	Х				

Table 9. Common cyanobacteria and their cyanotoxins: Toxic benthic

Cyanobacteria	Microcystin (MC) (>250 variants ^b)	Nodularin (NOD) (8 variants ^a)	Cylindrospermopsin (CYN) (5 variants ^e)	Anatoxin-a (ATX) (5 variants ^{g,n})	Saxitoxin (STX) (20 variants ^a)
Anabaena (planktonic species now classified as Dolichospermum) a,b,c,d,j,k,l,m,p	х		х	Х	х

Cyanobacteria	Microcystin (MC) (>250 variants ^b)	Nodularin (NOD) (8 variants ^a)	Cylindrospermopsin (CYN) (5 variants ^e)	Anatoxin-a (ATX) (5 variants ^{g,n})	Saxitoxin (STX) (20 variants ^a)
Geitlerinema ^{i,m}	Х			X	X
Hydrocoleum ^f				Х	
Lyngbya ^{a,c,d,j,k,l}			Х		Х
Merismopedia ^b	Х				
Microcoleus (in streams) g,k,m				Х	
Nostoc (in lakes and on tree trunks and soggy soil) a,b,c,d,k,l.m	х	х			
Oscillatoria (planktonic species may be considered <i>Planktothrix</i>) a,b,c,d,e,j,k,m	х		х	х	х
Phormidium (in streams) a,b,c,d,h,j,k,m	Х			Х	Х
Scytonema (can also be free-floating) a					х
<i>Tychonema</i> (tychoplanktonic in lakes)				х	

Table 10. Common cyanobacteria and their cyanotoxins: Toxic but do not form blooms

Cyanobacteria	Microcystin (MC) (>250 variants ^b)	Nodularin (NOD) (8 variants ^a)	Cylindrospermopsin (CYN) (5 variants ^e)	Anatoxin-a (ATX) (5 variants ^{g,n})	Saxitoxin (STX) (20 variants ^a)
Hapalosiphon ^{b,c,d,j}	Х				
Umezakia ^{a,c,d,h,j,l}			X		

Table 11. Common cyanobacteria and their cyanotoxins: Forms blooms with novel toxins

Cyanobacteria	Microcystin (MC) (>250 variants ^b)	Nodularin (NOD) (8 variants ^a)	Cylindrospermopsin (CYN) (5 variants ^e)	Anatoxin-a (ATX) (5 variants ^{g,n})	Saxitoxin (STX) (20 variants ^a)
Limnothrix ⁿ					
Gomphosphaeria °					

References: ^aBoopathi and Ki (2014), ^bFastner and Humpage (2021), ^cFristachi and Sinclair (2008), ^dGraham (2021), ^eHumpage and Fastner (2021), ^fMéjean et al. (2010b), ^gPuddick et al. (2021), ^hŘezanka and Dembitsky (2006), ^hRichardson et al. (2007), ^jSivonen (2009), ^kTestai (2021), ^hWestrick et al. (2010), ^mWood et al. (2020), ⁿHumpage et al. (2012), ^oBerg et al. (1986), ^pMerel et al. (2013).

Anatoxin-a (ATX-a) congeners, including ATX-a, dihydroanatoxin-a (dhATX), homoanatoxin-a, and dihydrohomoanatoxin-a (dhHTX), are neurotoxins mainly associated with *Anabaena*, *Aphanizomenon*, and *Planktothrix* (Osswald et al., 2007; van Apeldoorn et al., 2007). Varieties of ATX-a have also been found widely in benthic mats containing *Anabaena*, *Phormidium* (Bouma-Gregson et al., 2018), *Geitlerinema* (Cantoral Urizea et al., 2017), *Hydrocoleum* (Méjean et al., 2010b), and *Microcoleus* (Puddick et al., 2021). However, anatoxin-a(s) (ATX-a(s)) has been associated only with *Anabaena* strains (Merel et al., 2013). Genes responsible for ATX production have been identified, although the biosynthesis mechanism is not yet well understood (Cadel-Six et al., 2009; Méjean et al., 2010a). Heath et al. (2014) reported that dhATX and dhHTX can account for the majority of ATX production by *Phormidium*. Furthermore, Puddick et al. (2021) observed that dhATX is likely among the most toxic ATX congeners by oral ingestion, raising concerns about its presence because it has been associated with animal deaths around the world.

In freshwater bodies, saxitoxins (STXs), which are also neurotoxic, are produced primarily by *Anabaena circinalis* and *Aphanizomenon flos-aquae*, although *Lyngba wollei*, *Cylindrospermopsis raciborskii*, and *Raphidiopsis bookii* can also produce STXs (Nicholson et al., 2003). Some dinoflagellates can also produce STXs in seawater (Merel et al., 2013).

A recently discovered neurotoxic cyanotoxin, b-N-methylamino-L-alanine (BMAA), can be produced by most known groups of cyanobacteria, especially *Nostoc* (Cox et al., 2005). Diverse cyanobacteria taxa have genes that code for enzymes involved in BMAA biosynthesis (Aráoz et al., 2008). Other marine cyanobacteria neurotoxins have also been reported recently as being produced from *Moorea producens* (formerly *Lyngbya majuscule*), namely antillatoxin, kalkitoxin, and jamaicamide (Aráoz et al., 2010).

Moorea producens is also known to produce dermatoxins such as aplysiatoxins and lyngbyatoxins. However, these have been detected only in marine waters (van Apeldoorn et al., 2007).

4.2 Clonal Composition

Toxic and nontoxic cyanobacteria often coexist in a given population. Only strains that possess the appropriate genes produce cyanotoxins (Kurmayer and Christiansen, 2009), and these strains can turn certain genes on or off according to environmental conditions (Merel et al., 2013). Many researchers have attempted to correlate cyanotoxin content in cells with factors such as nutrients, light, and temperature, but have produced contradictory results; potential correlations remain poorly understood, although there may be multiple complex triggers for cyanotoxin production (Harke et al., 2016a; Ibelings et al., 2021). Additionally, factors that affect overall cyanobacteria biomass proliferation, not just individual toxic clones, may primarily affect cyanotoxin concentrations (Salmaso et al., 2014). In addition, microscopy is not reliable for

identifying cyanobacteria; advanced molecular methods have emerged as the standard in characterizing cyanobacterial communities (Kurmayer et al., 2004).

Although cyanotoxin concentrations typically are correlated to the amount of cyanobacteria available, measured as chlorophyll-a or biovolumes of specific taxa, there are upper bounds to these relationships below which there can considerable variability in the ratios of cyanotoxins to cyanobacterial biomass (Ibelings et al., 2021). Composition shifts between clones with different toxin contents can explain this variability (Otten et al., 2017). The amount of cyanotoxin in a given clone can also vary by a factor of two to four (Ibelings et al., 2021). In natural waters, cyanobacterial toxic clonal population dynamics vary over time, thus changing cyanotoxin concentrations (Wood and Puddick, 2017). For example, CYN and neurotoxins have been found in blooms containing mixtures of toxic and non-toxic clones (Fastner et al., 2001; Wood and Puddick, 2017). Kelly et al., (2019) also observed that mats in which cyanobacteria were not the dominant taxa still may have concentrations of cyanotoxins, such as ATX and NOD, similar to concentrations in cyanobacteria-dominated mats.

Seasonal patterns of cyanotoxin concentration correlations to biomass can vary among waterbodies. Some studies have reported that waterbodies with *Planktothrix* and *Microcystis* communities had a maximum MC content when blooms first occurred and declined throughout the season (Kardinaal et al., 2007; Davis et al., 2009), whereas other researchers reported opposite observations (Ibelings et al., 2021). Some waterbodies have been observed with stable proportions of toxic clones to total cell numbers (Salmaso et al., 2014). There may be occasions when ATX producers temporarily dominate waterbodies that contain MC-producing taxa (Bouma-Gregson et al., 2018). Furthermore, maximum MC concentrations can result from a high abundance of toxic cyanobacteria, even if the amount of MC in the cells is low (Ibelings et al., 2021).

4.3 Spatial Variability

Cyanotoxin concentrations are heterogeneous, as are cyanobacterial biomasses. Toxin concentrations can vary by several orders of magnitude, even in the same waterbody on the same date, depending on where and how the sample is collected. Horizontal variability of cyanotoxin concentrations results from the different growth conditions, as well as horizontal biomass dislocation, because cells generally concentrate near shore and in the downwind sites of a waterbody (Chung et al., 2014; Miller et al., 2019). Vertical variability is caused mainly by buoyancy regulation, particularly with buoyant cyanobacteria, such as *Microcystis*, dominating the waterbody surface (Naselli-Flores et al., 2007) and *Planktothrix rubscens* in the metalimnetic layer (Ernst et al., 2009). For example, MC concentrations have frequently been found in the mg/L range in *Microcystis* scums, but in much lower concentrations where cyanobacteria were more evenly distributed in a water column (Cook et al., 2004; Loftin et al., 2016).

4.4 Environmental and Biomass Conditions

Although cyanobacteria biomass, and therefore cyanotoxin, concentrations are highly variable with space and time, there are several factors that can aid in estimating cyanotoxin concentrations. These are, in order of increasing estimate uncertainty:

- 1. Cyanobacterial biovolumes
- 2. Cyanobacterial cell counts
- 3. Chlorophyll-*a* concentrations
- 4. Water transparency (Secchi depth)
- 5. Nutrient concentrations.

4.4.1 Cyanobacterial biovolumes

Biovolume measurements offer the most accurate estimate of maximum expected cyanotoxin concentrations in cells. However, variable toxin content among clones makes the estimates reasonable only to within an order of magnitude (Ibelings et al., 2021). Nevertheless, field samples and laboratory studies have suggested that a maximum ratio of 3 mg MC per mm³ biovolume can generally be expected in waterbodies, although greater ratios have been reported (Hesse and Kohl, 2001; Znachor et al., 2006).

Although the maximum CYN cellular content is in the same range as for MCs, proportions of CYN dissolved in water can be higher than cell-bound CYN and can persist even after the cyanobacteria have been removed. Thus, if cyanobacteria that are known to produce CYN, such as *Raphidiopsis raciborskii* (North America, South America, and Australia) and *Aphanizomenon* (Europe) are present, CYN concentrations should be measured directly (Ibelings et al., 2021).

4.4.2 Cell counts

Toxic cyanobacteria cell counts can be used, along with associated toxin cell quotas (amount toxin per cell, usually expressed as femtogram [fg] per cell), to estimate concentrations of cyanotoxins. However, this approach is most suitable for taxa with available cell quota estimates, and these data are scarce. Just as with biovolumes, toxin content variability also introduces uncertainty using this method (Ibelings et al., 2021). *Microcystis* cell quotas from field samples can range from 1 to 144 fg/cell (Okello et al., 2010). CYN cell quotas for *Raphidiopsis raciborskii* and *Chrysosporum ovalisporum* have been reported as 60 fg/cell (Orr et al., 2011) and 191 fg/cell (Vasas et al., 2013), respectively. A saxitoxin cell quota of 1.3 picogram (pg) per cell has been found in *Scytonema* (Smith et al., 2011). Cyanotoxins that do not have known cell quotas are treated conservatively as MC, because their maximum cellular concentrations are similar to those of MCs, although actual concentrations are substantially lower than MCs (Ibelings et al., 2021).

4.4.3 Chlorophyll-a concentrations

Chlorophyll-*a* concentrations measure total phytoplankton organisms, including cyanobacteria. Thus, qualitative microscopic analysis would be needed to determine the prevalence of cyanobacteria in a sample when using chlorophyll-*a* as a cyanotoxin indicator. Phytoplankton chlorophyll-*a* content varies with light and nutrient availability, which introduces uncertainty to this method. Correcting for phycocyanin, a pigment found only in cyanobacteria, can also help to improve the reliability of this method (Ibelings et al., 2021). Studies have reported that MC concentrations in cells do not normally exceed the chlorophyll-*a* concentration, and the typical ratio is between 0.1 and 0.5 (Sinang et al., 2013; Loftin et al., 2016; Mantzouki et al., 2018.) Therefore, a conservative approach assumes a maximum ratio of 1 mg MC per mg chlorophyll-*a*, provided it is largely from cyanobacteria (Ibelings et al., 2021).

4.4.4 Water transparency

Water transparency is easily measured with a Secchi disk on site and is often correlated with phytoplankton and chlorophyll-a concentrations. Subbiah et al. (2019) found that increased turbidity was directly related to increased ATX and MC concentrations. Although suspended inorganic sediments and humic substances can also affect water transparency, high Secchi depths (increased water transparency) generally indicate lower cyanobacteria levels and cyanotoxin concentrations in the epilimnion (upper layer). Transparency thresholds for cyanobacterial blooms depend on the given waterbody or waterbody type, as well as the season (Ibelings et al., 2021). It is important to note that Secchi disk readings may not be useful for indicating benthic or tychoplanktonic cyanobacteria, as well as *Planktothrix rubescens*, in the metalimnion.

4.4.5 Nutrient concentrations

TP and, often to a lesser extent, TN typically determine the maximum amount of phytoplankton biomass. In turn, they can also determine the maximum amount of cyanotoxin concentrations (Dolman et al., 2012). For example, Pawlik-Skowrónska (2013) found that ATX production was positively correlated with total cyanobacterial biomass. However, nutrient concentrations are more useful as long-term factors for cyanobacteria blooms and cyanotoxins (Beaver et al., 2014). Nevertheless, research continues into the role of nutrients in promoting toxigenic variants. For example, MCproducing cyanobacteria are resistant to nutrient limitations (Pimentel and Giani, 2014)—in particular, iron (Sevilla et al., 2008), nitrogen (Horst et al., 2018; Kotak et al., 2000) and phosphorus (Ginn et al., 2010; Pawlik-Skowrónska et al., 2013). This protective mechanism is believed to result from MC binding to proteins under oxidative stress that results from nutrient limitations, increasing the fitness of toxic strains (Pimentel and Giani, 2014). Nitrogen starvation has been similarly linked to ATX production (Neilan et al., 2013). Increased nitrate concentrations can also promote MC production in some non-nitrogen-fixing cyanobacteria (Boopathi and Ki, 2014). Furthermore, addition of nutrient-rich guano from pelicans to a lake in Greece was also demonstrated to increase MC-YR and MC-LR production at the expense of MC-RR,

possibly because of micronutrients not otherwise available (Maliaka et al., 2020). Nutrient concentrations and forms can affect CYN production as well, with CYN production increased from *Cylindrospermopsis raciborskii* under a lack of a fixed-nitrogen source, and phosphate addition may favor toxic CYN-producing strains (Burford et al., 2014). Inorganic nitrogen may also favor nontoxic *Microcystis* strains (Davis et al., 2010).

Nutrient concentrations can also affect relationships between cyanobacterial species. Chia et al. (2018) reported that *Microcystis* strongly suppressed *Anabaena* under high nitrogen and low phosphorus concentrations, whereas the reverse occurred under low nitrogen conditions. When *Microcystis* had the competitive advantage, it produced greater amounts of MC and suppressed ATX production from *Anabaena*, presumably from an allelopathic relationship (where one type of plant inhibits the growth of another). Other studies have also suggested that allelopathic interactions, as non-cyanobacterial phytoplankton competitors, release EPS, which may stimulate MC production (Bittencourt-Oliveira et al., 2014; Sinang et al., 2015).

4.5 Meteorological Conditions

MC congeners can vary with environmental conditions. Continent-scale temperature differences have been suggested as primarily determining cyanotoxin diversity (Mantzouki et al., 2018). Taranu et al. (2019) reported that globally MC-LR dominated, with strong winds, warm temperatures, and nutrient-rich conditions. MC-LA, which was reported more commonly in North America than Europe, was associated with intermediate winds, wetter meteorological conditions, and poorer nutrient availability. Zhou et al. (2016) similarly observed that short-term high winds that produced turbulence in lakes triggered toxic *Microcystis* species growth, and thus increased concentrations of MCs. Another study confirmed that MC-RR and MC-LR dominated in high winds when coupled with high temperatures (Mischke, 2003). The increased turbulence in this study also raised shear stress, which could have lysed cells and released MCs. However, variability exists even within regions—maximum cyanotoxins were reported in late summer for some lakes but in early spring for another lake near Quebec, Canada (Rolland et al., 2005).

Ultraviolet (UV) radiation can affect MC production because nontoxic cyanobacteria can be more vulnerable to UV than toxic variants (Ding et al., 2013). Phelan and Downing (2011) suggested that MCs can protect toxigenic cells against photo oxidation under high light intensity. Light and heat stress can similarly promote NOD (Pearson et al., 2010) and STX production (Boopathi and Ki, 2014).

4.6 Xenobiotics

Lanthanum(III), a rare earth element widely used in electronics and other technology, is an emerging contaminant in many waterbodies. This element enters the environment through consumer and industrial product disposal via landfills, mining and mineral processing discharges, and industrial wastewater effluent (Gwenzi et al., 2018). This copollutant can trigger Microcystis aeruginosa cells to rapidly absorb nutrients, which in turn stimulate chlorophyll production, photosynthesis, and MC-LW, MC-LR, and MC-YR production (Liu et al., 2020a). Similarly, Wang et al. (2018) demonstrated that iron increases Microcystis aeruginosa cell growth, upregulates photosynthetic capacity, and promotes MC-LR production. Titanium dioxide nanoparticles are used in many fields, including foods, gas sensors, photocatalytic media, paint, cosmetics, and personal care products, and are increasingly being released to the environment and waterbodies. At reduced pH (6) or temperature (20°C), titanium dioxide nanoparticles can coat Microcysts aeruginosa, which hinders light absorption and cellular growth but may increase MC-LR production (Wu et al., 2019; Zhang et al., 2020). Furthermore, high concentrations of linear alkylbenzene sulfonate, another emerging pollutant that is used widely in industrial and domestic applications, increases MC production from Microcystis aeruginosa (Wang et al., 2015). The use of low-dose hydrogen peroxide is an attractive method to mitigate cyanobacterial blooms, but the simultaneous presence of antibiotics may stimulate Microcystis aeruginosa growth and MC synthesis (Liu et al., 2020b). However, Gao et al. (2020) reported that toxic Microcystis aeruginosa clones were more sensitive to pyrogallol, a plant allelochemical, than nontoxic clones; this is significant because pyrogallol has been proposed as an anti-cyanobacterial agent.

5 Drinking Water Concerns

In general, human health concerns may result from cyanotoxins being released from cyanobacterial cells and entering drinking water sources. Seasonal environmental changes, predation, viral attacks, and algaecides can lyse cells and release their toxins (Westrick et al., 2010). When extracellular cyanotoxins or cyanobacteria containing intracellular cyanotoxins enter the intake for a drinking water system, the water must be treated or the intake adjusted to prevent cells or toxins from entering the treatment facility. Treatment-method efficacy varies among extracellular cyanotoxins, depending on their chemical and physical properties, such as hydrophobicity, hydrophilicity, molecular size, and functional groups (Westrick et al., 2010). Conventional drinking water treatment methods are discussed below in terms of the ability of each to remove intracellular (intact cyanobacteria) and extracellular cyanotoxins. In many cases, an integrated approach using multiple methods is suitable (Antoniou et al., 2014).

5.1 Intake Management

Because cyanobacterial communities and behaviors are waterbody specific, drinking water treatment operators must understand the cyanobacteria patterns when using a surface waterbody as a drinking water source. Treatment-plant intake can be adjusted to draw water from different depths or at different times to avoid introducing cyanobacteria and cyanotoxins into the treatment facility (AWWA and WRF, 2016).

5.2 Cyanobacterial Cell Removal

Cyanobacterial cells are fragile, so treatment processes should consider removing the cells, when possible, before they release their toxins (AWWA and WRF, 2016; de Figueiredo, 2004). Cells can be removed using conventional coagulation, flocculation, and sedimentation; dissolved air filtration; and filtration.

5.2.1 Coagulation, flocculation, sedimentation, and filtration

Conventional coagulation, flocculation, and sedimentation treatment uses chemical coagulants to neutralize cyanobacterial cell negative charges so they can form flocs and settle out. This process, especially when followed by filtration, can be effective in removing intact cells (Gheraout et al., 2010), although it has also been known to induce MC release from cells (Mohamed et al., 2015). The process must be optimized to account for variability among cyanobacterial blooms (Ghernaout et al., 2010). Full-scale treatment facility operational parameters should be set after conducting jar tests to optimize coagulant dose, pH, and settling time (AWWA and WRF, 2016).

5.2.2 Dissolved air flotation

Dissolved air flotation (DAF) introduces bubbles into water, and the bubbles attach to solid particles, which makes them less dense so they float to the water surface. The floated material can be removed by a skimmer (Antoniou et al., 2014). Thus, DAF has been demonstrated as effective for removing cyanobacteria with low densities and high buoyancy (Teixeira and Rosa, 2007). However, care should be taken to not subject cyanobacteria to shearing stresses from the pressurized air, which can damage and lyse the cells (Antoniou et al., 2014). In many cases, DAF combined with coagulation/flocculation can remove cells more efficiently than coagulation, flocculation, and sedimentation alone (Teixeira and Rosa, 2006).

5.2.3 Membrane filtration

Membrane filtration, namely microfiltration and ultrafiltration, effectively removes cyanobacterial cells by size exclusion, even without upstream coagulation (AWWA and WRF, 2016). Nanofiltration and reverse osmosis can remove cyanotoxins as well (AWWA and WRF, 2016; Gijsbertsen-Abrahamse et al., 2006). However, coagulation as a pretreatment can improve membrane filtration by reducing fouling (Huang et al., 2009).

5.3 Oxidants

The drinking water industry commonly uses oxidants, such as chlorine, UV irradiation, potassium permanganate, and ozone, to disinfect and degrade contaminants. These oxidants can be introduced at the intake (pre-coagulant), as a filter aid (pre-filter), or as a disinfectant (post-filter) (AWWA and WRF, 2016). However, if these oxidants also lyse cyanobacterial cells, additional oxidant dosing may be required to account for both lysing and reactions with cyanotoxins. Therefore, treatment plant operators should consider physically removing cells prior to oxidation processes (Onstad et al., 2007).

5.3.1 Chlorination and disinfection byproducts

Chlorine, a common drinking water disinfection agent, has been demonstrated to degrade MC, CYN, STX, and NOD, thus reducing water toxicity (Ho et al., 2008; Liu et al., 2020c; Senogles et al., 2000). ATX-a, on the other hand, appears to resist chlorination (Merel et al., 2010). However, chlorine, namely in the form of hypochlorous acid (HOCI), can react with organic compounds to produce disinfection byproducts (CDC, 2016). Cyanotoxins, which are organic compounds, can thus react with chlorine to form disinfection byproducts such as trihalomethanes, haloacetic acids, haloacetonitriles, and organic halogens (Liu et al., 2020c; Tsuji et al., 1997). Chlorine added at the intake can lyse cyanobacterial cells, increasing extracellular cyanotoxin concentrations (AWWA and WRF, 2016). Methods to otherwise achieve compliance with the Disinfection Byproduct Rule (DBPR, 40 CFR Sections 141 and 142), such as increasing the pH (which decreases chlorine's rate of cyanotoxin oxidation) and using chloramines and chlorine dioxide (which do not degrade cyanotoxins well) may not be effective (AWWA and WRF, 2016). Therefore, chlorine disinfection must be optimized if intended to control cyanotoxins (Liu et al., 2020c).

5.3.2 Ultraviolet irradiation

UV irradiation has been demonstrated to decompose several cyanotoxins (Tsuji et al., 1995). However, the energies required to photolytically destroy these compounds are orders of magnitude greater than those needed for disinfection. Thus, UV treatment is not likely effective at inactivating cyanotoxins when the equipment is configured for conventional pathogen disinfection (AWWA and WRF, 2016). However, UV may be a viable option when used in conjunction with hydrogen peroxide to produce hydroxyl radicals for degrading MC, ATX-a, and CYN (Qiao et al., 2005; Song et al., 2009). Advanced oxidation using titanium dioxide in visible and UV light requires acidic conditions, making it a less feasible option at this time (Choi et al., 2007; Liu et al., 2003; Westrick et al., 2010).

5.3.3 Potassium permanganate

Each cyanotoxin reacts differently with potassium permanganate. MC-LR reacts moderately quickly and is not dependent on pH (Rodríguez et al., 2007a,b). Potassium permanganate reacts quickly with ATX-a, especially at pH 8–10 (Hall et al., 2000;

Rodriquez et al., 2007b). However, it does not effectively degrade CYN (Rodríguez et al., 2007b) or STX (Ho et al., 2009).

5.3.4 Ozone

Onstad et al., (2007) reported that ozonolysis effectively degrades MC independent of pH, and reactions with ATX-a depend on pH when pH values are 7–10, and reactions with CYN are pH dependent at levels of 4–10. However, STX is resistant to oxidation by ozone (Rositano et al., 2001).

5.4 Activated Carbon

There are two principal types of activated carbon used for removing organic compounds from drinking water. Powdered activated carbon (PAC) is temporarily added to water at the front of a treatment process to remove transient contaminants. Granular activated carbon (GAC) is used in fixed flow-through beds. The ability of PAC and GAC to remove extracellular cyanotoxins depends on the size of the cyanotoxin molecule, pH, and the presence of other organic matter that can compete with activated carbon adsorption sites (AWWA and WRF, 2016). Jar testing should be conducted when considering PAC treatment to optimize the dose. GAC can be used as both filter media and an adsorber, and rapid, small-scale column tests can be used to determine proper GAC column design. However, GAC removes cyanotoxins more effectively when used as an adsorber rather than a filter (Westrick et al., 2010). MC and CYN can be removed by activated carbon with high mesopore capacities, but with various degrees of efficiency (Ho et al., 2008; Newcombe, 2002). STX have a lower molecular mass and can be adsorbed by activated carbon with pores smaller than 1 nm (Ho et al., 2009). Vlad et al. (2019) suggested that GAC can be used to remove ATX-a, although additional study is required to understand its practical use in natural waters.

6 Texas Case Studies

There are few peer-reviewed studies specific to cyanobacterial blooms or cyanotoxins in Texas. Nevertheless, cyanobacteria occur widely throughout the state. For example, the US Geological Survey Texas Water Science Center (TXWSC) sampled 18 reservoirs, representing a variety of physicochemical conditions, and found cyanobacteria in all locations, as well as MCs in four reservoirs, CYN in two reservoirs, and STX in one reservoir (USGS, 2021a). During 2006 (USGS, 2008) and 2016-2019 (Trevino and Peterson, 2020), the US Geological Survey (USGS) and Texas Commission on Environmental Quality (TCEQ) used various quantitative and qualitative methods to survey up to 41 Texas waterbodies for cyanobacteria, cyanotoxins and taste-and-odor compounds. The TXWSC, the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration's (NOAA's) Harmful Algal BloomS Observing System (HABSOS, https://habsos.noaa.gov), the Lower Colorado River Authority (LCRA, https://www.lcra.org), and other municipal

authorities routinely monitor waterbodies for blooms in and around Texas and warn the public accordingly. Aside from public notifications on cyanotoxin blooms, many of the cyanotoxin reports in the popular press stem from the deaths of dogs and other animals. Animals can suffer neurological or gastrointestinal effects after consuming water contaminated with cyanotoxins or licking cyanobacteria from their fur. Since 1970, reports of animal deaths have increased markedly, including reports from Texas. However, it is unclear whether these case reports resulted from worsening water quality or increased public awareness. Most of these canine intoxication cases followed inhalation, ingestion, or dermal exposure to fresh water (Backer et al., 2013). Case studies of cyanobacterial blooms or cyanotoxin events in Texas are reported below.

6.1 Large Reservoir in West Texas, 2015–2017

Subbiah et al. (2019) studied a large reservoir in west Texas over the course of two years and found that the most commonly detected cyanotoxins were CYN and STX, while the least frequently detected were MCs. That study found that MC and ATX concentrations correlated directly with turbidity and total phosphorus, while CYN concentrations decreased with increased turbidity. Both CYN and STX were directly correlated with water temperature.

6.2 Buffalo Springs Lake and Lake Ransom Canyon, 2003–2004

Billam et al. (2006) studied MC-LR concentrations in Buffalo Springs Lake and Lake Ransom Canyon, in Lubbock, during 2003–2004. This study found the greatest MC-LR concentrations in both lakes during the spring. MC-LR concentrations correlated positively with dissolved oxygen and negatively with temperature and pH.

6.3 National Lakes Assessments, 2007, 2012, and 2017

The EPA National Lakes Assessments in 2007, 2012, and 2017 surveyed lakes across the country for cyanobacteria and cyanotoxins (USEPA, 2021). The 2007 study reported CYN, MC, and STX in various Texas lakes. One site contained NOD-R following greater-than-normal precipitation events and elevated salinity. This was an unexpected finding because NOD-R is normally associated with brackish waters, rather than inland fresh waters (Loftin et al., 2016). The 2012 study found a variety of cyanobacteria throughout Texas lakes. However, it reported cyanotoxins as MC equivalents using an Enzyme-Linked Immuno-Sorbent Assay (ELISA), and therefore did not list actual cyanotoxins (USEPA, 2012). The 2017 study similarly found various cyanobacteria throughout Texas but used ELISA tests for CYN and MC (USEPA, 2017).

6.4 Lady Bird Lake, 2019

Canine deaths were reported 30 minutes to 2 hours after swimming in Lady Bird Lake in Austin in August 2019. These deaths were attributed to ingesting dhATX, which was highly concentrated in metaphyton mats containing *Geitlerinema*, *Limnothrix*, *Pseudanabaena*, and *Phormidium*, as well as other bacteria, protozoa, and sediments. The floating mats appeared to have originated from benthic spires during eutrophic conditions and low hydrologic flows, and they remained until mid-November when cooler temperatures and increased water flows reduced the amount of cyanobacterial biomass (Manning et al., 2020). Lady Bird Lake, as well as Lake Austin, continue to be monitored for occurrences of cyanobacteria and cyanotoxins, and the city advises the public when to avoid allowing dogs to contact the water (www.austintexas.gov/page/algae).

6.5 Lake Travis, 2021

One dog died in January 2021, and four additional dogs became ill in late February 2021 after swimming in Lake Travis. There was also a winter storm with sub-freezing temperatures in mid-February. Water testing confirmed the presence of cyanobacteria and cyanotoxins, namely dhATX. This incident was unexpected, given the colder temperatures and relatively low turbidity (Dadamo, 2021). However, it is an example of the ability of cyanobacteria to produce cyanotoxins under a wide range of environmental conditions.

6.6 Lake Houston, 2006–2008

Beussink and Graham (2011) studied the relationships between hydrology and water quality, including cyanotoxins (MCs), in Lake Houston. In general, turbidity and nutrient concentrations were greatest during the cooler months (October to May) with higher water flows (residence times less than 100 days). Cyanobacteria were always present, although biovolume was greatest during the summer when temperatures were higher than 27°C and water residence times were longer than 400 days. These researchers explained that external nutrient loads to the reservoir were associated with suspended particles during inflow events, which increased turbidity and limited algal growth. Another factor that may have limited cyanobacterial bloom formation was the rapidly changing hydrology, which could stratify or destratify over several hours, thus preventing the extended periods of stable stratification often associated with cyanobacterial blooms.

6.7 Port Aransas Beach, 2007–2011

Yu (2011) studied cyanobacterial blooms from sandy intertidal beaches of the south Texas Gulf Coast near Port Aransas. *Hydrocoleum* and *Microcoleus* dominated the upper

layer of mature mats and exhibited substantial levels of nitrogenase activity. During dry seasons, subsurface cyanobacteria layers contained almost exclusively *Microcoleus*, but did not demonstrate nitrogenase activity. This study suggested that *Microcoleus* may serve as a foundation for intertidal sand mat formations, with *Hydrocoleum* providing structural integrity and nitrogen.

6.8 Lake Cliff Park and Other Dallas Waterbodies, 2017

The Dallas Park and Recreation office (2017) advised the public about a *Microcystis* bloom in Lake Cliff Park, as well as how to recognize and avoid it. This notice also advised the public on measures to help minimize blooms, such as removing dog waste, minimizing fertilizer use, using vegetation buffer strips for erosion, and notifying officials when they observe soil runoff.

6.9 Ingleside, 2016

In January 2016, Ingleside city officials advised approximately 200 residents to not drink and not boil water from their faucets after MC was detected in the drinking water system. Analyzing samples from throughout the affected distribution system revealed localized MC concentrations in the distribution system, but not the water provider's system. This finding, along with identification of unprotected cross-connections, indicated that the drinking water was contaminated by surface water during a cross-connection event. The City flushed the distribution system and installed new, reduced-pressure-zone backflow preventers, which reduced the localized MC concentrations but also spread the MC concentrations further throughout the distribution system. The City then responded by issuing a citywide "do not drink" order for children under the age of 6 and immunocompromised individuals. After three consecutive rounds of sampling with no detected MC, the City lifted the restrictions 13 days after the initial do not drink/do not boil order (AWWA, 2016; Hackleman, 2016; Sabawi, 2016).

6.10 Lake Texoma, 2011–2012

In 2011–2012, the Grayson County Health Department conducted 16-month epidemiological and water survey studies on cyanobacteria in Lake Texoma. Despite finding 75–125 cyanobacterial species in this waterbody, the only cyanotoxin found during this investigation was CYN, though not at concentrations of public health significance. The study also did not find reports of human or animal illness related to cyanotoxins in Lake Texoma (Teel et al., 2013).

6.11 Zebra Mussels

Given their propensity to cause environmental damage, including their ability to make conditions favorable for cyanobacteria, it is unlawful to possess or transport zebra

mussels, dead or alive, in Texas. Transporting this invasive species is punishable by a fine up to \$500 per violation, with more serious punishments for repeat offenses. Zebra mussels were first sighted in Texas in 2009, at Lake Texoma (USGS, 2021b). Today, 24 lakes in Texas have been fully infested with zebra mussels, and they have been found in another nine lakes, as well as river reaches downstream of infested lakes. However, early and focused intervention at Lake Waco eradicated the zebra mussel, achieving a rare feat (Texas Parks and Wildlife Department, 2021).

7 Conclusions

Cyanobacteria and their toxins are gaining worldwide attention as they threaten the health and safety of animals and humans. Cyanobacteria have been found throughout water columns as planktonic species that can aggregate during blooms, as well as in the benthos as mats. Historically, they have been considered as algae, given their morphologies. However, morphology alone is insufficient to identify cyanobacteria, and phylogenetic molecular techniques have become the standard in identifying them. In fact, their taxonomy continues to evolve as understanding of their phylogeny improves.

Environmental factors, such as nutrient concentrations, light availability, temperature, waterbody hydrodynamics, pH, salinity, and other organisms, affect cyanobacteria growth. Although phosphorus is commonly regarded as rate limiting, nitrogen concentrations also can affect cyanobacteria success. Buoyancy, resistance to grazing, and overwintering strategies give cyanobacteria competitive advantages with regard to how they use resources such as nutrients and light, and these advantages frequently enable the cyanobacteria to survive conditions unfavorable to other microorganisms. However, cyanobacterial relationships with other organisms and environmental conditions are complex and waterbody specific.

Cyanobacteria strains that possess the appropriate genes produce cyanotoxins, and they can co-exist with nontoxic strains. The amount of cyanotoxin in a given clone can also vary, and seasonal patterns fluctuate among waterbodies. Environmental conditions are suspected of affecting whether these toxigenic genes are upregulated, but they are not yet well understood. Nevertheless, even if nontoxic clones dominate a given bloom, the toxic clones that are present may still produce toxins in excess of acceptable limits.

Cyanotoxins may present health concerns to humans when they are released from cyanobacterial cells, typically following cell lysis, and enter drinking water sources. Drinking water treatment efficacy varies among extracellular cyanotoxins, depending on their chemical and physical properties. Conventional drinking water treatment methods can remove intracellular (intact cyanobacteria) and extracellular cyanotoxins, although an integrated approach using multiple methods could be preferable.

Although there have been few peer-reviewed studies specific to cyanobacterial blooms or cyanotoxins in Texas, cyanobacteria have been observed widely throughout the state. Several regulatory authorities routinely monitor waterbodies for blooms in and around Texas and warn the public accordingly. Case studies in Texas largely involve animal deaths, when animals suffer neurological or gastrointestinal effects after consuming water contaminated with cyanotoxins or licking cyanobacteria from their fur. These incidents have raised concerns about cyanobacteria occurrences. Municipal authorities charged with controlling such occurrences must understand the features and patterns specific to each waterbody because these environmental factors are complex and dynamic.

8 References

Acinas S, Haverkamp T, Huisman J, Stal LJ. 2009. Phenotypic and genetic diversification of Pseudanabaena spp. (cyanobacteria). J Int Soc Microbial Ecol 3:31–46.

Aguilera A, Berrendero Gómez E, Kastovsky J, Echenique RO, Salerno GL. 2018. The polyphasic analysis of two native Raphidiopsis isolates supports the unification of the genera Raphidiopsis and Cylindrospermopsis (Nostocales, Cyanobacteria). Phycologia 57(2):130–146.

Aizawa K, Miyachi S. 1986. Carbonic anhydrase and CO₂ concentrating mechanisms in microalgae and cyanobacteria. FEMS Microbiol Rev 39:215–233.

AWWA (American Water Works Association). 2016. Cyanotoxins in US drinking water: Occurrence, case studies and state approaches to regulation. Available at: https://dms.psc.sc.gov/Attachments/Matter/ec7de048-4fea-40a9-bab7-91acf9237f3a(sc.gov).

AWWA and WRF (American Water Works Association) and Water Research Foundation). 2016. Managing cyanotoxins in drinking water: A technical guidance manual for drinking water professionals. Available at: https://www2.illinois.gov/epa/topics/water-quality/monitoring/Documents/ManagingCyanotoxinsinDrinkingWater-Sept2016.pdf.

Antoniou MG, de La Cruz AA, Pelaez MA, Han C, He X, Dionysiou DD, et al. 2014. Practices that prevent the formation of cyanobacterial blooms in water resources and remove cyanotoxins during physical treatment of drinking water. In: Ahuja S. (ed.), Comprehensive Water Quality and Purification, vol. 2, pp. 173–195. USA: Elsevier.

Aráoz R, Guérineau V, Rippka R, Palibroda N, Herdman M, Laprevote O, et al. 2008. MALDI-TOF-MS detection of the low molecular weight neurotoxins anatoxin-a and homoanatoxin-a on lyophilized and fresh filaments of axenic Oscillatoria strains. Toxicon 51:1308–1315.

Backer LC, Landsberg JH, Miller M, Keel K, Taylor TK. 2013. Canine poisonings in the United States (1920s-2012): Review of suspected and confirmed cases from three data sources. Toxins 5:1497–1628.

Baker AL et al. 2012. Phycokey—An image based key to algae (PS protista), cyanobacteria, and other aquatic objects. University of New Hampshire Center for Freshwater Biology. Available at: http://cfb.unh.edu/phycokey/phycokey.htm.

Ballot A, Dadheech PK, Haande S, Krienitz L. 2008. Morphological and phylogenetic analysis of Anabaenopsis abijatae and Anabaenopsis elenkinii (nostocales, cyanobacteria) from tropical inland water bodies. Microbial Ecol 55(4):608–618.

Banker R, Carmeli S, Hadas O, Teltsch B, Poral R, Sukenik A. 1997. Identification of cylindrospermopsin in Aphanizomenon ovalisporum (cyanophyceae) isolated from Lake Kinneret, Israel. J Phycol 33:613–616.

Beattie KA, Kaya K, Codd GA. 2000. The cyanobacterium Nodularia in PCC 7804, of freshwater origin, produces [L-Har(2)]nodularin. Phytochemistry 54:57–61.

Beaver JR, Manis EE, Loftin KA, Graham JL, Pollard AI, Mitchell RM. 2014. Land use patterns, ecoregion, and microcystin relationships in US lakes and reservoirs: A preliminary evaluation. Harmful Algae 36:57–62.

Becker EW. 1994. Microalgae: Biotechnology and Microbiology. Cambridge University Press.

Behrendt H, Huber P, Opitz D, Schmoll O, Scholz G, Uebe R. 2000. Nutrient emissions into river basins of Germany. Umweltbundesamt (Federal Environmental Agency) 75:350 pp.

Berg K, Skulberg OM, Skulberg R, Underdal B, Willén T. 1986. Observations of toxic bluegreen algae (cyanobacteria) in some Scandinavian lakes. Acta Vet Scand 27:440–452.

Beussink A, Graham JL. 2011. Relations between hydrology, water quality, and tasteand-odor causing organisms and compounds in Lake Houston, Texas, April 2006— September 2008. USGS Scientific Investigations Report 2011–5121.

Billam M, Tang L, Cai Q, Mukhi S, Guan H, Wang P, et al. 2006. Seasonal variations in the concentration of microcystin-LR in two lakes in western Texas, USA. Environ Toxicol Chem 25(2):349–355.

Bittencourt-Oliveira MC, Chia MA, de Oliveira HSB, Araujo MKC, Molica RJR, Dia CTS. 2014. Allelopathic interactions between microcystin-producing and non-microcystin-producing cyanobacteria and green microalgae: Implications for microcystins production. J Appl Phycol 27:275–284.

Boegehold AG, Johnson NS, Kashian DR. 2019. Dreissenid (quagga and zebra mussel) veligers are adversely affected by bloom forming cyanobacteria. Ecotoxicol Environ Safety 182:109426.

Bolch CJS, Orr PT, Jones GJ, Blackburn SI. 1999. Genetic, morphological, and toxicological variation among globally distributed strains of Nodularia (Cyanobacteria). J Phycol 35(2):339–355.

Boopathi T, Ki J-S. 2014. Impact of environmental factors on the regulation of cyanotoxin production. Toxins 6:1951–1978.

Bouma-Gregson K, Kudela RM, Power ME. 2018. Widespread anatoxin-a detection in benthic cyanobacterial mats throughout a river network. PLoS One 13(5):e0197669.

Bouma-Gregson K, Olm MR, Probst AJ, Anantharaman K, Power ME, Banfield JF. 2019. Impacts of microbial assemblage and environmental conditions on the distribution of anatoxin-a producing cyanobacteria within a river network. ISME J 13:1618–1634.

Briand JF, Leboulanger C, Humbert JF, Bernard C, Dufour P. 2004. Cylindrospermopsis raciborskii (Cyanobacteria) invasion at mid-latitudes: Selection, wide physiological tolerance, or global warming? J Phycol 40:231–238.

Bulgakov N, Levich A. 1999. The nitrogen:phosphorus ratio as a factor regulating phytoplankton community structure:nutrient ratios. Arch Hydrobiol 146:3–22.

Burch M, Brookes J, Chorus I. 2021. Assessing and controlling the risk of cyanobacterial blooms: Waterbody conditions. In: Toxic Cyanobacteria in Water: A Guide to Their Public Health Consequences, Monitoring and Management, 2nd Ed., Chorus I, Welker M (Eds), pp. 505–562. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL.

Burford MA, Davis TW, Orr PT, Sinha R, Willis A, Neilan BA. 2014. Nutrient-related changes in the toxicity of field blooms of the cyanobacterium, Cylindrospermopsis raciborskii. FEMS Microbiol Ecol, doi:10.1111/1574-6941.12341.

Cadel-Six S, Peyraud-Thomas C, Brient L, de Marsac NT, Rippka R, Méjean A. 2007. Different genotypes of anatoxin-producing cyanobacteria coexist in the Tarn River, France. Appl Environ Microbiol 73:7605–7614.

Cadel-Six S, Iteman I, Peyraud-Thomas C, Mann S, Ploux O, Méjean A. 2009. Identification of a polyketide synthase coding sequence specific for anatoxin-a-producing Oscillatoria cyanobacteria. Appl Environ Microbiol 75:4909–4912.

Cantoral Uriza EA, Asencio AD, Aboal M. 2017. Are we underestimating benthic cyanotoxins? Extensive sampling results from Spain. Toxins 9:385.

Caraco N, Cole J, Strayer D. 2006. Top down control from the bottom: Regulation of eutrophication in a large river by benthic grazing. Limnol Oceanogr 51:664–670.

Carvalho L, McDonald C, de Hoyos C, Mischke U, Phillips G, Borics G, et al. 2013. Sustaining recreational quality of European lakes: Minimizing the health risks from algal blooms through phosphorus control. J Appl Ecol 50:315–323.

Carey CC, Ibelings BW, Hoffmann EP, Hamilton DP, Brookes JD. 2012. Ecophysiological adaptations that favour freshwater cyanobacteria in a changing climate. Water Res 46:1394–1407.

Carlson R and Simpson J. 1996. A coordinator's guide to volunteer lake monitoring methods. North American Lake Management Society. Available at: https://www.nalms.org/home/nalms-reports/.

CDC (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention). 2016. Disinfection byproducts. Available at: https://www.cdc.gov/safewater/chlorination-byproducts.html.

Chernoff N, Hill DJ, Chorus I, Diggs DL, Huang H, King D, et al. 2018. Cylindrospermopsin toxicity in mice following a 90-d oral exposure. J Toxicol Environ Health A 81(13):549–566.

Chernoff N, Hill D, Lang J, Schmid J, Le T, Farthing A, Huang H. 2020. The comparative toxicity of 10 Microsystin congeners administered orally to mice: Clinical effects and organ toxicity. Toxins 12:403.

Chia MA, Jankowiak JG, Kramer BJ, Goleski JA, Huang I, Zimba PV, Bittencourt-Oliveira M, Gobler CJ. 2018. Succession and toxicity of Microcystis and Anabaena (Dolichospermum) blooms are controlled by nutrient-dependent allelopathic interactions. Harmful Algae 74:67–77.

Choi H, Antoniou MG, Pelaez M, de la Cruz AA, Shoemaker JA, Dionysiou DD. 2007. Mesoporous nitrogen-doped TiO₂ for the photocatalytic destruction of the cyanobacterial toxin microcystin-LR under visible light irradiation. Environ Sci Technol 41(21):753–7535.

Choi HJ, Joo JH, Kim JH, Wang P, Ki JS, Han MS. 2018. Morphological characterization and molecular phylogenetic analysis of Dolichospermum hangangense (Nostocales, Cyanobacteria) sp. nov. from Han River, Korea. Algae 33(2):143–156.

Chorus I, Niesel V. 2011. Steps towards a statistical model to predict phytoplankton responses to changes in trophic state. In: Chorus I, Schauser I, editors. Oligotrophication of Lake Tegel and Schlachtensee, Berlin Analysis of System Components, Causalities and Response Thresholds compared to Responses of other Waterbodies. Dessau: Umweltbundesamt, 109–139.

Chorus I, Spijkerman E. 2021. What Colin Reynolds could tell us about nutrient limitation, N:P ratios and eutrophication control. Hydrobiologia 848:95–111.

Chorus I, Welker M. 2021. Toxic Cyanobacteria in Water: A Guide to Their Public Health Consequences, Monitoring and Management. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 859 pp.

Chorus I, Zessner M. 2021. Assessing and controlling the risk of cyanobacterial blooms: Nutrient loads from the catchment. In: Toxic Cyanobacteria in Water: A Guide to Their Public Health Consequences, Monitoring and Management, 2nd Ed., Chorus I, Welker M (Eds), pp. 433–503. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL.

Christensen VG, Khan E. 2020. Freshwater neurotoxins and concerns for human, animal, and ecosystem health: A review of anatoxin-a and saxitoxin. Sci Tot Environ 736:139515.

Chung S, Imberger J, Hipsey M, Lee H. 2014. The influence of physical and physiological processes on the spatial heterogeneity of a Microcystis bloom in a stratified reservoir. Ecol Model 289:133–149.

Conley DJ, Paerl HW, Howarth RW, Boesch DF, Seitzinger SP, Karl E, et al. 2009. Controlling eutrophication: Nitrogen and phosphorus. Science 123:1014–1015.

Connecticut College. 2021. Lyngbya. Available at:

https://fmp.conncoll.edu/Silicasecchidisk/LucidKeys3.5/Keys_v3.5/Carolina35_Key/Media/Html/Lyngbya Main.html.

Cook CM, Vardaka E, Lanaras T. 2004. Toxic cyanobacteria in Greek freshwaters, 1987–2000: Occurrence, toxicity, and impacts in the Mediterranean region. Acta Hydrochim Hydrobiol 32:107–124.

Cox PA, Banack SA, Murch SJ, Rasmussen U, Tien G, Bidigare RR, et al. 2005. Diverse taxa of cyanobacteria produce beta-n-methylamino-l-alanine, a neurotoxic amino acid. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 102:5074–5078.

Dadamo AR. 2021. Harmful blue-green algae found in Highland Lakes. Community Impact Newspaper. Available at: https://communityimpact.com/austin/lake-travis-westlake/environment/2021/04/08/harmful-blue-green-algae-found-in-highland-lakes/.

Dallas Park and Recreation. 2017. Algae in Dallas Park and Recreation Lake. Available at: https://www.dallasparks.org/CivicAlerts.aspx?AID=276.

Damerval T, Castets AM, Guglielmi G, Houmard J, Tandeau de Marsac N. 1989. Occurrence and distribution of gas vesicle genes among cyanobacteria. J Bacteriol 171(3):1445–1452.

Davis TW, Berry DL, Boyer GL, Gobler CJ. 2009. The effects of temperature and nutrients on the growth and dynamics of toxic and non-toxic strains of Microcystis during cyanobacteria blooms. Harmful Algae 8:715–725.

Davis TW, Harke MJ, Marcoval MA, Goleski J, Orano-Dawson C, Berry DL, Gobler CJ. 2010. Effects of nitrogenous compounds and phosphorus on the growth of toxic and non-toxic strains of *Microcystis* during cyanobacterial blooms. Aquat Microb Ecol 61:149–162.

de Figueiredo DR, Azeiteiro UM, Esteves SM, Gonçalves FJM, Pereira MJ. 2004. Microcystin-producing blooms—A serious global public health issue. Ecotoxicol Environ Safety 59(2):151–163.

Ding Y, Song L, Sedmak B. 2013. UVB radiation as a potential selective factor favoring microcystin producing bloom forming cyanobacteria. PLoS One 8:e73919.

Dionisio Pires LM, Bontes BM, Van Donk E, Ibelings BW. 2005. Grazing on colonial and filamentous, toxic and non-toxic cyanobacteria by the zebra mussel *Dreissena polymorpha*. J Plankton Res 27(4):331–339.

Dittmann E, Börner T. 2005. Genetic contributions to the risk assessment of microcystin in the environment. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 203:192–200.

Dittmann E, Wiegand C. 2006. Cyanobacterial toxins—Occurrence, biosynthesis and impact on human affairs. Mol Nutr Food Res 50:7–17.

Dodds WK. 2006. Eutrophication and trophic state in rivers and streams. Limnol Oceanog 51(1):671–680.

Dokulil MT. 1994. Environmental control of phytoplankton productivity in turbulent turbid systems. In: Descy JP, Reynolds CS, Padisák J (Eds), Phytoplankton in Turbid Environments: Rivers and Shallow Lakes. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, pp. 65–72.

Dokulil MT, Teubner K. 2000. Cyanobacterial dominance in lakes. Hydrobiologia 438:1–12.

Dolan DM, Chapra SC. 2012. Great Lakes total phosphorus revisited: 1. Loading analysis and update (1994–2008). J Great Lakes Res 38:730–740.

Dolman AM, Rücker J, Pick FR, Fastner J, Rohrlack T, Mischke U, et al. 2012. Cyanobacteria and cyanotoxins: The influence of nitrogen versus phosphorus. PLoS One 7:e38757.

Dordević N, Simić S, Ciric A. 2015. First identification of the cylindrospermopsin (CYN) producting by cyanobacterium Cylindrospermopsis raciborskii (Woloszynska) Seenayya and Subba Raju in Serbia. Fresenius Environ Bull 24(11a):3736–3742.

Downing JA, Watson SB, McCauley E. 2001. Predicting Cyanobacteria dominance in lakes. Can J Fish Aquat Sci 58:1905–1908.

Elser JJ, Bracken ME, Cleland EE, Gruner DS, Harpole WS, Hillebrand H, et al. 2007. Global analysis of nitrogen and phosphorus limitation of primary producers in freshwater, marine and terrestrial ecosystems. Ecol Lett 10:1135–1142.

Engene N, Tronholm A, Paul VJ. 2018. Uncovering cryptic diversity of Lyngbya: The new tropical marine cyanobacterial genus Dapis (Oscillatoriales). J Phycol 54:435–446.

Engström-Öst J, Öst M, Yli-Renko M. 2009. Balancing algal toxicity and turbidity with predation risk in the three-spined stickleback. J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 377:54–59.

Ernst B, Hoeger SJ, O'Brien E, Dietrich DR. 2009. Abundance and toxicity of Planktothrix rubescens in the pre-alpine Lake Ammersee, Germany. Harmful Algae 8:329–342.

Evans MA, Fahnenstiel G, Scavia D. 2011. Incidental oligotrophication of North American great lakes. Environ Sci Technol 45:3297–3303.

Fabbro L, Baker M, Dilvenvoorden L, Pegg G, Shiel R. 2001. The effects of the ciliate Paramecium cf. caudatum Ehrenberg on toxin producing Cylindrospermopsis isolated from the Fitzroy River, Australia. Environ Toxicol 16(6):489–497.

Fastner J, Erhard M, von Döhren H. 2001. Determination of oligopeptide diversity within a natural population of Microcystis spp. (Cyanobacteria) by typing single colonies by matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization-time of flight mass spectrometry. Appl Environ Microbiol 67:5069–5076.

Fastner J, Humpage A. 2021. Hepatotoxic cyclic peptides—Microcystins and nodularins. In: Toxic Cyanobacteria in Water: A Guide to Their Public Health Consequences, Monitoring and Management, 2nd Ed., Chorus I, Welker M (Eds), pp. 21–52. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL.

Fawell JK, Mitchell RE, Hill RE, Everett DJ. 1999. The toxicity of cyanobacterial toxins in the mouse: II Anatoxin-a. Hum Exper Toxicol 18:168–173.

Ford AK, Visser PM, van Herk MJ, Jongepier E, Bonito V. 2021. First insights into the impacts of benthic cyanobacterial mats on fish herbivory functions on a nearshore coral reef. Scientific Rep 11:7147.

Fox GA, Purvis RA, Penn CJ. 2016. Streambanks: A net source of sediment and phosphorus to streams and rivers. J Environ Manag 181:602–614.

Fristachi A, Sinclair JL. 2008. Occurrence of cyanobacterial harmful algal blooms workgroup report. In: Hudnell KH (Ed), Cyanobacterial Harmful Algal Blooms: State of the Science and Research Needs. Springer, New York, pp. 45–103.

Gao Y, Lu J, Orr PT, Chuang A, Franklin HM, Burford MA. 2020. Enhanced resistance of co-existing toxigenic and non-toxigenic Microcystis aeruginosa to pyrogallol compared with monostrains, Toxicon 176:47–54.

Garcia-Pichel F, Belnap J, Neuer S, Schanz F. 2003. Estimates of global cyanobacterial biomass and its distribution. Algological Studies 109:213–227.

Ger KA, Urrutia-Cordero P, Frost PC, Hansson L-A, Sarnelle O, Wilson AE, et al. 2016. The interaction between cyanobacteria and zooplankton in a more eutrophic world. Harmful Algae 54:128–144.

Ghernaout B, Ghernaout D, Saiba A. 2010. Algae and cyanotoxins removal by coagulation/flocculation: a review. Desalin Water Treat 20:133–143.

Gijsbertsen-Abrahamse AJ, Schmidt W, Chorus I, Heijman S. 2006. Removal of cyanotoxins by ultrafiltration and nanofiltration. J Membrane Sci 276:252–259.

Ginn HP, Neilan BA. 2010. NtcA from Microcystis aeruginosa PCC 7806 is autoregulatory and binds to the microcystin promoter. Appl Environ Microbiol 76:4362–4368.

Gkelis S, Rajaniemi P, Vardaka E, Moustaka-Gouni M, Lanaras T, Sivonen K. 2005. Limnothrix redekei (Van Goor) Meffert (Cyanobacteria) strains from Lake Kastoria, Greece form a separate phylogenetic group. Microb Ecol 49:176–182.

Gobler CJ, Burkholder JM, Davis TW, Harke MJ, Johengen T, Stow CA, et al. 2016. The dual role of nitrogen supply in controlling the growth and toxicity of cyanobacterial blooms. Harmful Algae 54:87–97.

Graham H. 2021. Toxin and taste-and-odor producing cyanobacteria. Available at: https://www.epa.ohio.gov/Portals/28/documents/habs/toxin_producing_cyanobacteria.pdf

Gu P, Li Q, Zhang W, Zheng Z, Luo X. 2020. Effects of different metal ions (Ca, Cu, Pb, Cd) on formation of cyanobacterial blooms. Ecotoxicol Environ Safety 189:109976.

Gwenzi W, Mangori L, Danha C, Chaukura N, Dunjana N, Sanganyado E. 2018. Sources, behaviour, and environmental and human health risks of high-technology rare earth elements as emerging contaminants. Sci Tot Environ 636:299–313.

Hackleman E. 2016. Ingleside warns water unsafe to drink. Caller Times. Available at: http://archive.caller.com/news/local/ingleside-warns-water-unsafe-to-drink-2a91d382-6b27-2404-e053-0100007fff71-367100321.html.

Hall T, Hart J, Croll B, Gregory R. 2000. Laboratory-scale investigations of algal toxin removal by water treatment. Water Environ J 14(2):143–149.

Harke MJ, Steffen MM, Gobler CJ, Otten TG, Wilhelm SW, Wood SA, Paerl HW. 2016a. A review of the global ecology, genomics, and biogeography of the toxic cyanobacterium, Microcystis spp. Harmful Algae 54:4–20.

Harke M, Davis T, Watson S, Gobler, CJ. 2016b. Nutrient-controlled niche differentiation of western Lake Erie cyanobacterial populations revealed via metatranscriptomic surveys. Environ Sci Technol 50:604–615.

Harris TD, Wilhelm FM, Graham JL, Loftin KA. 2014. Experimental manipulation of TN:TP ratios suppress cyanobacterial biovolume and microcystin concentration in large-scale in situ mesocosms. Lake Reserv Manag 30:72–83.

Heath RT, Fahnenstiel GL, Gardner WS, Cavaletto JF, Hwang S-J. 1995. Ecosystem-level effects of zebra mussels (Dreissena polymorpha): An enclosure experiment in Saginaw Bay, Lake Huron. J Great Lakes Res 21(4):501–516.

Heath MW, Wood SA, Ryan KG. 2010. Polyphasic assessment of fresh-water benthic mat-forming cyanobacteria isolated from New Zealand. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 73(1):95–109.

Heath MW, Wood SA, Barbieri RF, Young RG, Ryan KG. 2014. Effects of nitrogen and phosphorus on anatoxin-a, homoanatoxin-a, dihydroanatoxin-a and dihydrohomoanatoxin-a production by Phormidium autumnale. Toxicon 92:179–185.

Heinze R. 1999. Toxicity of the cyanobacterial toxin Microcystin-LR to rats after 28 days intake with the drinking water. Environ Toxicol 14(1):57–60.

Hesse K, Kohl J-G. 2001Effects of light and nutrients supply on growth and microcystin content of different strains of Microcystis aeruginosa. In: Chorus I (Ed), Cyanotoxins: occurrence, causes, consequences. Springer, Berlin, pp. 104–115.

Ho L, Slyman N, Kaeding U, Newcombe G. 2008. Optimizing PAC and chlorination practices for cylindrospermopsin removal. J Am Water Works Assoc 100(11):88–96.

Ho L, Tanis-Plant P, Kayal N, Slyman N, Newcombe G. 2009. Optimising water treatment practices for the removal of *Anabaena circinalis* and its associated metabolites, geosmin and saxitoxins. J Water Health 7(4):544–556.

Horst GP, Sarnelle O, White JD, Hamilton SK, Kaul RB, Bressie JD. 2014. Nitrogen availability increases the toxin quota of a harmful cyanobacterium, Microcystis aeruginosa. Water Res 54:188–198.

Hu X, Zhang R, Ye J, Wu X, Zhang Y, Wu C. 2018. Monitoring and research of microcystins and environmental factors in a typical artificial freshwater aquaculture pond. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int 25(6):5921–5933.

Huang H, Schwab K, Jacangelo JG. 2009. Pretreatment for low pressure membranes in water treatment: A review. Environ Sci Technol 43(9):3011–3019.

Huber V, Wagner C, Gerten D, Adrian R. 2012. To bloom or not to bloom: Contrasting responses of cyanobacteria to recent heat waves explained by critical thresholds of abiotic drivers. Oecologia 169:245–256.

Huisman J, Codd GA, Paerl HW, Ibelings BW, Verspagen JM, Visser PM. 2018. Cyanobacterial blooms. Nat Rev Microbiol 16:471.

Humpage A, Falconer I, Bernard C, Froscio S, Fabbro L. 2012. Toxicity of the cyanobacterium Limnothrix AC0243 to male Balb/c mice. Water Res 46:1576–1583.

Humpage A, Fastner J. 2021. Cylindrospermopsins, in Toxic Cyanobacteria in Water: A Guide to Their Public Health Consequences, Monitoring and Management, 2nd Ed., Chorus I, Welker M (Eds), pp. 53–71. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL.

Humpage AR, Falconer IR. 2003. Oral toxicity of the cyanobacterial toxin Cylindrospermopsin in male Swiss albino mice: determination of no observed adverse effect level for deriving a drinking water guidance value. Enivron Toxicol 18(2):94–103.

Humphries SE, Lyne VD. 1988. Cyanophyte blooms: The role of cell buoyancy. Limnol Oceanogr 33:79–91.

Ibelings BW, Mur LR, Kinsman R, Walsby AE. 1991. Microcystis changes its buoyancy in response to the average irradiance in the surface mixed layer. Arch Hydrobiol 120:385–401.

Ibelings BW, Portielje R, Lammens EH, Noordhuis R, van den Berg MS, Joosse W et al. 2007. Resilience of alternative stable states during the recovery of shallow lakes from eutrophication: Lake Veluwe as a case study. Ecosystems 10:4–16.

Ibelings BW, Kurayer R, Azevedo SMFO, Wood SA, Chorus I, Welker M. 2021. Understanding the occurrence of cyanobacteria and cyanotoxins. In: Toxic Cyanobacteria in Water: A Guide to Their Public Health Consequences, Monitoring and Management, 2nd Ed. Chorus I, Welker M (Eds), pp. 213–294. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL.

Ihle T, Jähnichen S, Benndorf J. 2005. Wax and wane of Microcystis (cyanophyceae) and microcystins in lake sediments: A case study in Quitzdorf reservoir (Germany). J Phycol 41:479–488.

Imai H, Chang KH, Kusaba M, Nakano SI. 2009. Temperature-dependent dominance of Microcystis (Cyanophyceae) species: M. aeruginosa and M. wesenbergii. J Plankton Res 31(2):171–178.

Jackson ARB, McInnes A, Falconer IR, Runnegar MTC. 1984. Clinical and pathological changes in sheep experimentally poisoned by the blue-green alga Microsytis aeruginosa. Vet Pathol 21:102–113.

Jeppesen E, Kristensen P, Jensen JP, Søndergaard M, Mortensen E, Lauridsen T. 1991. Recovery resilience following a reduction in external phosphorus loading of shallow, eutrophic Danish lakes: Duration, regulating factors and methods for overcoming resilience. Memorie dell'Istituto Italiano de Idrobiologia 48:127–148.

Jones GJ, Blackburn SI, Parker NS. 1994. A toxic bloom of Nodularia spumigena MERTENS in Orielton Lagoon, Tasmania. Aust J Mar Freshwater Res 45:787–800.

Kaebernick M, Neilan BA. 2001. Ecological and molecular investigations of cyanotoxin production. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 35:1–9.

Kardinaal WEA, Janse I, Kamst-van Agterveld MP, Meima M, Snoek J, Mur LR, et al. 2007. Microcystis genotype succession in relation to microcystin concentrations in freshwater lakes. Aquat Microb Ecol 48:1–12.

Karlsson-Elfgren I, Rengefors K, Gustafsson S. 2004. Factors regulating recruitment from the sediment to the water column in the bloom-forming cyanobacterium Gloeotrichia echinulata. Freshwater Biol 49:265–273.

Kelly LT, Bouma-Gregson K, Puddick J, Fadness R, Ryan KG, Davis TW, Wood SA. 2019. Multiple cyanotoxin congeners produced by sub-dominant cyanobacterial taxa in riverine cyanobacterial and algal mats. PLoS One 14(12):e0220422.

Kolzau S, Wiedner C, Rücker J, Köhler J, Köhler A, Dolman AM. 2014. Seasonal patterns of nitrogen and phosphorus limitation in four German lakes and the predictability of limitation status from ambient nutrient concentrations. PLoS One 9:e96065.

Komárek J, Komárková-Legnerová J. 1992. Variability of some planktic gomphosphaerioid cyanoprocaryotes in northern lakes. Nordic J Bot 12(5):513–524.

Komárek J, Kling H, Komárková J. 2003. Filamentous Cyanobacteria. In: Aquatic Ecology, Freshwater Algae of North America. Wehr JD, Sheath RG (Eds), Academic Press, pp. 117–196.

Komárek J, Sant'Anna CL, Bohunická M, Mares J, Hentschke G, Rigonato J, Fiore M, Fiore F. 2013. Phenotype diversity and phylogeny of selected Scytonema-species (Cyanoprokaryota) from SE Brazil. Fottea 13(2):173–200.

Kotak B, Lam A, Prepas E, Hrudey S. 2000. Role of chemical and physical variables in regulating microcystin-LR concentration in phytoplankton of eutrophic lakes. Can J Fisheries Aquat Sci 57:1584–1593.

Kruk C, Segura AM, Nogueira L, Alcántara I, Calliari D, Martínez de la Escalera G, et al. 2017. A multilevel trait-based approach to the ecological performance of Microcystis aeruginosa complex from headwaters to the ocean. Harmful Algae 70:23–36.

Kurmayer R, Christiansen G. 2009. The genetic basis of toxin production in cyanobacteria. Freshwater Rev 2:31–50.

Kurmayer R, Gumpenberger M. 2006. Diversity of microcystin genotypes among populations of the filamentous cyanobacteria Planktothrix rubescens and Planktothrix agardhii. Molec Ecol 15:3849–3861.

Kurmayer R, Jüttner F. 1999. Strategies for the co-existence of zooplankton with the toxic cyanobacterium Planktothrix rubescens in Lake Zurich. J Plankton Res 21:659–683.

Kurmayer R, Christiansen G, Fastner J, Börner T. 2004. Abundance of active and inactive microcystin genotypes in populations of the toxic cyanobacterium Planktothrix spp. Environ Microbiol 6:831–841.

Lampert W. 1981. Inhibitory and toxic effects of blue-green algae on Daphnia. Int Rev Gesamten Hydrobiol 66:285–298.

Lampert W, Sommer U. 2007. Limnoecology: The ecology of lakes and streams. Oxford University Press, New York, 336 pp.

Lea-Smith DJ, Ross N, Zori M, Bendall DS, Dennis JS, Scott SA, et al. 2013. Thylakoid terminal oxidases are essential for the cyanobacterium *Synechocystis* sp. PCC 6803 to survive rapidly changing light intensities. Plant Physiol 162:484–495.

Li H, Sherman DM, Bao SL, Sherman LA. 2001. Pattern of cyanophycin accumulation in nitrogen-fixing and non-nitrogen-fixing cyanobacteria. Arch Microbiol 176:9–18.

Liu I, Lawton L, Robertson PKJ. 2003. Mechanistic studies of the photocatalytic oxidation of microcystin-LR: An investigation of byproducts of the decomposition process. Environ Sci Technol 37(14):3214–3219.

Liu Y, Yang Q, Zhu M, Wang L, Zhou Q, Yang Z, Huang X. 2020a. Endocytosis in microcystis aeruginosa accelerates the synthesis of microcystins in the presence of lanthanum(III). Harmful Algae 93:101791.

Liu Y, Zhang J, Gao B. 2020b. Proteomic mechanisms for the stimulatory effects of antibiotics on Microcystis aeruginosa during hydrogen peroxide treatment. Chemosphere 247:125837.

Liu C, Ersan MS, Wagner E, Plewa MJ, Amy G, Karanfil T. 2020c. Toxicity of chlorinated algal-impacted waters: Formation of disinfection byproducts vs. reduction of cyanotoxins. Water Res 184:116145.

Loftin KA, Graham JL, Hilborn ED, Lehmann SC, Meyer MT, Dietze JE, et al. 2016. Cyanotoxins in inland lakes of the United States: Occurrence and potential recreational health risks in the EPA National Lakes Assessment 2007. Harmful Algae 56:77–90.

Ma AT, Daniels EF, Gulizia N, Brahamsha, B. 2016. Isolation of diverse amoebal grazers of freshwater cyanobacteria for the development of model systems to study predator—prey interactions. Algal Res 13:85–93.

Maier HR, Kingston GB, Clark T, Frazer A, Sanderson A. 2004. Risk-based approach for assessing the effectiveness of flow management in controlling cyanobacterial blooms in rivers. Riv Res Appl 20:459–471.

Maliaka V, Verstijnen YJM, Faassen EJ, Smolders AJP, Lürling M, Humbert. 2020. Effects of guanotrophication and warming on the abundance of green algae, cyanobacteria and microcystins in Lake Lesser Prespa, Greece. PlosOne 15(3):e0229148.

Manage P. 2009. Seasonal changes in the abundance of biological agents killing Microcystis aeruginosa in a hypertrophic pond. Vidyodaya J Sci 14:85–101.

Manning SR, Perri KA, Bellinger BJ. 2020. Bloom announcement: First reports of dog mortalities with neurotoxic filamentous cyanobacterial mats at recreational sites in Lady Bird Lake, Austin, Texas. Data in Brief. 33:106344.

Mantzouki E, Lürling M, Fastner J, de Senerpont Domis L, Wilk-Woźniak E, Koreivienė J, et al. 2018. Temperature effects explain continental scale distribution of cyanobacterial toxins. Toxins 10:156.

Martiny JB, Bohannan BJ, Brown JH, Colwell RK, Fuhrman JA, Green JL et al. 2006. Microbial biogeography: Putting microorganisms on the map. Nat Rev Microbiol 4:102–112.

Matthews R. 2021. iNaturalist. Available at: https://www.inaturalist.org/.

McAllister TG, Wood SA, Hawes I (2016). The rise of toxic benthic Phormidium proliferations: A review of their taxonomy, distribution, toxin content and factors regulating prevalence and increased severity. Harmful Algae 55:282–294.

McKindles KM, Manes MA, DeMarco JR, McClure A, McKay RM, Davis TW, Bullerjahn GS. 2020. Dissolved microcystin release coincident with lysis of a bloom dominated by *Microcystis* spp. in western Lake Erie attributed to a novel cyanophage. Appl Environ Microbiol 86(22):e01397-20.

Medrano EA, Uittenbogaard R, Pires LD, Van De Wiel B, Clercx H. 2013. Coupling hydrodynamics and buoyancy regulation in Microcystis aeruginosa for its vertical distribution in lakes. Ecol Model 248:41–56.

Méjean A, Mazmouz R, Mann S, Calteau A, Medigue C, Ploux O. 2010a. The genome sequence of the cyanobacterium Oscillatoria sp. Pcc 6506 reveals several gene clusters responsible for the biosynthesis of toxins and secondary metabolites. J Bacteriol 192:5264–5265.

Méjean A, Peyraud-Thomas C, Kerbrat AS, Golubic S, Pauillac S, Chinain M, Laurent D. 2010b. First identification of the neurotoxin homoanatoxin-a from mats of Hydrocoleum lyngbyaceum (marine cyanobacterium) possibly linked to giant clam poisoning in New Caledonia. Toxicon 56(5):829–835.

Merel S, Clément M, Thomas O. 2010. State of the art on cyanotoxins in water and their behaviour towards chlorine. Toxicon 55(4):677–691.

Merel S, Walker D, Chicana R, Snyder S, Baurès E, Thomas O. 2013. State of knowledge and concerns on cyanobacterial blooms and cyanotoxins. Environ Int 59:303–27.

Miller TR, Bartlett S, Weirich CA, Hernandez J. 2019. Automated sub-daily sampling of cyanobacterial toxins on a buoy reveals new temporal patterns in toxin dynamics. Environ Sci Technol 53:5661–5670.

Mioni CE, Kudela RM, Baxa D. 2012. Harmful cyanobacteria blooms and their toxins in Clear Lake and the Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta (California). Surface Water Ambient Monitoring Program (10-058-150). Final Report, March 31, 2012.

Mischke U. 2003. Cyanobacteria associations in shallow polytrophic lakes: Influence of environmental factors. Acta Oecol 24:S11–S23.

Mohamed ZA. 2001. Accumulation of cyanobacterial hepatotoxins by Daphnia in some Egyptian irrigation canals. Ecotoxicol Environ Safety 50:4–8.

Mohamed ZA, Deyab MA, Abou-Dobara MI, El-Sayed AK, El-Raghi WM. 2015. Occurrence of cyanobacteria and microcystin toxins in raw and treated waters of the Nile River, Egypt: Implication for water treatment and human health. Environ Sci Pollut Res 22(15):11716–11727.

Moisander P, McClinton E, Paerl H. 2002. Salinity effects on growth, photosynthetic parameters, and nitrogenase activity in estuarine planktonic cyanobacteria. Microbial Ecol 43:432–442.

Mrdjen I, Fennessy S, Schaal A, Dennis R, Slonczewski JL, Lee S, Lee J. 2018a. Tile drainage and anthropogenic land use contribute to harmful algal blooms and microbiota shifts in inland water bodies. Environ Sci Technol 52(15):8215–8223.

Mrdjen I, Morse MA, Ruch RJ, Knobloch TJ, Choudhary S, Weghorst CM, Lee J. 2018b. Impact of Microcystin-LR on liver function varies by dose and sex in mice. Toxins 10:435.

Mühlsteinová R, Hauer T. De Ley P, Pietrasiak N. 2018. Seeking the true Oscillatoria: A quest for a reliable phylogenetic and taxonomic reference point. Preslia 90:151–169.

Mur LR, Skulberg MO, Utkilen H. 1999. Cyanobacteria in the environment. In: Chorus I, Bartram J (Eds). Toxic Cyanobacteria in Water: A Guide to their Public Health Consequences, Monitoring and Management. E & FN Spon., London, UK, p. 15–40.

Naselli-Flores L, Barone R, Chorus I, Kurmayer R. 2007. Toxic cyanobacterial blooms in reservoirs under a semiarid mediterranean climate: the magnification of a problem. Environ Toxicol 22:399–404.

Ndlela LL, Oberholster PJ, Van Wyk JH, Cheng PH. 2018. Bacteria as biological control agents of freshwater cyanobacteria: is it feasible beyond the laboratory? Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 102(23):9911–9923.

Neilan BA, Pearson LA, Muenchhoff J, Moffitt MC, Dittmann E. 2013. Environmental conditions that influence toxin biosynthesis in cyanobacteria. Environ Microbiol 15:1239–1253.

Newcombe G. 2002. Removal of Algal Toxins from Drinking Water Using Ozone and GAC. AWWA Research Foundation, Denver, Colo, 133 pp.

Nguyen XH, Sumimoto S, Suda S. 2017. Unexpected high diversity of terrestrial cyanobacteria from the campus of the University of the Ryukyus, Okinawa, Japan. Microorganisms 5(4):69.

Nicholson BC, Shaw GR, Morrall J, Senogles PJ, Woods TA, Papageorgiou J, et al. 2003. Chlorination for degrading saxitoxins (paralytic shellfish poisons) in water. Environ Technol 24:1341–1348.

Niiyama Y, Tuji A, Tsujimura S. 2011. Umezakia natans M. Watan. Does not belong to Stigonemataceae but to Nostocaceae. Fottea 11(1):163–169.

Novotny V. 2003. Water quality: Diffuse pollution and watershed management, Second edition. John Wiley & Sons, New York, 865 pp.

Nürnberg GK, LaZerte BD, Olding DD. 2003. An artificially induced Planktothrix rubescens surface bloom in a small kettle lake in Southern Ontario compared to blooms world-wide. Lake Reserv Manag 19:307–322.

Okello W, Ostermaier V, Portmann C, Gademann K, Kurmayer R. 2010. Spatial isolation favours the divergence in microcystin net production by Microcystis in Ugandan freshwater lakes. Water Res 44:2803–2814.

Oliver R, Ganf G. 2000. Freshwater blooms. In: Whitton BA, Potts M (Eds), The Ecology of Cyanobacteria: Their Diversity in Time and Space. Springer, Dordrecht, 150–194.

Onstad GD, Strauch S, Meriluoto J, Codd GA, von Gunten U. 2007. Selective oxidation of key functional groups in cyanotoxins during drinking water ozonation. Environ Sci Technol 41(12):4397–4404.

Orr PT, Rasmussen JP, Burford MA, Eaglesham GK, Lennox SM. 2011. Evaluation of quantitative real-time PCR to characterise spatial and temporal variations in cyanobacteria, Cylindrospermopsis raciborskii (Woloszynska) Seenaya et Subba Raju and cylindrospermopsin concentrations in three subtropical Australian reservoirs. Harmful Algae 9:243–254.

Osswald J, Rellán S, Gago A, Vasconcelos V. 2007. Toxicology and detection methods of the alkaloid neurotoxin produced by cyanobacteria, anatoxin-a. Environ Int 33:1070–1089.

Otten TG, Paerl HW, Dreher TW, Kimmerer WJ, Parker AE. 2017. The molecular ecology of Microcystis sp. blooms in the San Francisco Estuary. Environ Microbiol 19:3619–3637.

Paerl H, Huisman J. 2008. Blooms like it hot. Science 320:57–58.

Paerl HW, Millie DF. 1996. Physiological ecology of toxic aquatic cyanobacteria. Phycologia 35(6S):160–167.

Palinska K, Abed R, Charpy L, Langlade M, Beltrán-Magos Y, Golubic S. 2015. Morphological, genetic and physiological characterization of Hydrocoleum, the most common benthic cyanobacterium in tropical oceans. Europ J Phycol 50:139–154.

Pawlik-Skowrónska B, Kalinowska R, Skowrónski T. 2013. Cyanotoxin diversity and food web bioaccumulation in a reservoir with decreasing phosphorus concentrations and perennial cyanobacterial blooms. Harmful Algae 28:118–125.

Pearson L, Mihali T, Moffitt M, Kellmann R, Neilan B. 2010. On the chemistry, toxicology and genetics of the cyanobacterial toxins, microcystin, nodularin, saxitoxin and cylindrospermopsin. Mar Drugs 8:1650–1680.

Phelan RR, Downing TG. 2011. A growth advantage for microcystin production by Microcystis PCC7806 under high light. J Phycol 47:1241–1246.

Phillips G, Pietiläinen O-P, Carvalho L, Solimini A, Solheim AL, Cardoso A. 2008. Chlorophyll—nutrient relationships of different lake types using a large European dataset. Aquat Ecol 42:213–226.

Pimentel JSM, Giani A. 2014. Microcystin production and regulation under nutrient stress conditions in toxic Microcystis strains. Appl Environ Microbiol 80(18):5836–5843.

Porat R, Teltsch B, Perelman A, Dubinsky Z. 2001. Diel buoyancy changes by the cyanobacterium Aphanizomenon ovalisporum from a shallow reservoir. J Plankton Res 23:753–763.

Poste A, Hecky R, Guildford S. 2013. Phosphorus enrichment and carbon depletion contribute to high Microcystis biomass and microcystin concentrations in Ugandan lakes. Limnol Oceanog 58:1075–1088.

Pridmore RD, Etheredge MK. 1987. Planktonic cyanobacteria in New Zealand inland waters: Distribution and population dynamics. New Zeal J Mar Freshwater Res 21:491–502.

Psenner R, Boström B, Dinka M, Pettersson K, Pucsko R. 1988. Fractionation of phosphorus in suspended matter and sediment. Arch Hydrobiol Supl 30:98–110.

Puddick J, van Ginkel R, Page CD, Murray JS, Greenhough HE, Bowater J, et al. 2021. Acute toxicity of dihydroanatoxin-a from Microcoleus autumnalis in comparison to anatoxin-a. Chemosphere 263:127937.

Qiao RP, Li N, Qi X, Wang QS, Zhuang YY. 2005. Degradation of microcystin-RR by UV radiation in the presence by hydrogen peroxide. Toxicon 45:745–752.

Quiblier C, Wood SA, Echenique-Subiabre I, Heath M, Villeneuve A, Humbert JF. 2013. A review of current knowledge on toxic benthic freshwater cyanobacteria— ecology, toxin production and risk management. Water Res 47:5464–5479.

Raikow DF, Sarnelle O, Wilson AE, Hamilton SK. 2004. Dominance of the noxious cyanobacterium Microcystis aeruginosa in low-nutrient lakes is associated with exotic zebra mussels. Limnol Oceanogr 49:482–487.

Reichwaldt ES, Song H, Ghadouani A (2013). Effects of the Distribution of a Toxic *Microcystis* Bloom on the Small Scale Patchiness of Zooplankton. PLoS ONE 8(6):e66674.

Reynolds CS (1997). Vegetation processes in the pelagic: a model for ecosystem theory. Oldendorf/Luhe: Ecology Institute:371 pp.

Reynolds C (1999a). Modelling phytoplankton dynamics and its application to lake management. Hydrobiologia. 395:123-131.

Reynolds CS. 1999b. Non-determinism to probability, or N:P in the community ecology of phytoplanktom. Arch Hydrobiol 146:23–35.

Reynolds CS. 2006. The Ecology of Phytoplankton. Cambridge University Press, 552 pp.

Reynolds CS, Huszar V, Kruk C, Naselli-Flores L, Melo S. 2002. Towards a functional classification of the freshwater phytoplankton. J Plankton Res 24:417–428.

Reynolds CS, Jaworski GHM, Cmiech HA, Leedale GF. 1981. On the annual cycle of the blue-green alga M. aeruginosa Kütz Emend. Elenkin Phil Trans R Soc Lond B 293:419–477.

Reynolds CS, Maberly SC, Parker JE, De Ville MM. 2012. Forty years of monitoring water quality in Grasmere (English Lake District): separating the effects of enrichment by treated sewage and hydraulic flushing on phytoplankton ecology. Freshwater Biol 57:384–399.

Řezanka T, Dembitsky VM. 2006. Metabolites produced by cyanobacteria belonging to several species of the familyNostocaceae. Folia Microbiologica 51(3):159–182.

Richardson LL, Sekar R, Myers JL, Gantar M, Voss JD, Kaczmarsky L, et al. 2007. The presence of the cyanobacterial toxin microcystin in black band disease of corals. FEMS Microbiol Lett 272(2):182–187.

Rinta-Kanto JM, Ouellette AJ, Boyer GL, Twiss MR, Bridgeman TB, Wilhelm SW. 2005. Quantification of toxic Microcystis spp. during the 2003 and 2004 blooms in western Lake Erie using quantitative real-time PCR. Environ Sci Technol 39(11):4198–4205.

Rodríguez E, Majado ME, Meriluoto J, Acero JL. 2007a. Oxidation of microcystins by permanganate: reaction kinetics and implications for water treatment. Water Res 41(1):102–110.

Rodríguez E, Onstad GD, Kull TPJ, Metcalf JS, Acero JL, von Gunten U. 2007b. Oxidative elimination of cyanotoxins: Comparison of ozone, chlorine, chlorine dioxide and permanganate. Water Res 41(15):3381–3393.

Rolland A, Bird DF, Giani A. 2005. Seasonal changes in composition of the cyanobacterial community and the occurrence of hepatotoxic blooms in the eastern townships, Quebec, Canada. J Plankton Res 27(7):683–694.

Romo S, Soria J, Fernandez F, Ouahid Y, Barón-Solá Á. 2013. Water residence time and the dynamics of toxic cyanobacteria. Freshwater Biol 58:513–522.

Rositano J, Newcombe G, Nicholson B, Sztajnbok P. 2001. Ozonation of NOM and algal toxins in four treated waters. Water Res 35:23–32.

Rozon RM, Short SM. 2013. Complex seasonality observed amongst diverse phytoplankton viruses in the Bay of Quinte, an embayment of Lake Ontario. Freshwat Biol 58(12):2648–2663.

Rücker J, Wiedner C, Zippel P. 1997. Factors controlling the dominance of Planktothrix agardhii and Limnothrix redekei in eutrophic shallow lakes. Hydrobiologia 342/343:107–115.

Sabawi F. 2016. Ingleside amends water restrictions. Corpus Christi Caller-Times. Available at: https://www.caller.com/story/news/local/2016/02/03/ingleside-amends-water-restrictions/91328952/.

Saker ML, Neilan BA. 2001. Varied diazotrophies, morphologies, and toxicities of genetically similar isolates of Cylindrospermopsis raciborskii (nostocales, cyanophyceae) from Northern Australia. Appl Environ Microbiol 67:1839–1845.

Salmaso N, Copetti D, Cerasino L, Shams S, Capelli C, Boscaini A, et al. 2014. Variability of microcystin cell quota in metapopulations of Planktothrix rubescens: causes and implications for water management. Toxicon 90:82–96.

Sandrini G, Matthijs HC, Verspagen JM, Muyzer G, Huisman J. 2014. Genetic diversity of inorganic carbon uptake systems causes variation in CO2 response of the cyanobacterium Microcystis. ISME J 8:589.

Schartau M, Engel A, Schröter J, Thoms S, Voelker C, Wolf-Gladrow D. 2007. Modelling carbon overconsumption and the formation of extracellular particulate organic carbon. Biogeosciences 4:433–454.

Schembri MA, Neilan BA, Saint CP. 2001. Identification of genes implicated in toxin production in the cyanobacterium Cylindrospermopsis raciborskii. Environ Toxicol 16:413–421.

Schindler DW, Hecky R, Findlay D, Stainton M, Parker B, Paterson M, et al. 2008. Eutrophication of lakes cannot be controlled by reducing nitrogen input: results of a 37-year whole-ecosystem experiment. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 105:11254–11258.

Scott JT, Marcarelli AM. 2012. Cyanobacteria in freshwater benthic environments. In: Whitton BA (Ed), Ecology of Cyanobacteria II, second edition. Springer, Dordrecht, pp. 271–289.

Seawright AA, Nolan CC, Shaw GR, Chiswell, RK, Norris RL, Moore MR, Smith MJ. 1999. The oral toxicity for mice of the tropical cyanobacterium Cylindrospermopsis raciborskii (Woloszynska). Environ Toxicol 14(1):135–142.

Senogles PJ, Shaw G, Smith M, Norris R, Chiswell R, Mueller J, et al. 2000. Degradation of the cyanobacterial toxin cylindrospermopsin, from Cylindrospermopsis raciborskii, by chlorination. Toxicon 38:1203–1213.

Sevilla E, Martin-Luna B, Vela L, Bes MT, Fillat MF, Peleato ML. 2008. Iron availability affects mcyD expression and microcystin-LR synthesis in Microcystis aeruginosa PCC7806. Eviron Microbiol 10:2476–2483.

Shafik HM, Vörös L, Sprőber P, Présing M, Kovács AW. 2003. Some special morphological features of Cylindrospermopsis raciborskii in batch and continuous cultures. Hydrobiologia 506–509(1–3):163–167.

Shams S, Capelli C, Cerasino L, Ballot A, Dietrich DR, Sivonen K, Salmaso N. 2015. Anatoxin-a producing Tychonema (Cyanobacteria) in European waterbodies. Water Res 69:68–79.

Sharp K, Arther KE, Gu L, Ross C, Harrison G, Gunasekera SP, et al. 2009. Phylogenetic and chemical diversity of three chemotypes of bloom-forming Lynbya species (Cyanobacteria: Oscillatoriales) from reefs of southeastern Florida. Appl Environ Microbiol 75(9):2879–2888.

Shatwell T, Köhler J. 2019. Decreased nitrogen loading controls summer cyanobacterial blooms without promoting nitrogen-fixing taxa: long-term response of a shallow lake. Limnol Oceanogr 64:S166–S178.

Shaw GR, Seawright AA, Moore MR, Lam PK. 2000. Cylindrospermopsin, a cyanobacterial alkaloid: evaluation of its toxicological activity. Ther Drug Monit 22:89–92.

Shen H, Niu Y, Xie P, Tao M, Yang X. 2011. Morphological and physiological changes in Microcystis aeruginosa as a result of interactions with heterotrophic bacteria. Freshwat Biol 56:1065–1080.

Sigee D, Glenn R, Andrews M, Bellinger E, Butler R, Epton H, Hendry R. 1999. Biological control of cyanobacteria: principles and possibilities. Hydrobiologia 395–396:161–172.

Silveira SB, Odebrecht C. 2019. Effects of salinity and temperature on the growth, toxin production, and akinete germination of the cyanobacterium Nodularia spumigena. Front Mar Sci 6:339.

Sinang SC, Reichwaldt ES, Ghadouani A. 2013. Spatial and temporal variability in the relationship between cyanobacterial biomass and microcystins. Environ Monit Assess 185:6379–6395.

Sinang SC, Reichwaldt ES, Ghadouani A. 2015. Could the presence of larger fractions of non-cyanobacterial species be used as a predictor of microcystin production under variable nutrient regimes? Environ Monit Assess 187(7):476.

Singh P, Šnokhousová J, Saraf A, Suradkar A, Elster J. 2020. Phylogenetic evaluation of the genus Nostoc and description of Nostoc neudorfense sp. nov., from the Czech Republic. Int J Systematic Evolut Microbiol 70(4):2740–2749.

Sivonen K. 2009. Cyanobacterial toxins. In: Schaechter M (Ed), Encyclopedia of Microbiology, Elsevier, Oxford, pp. 290–307.

Smith TE, Stevenson RJ, Caraco NF, Cole JJ. 1998. Changes in phytoplankton community structure during the zebra mussel (*Dreissena polymorpha*) invasion of the Hudson River (New York). J Plankton Res 20(8):1567–1579.

Smith FM, Wood SA, van Ginkel R, Broady PA, Gaw S. 2011. First report of saxitoxin production by a species of the freshwater benthic cyanobacterium, Scytonema Agardh. Toxicon 57:566–573.

Søndergaard M, Lauridsen TL, Johansson LS, Jeppesen E. 2017. Nitrogen or phosphorus limitation in lakes and its impact on phytoplankton biomass and submerged macrophyte cover. Hydrobiologia 795:35–48.

Song W, Xu T, Cooper WJ, Dionysiu DD, de la Cruz AA, O'Shea KE. 2009. Radiolysis studies on the destruction of microcystin-LR in aqueous solution by hydroxyl radicals. Environ Sci Technol 43(5):1487–1492.

Srivastava AK, Bhargava P, Kumar A, et al. 2009. Molecular characterization and the effect of salinity on cyanobacterial diversity in the rice fields of Eastern Uttar Pradesh, India. Aquat Biosyst 5:4.

Srivastava A, Singh S, Ahn C, Oh H, Asthana RK. 2013. Monitoring approaches for a toxic cyanobacterial bloom. Environ Sci Technol 47:8999–9013.

Staal M, Meysman FJR, Stal LJ. 2003. Temperature excludes N₂-fixing heterocystous cyanobacteria in tropical oceans. Nature 425:504–507.

Stal LJ, van Gemerden H, Krumbein WE. 1985. Structure and development of a benthic marine microbial mat. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 1(2):111–125.

Stanier RY, Sistrom WR, Hansen TA, Whitton BA, Castenholz RW, Pfennig N, et al. 1978. Proposal to place the nomenclature of the cyanobacteria (blue-green algae) under the rules of the international code of nomenclature of bacteria. Int J Syst Bacteriol 28:335–336.

Steffen MM, Belisle BS, Watson SB, Boyer GL, Wilhelm SW. 2014. Status, causes and controls of cyanobacterial blooms in Lake Erie. J Great Lakes Res 40(2):215–225.

Stough JMA, Tang X, Krausfeldt LE, Steffen MM, Gao G, Boyer GL, et al. 2017. Molecular prediction of lytic vs lysogenic states for Microcystis phage: Metatranscriptomic evidence of lysogeny during large bloom events. PLoS ONE 12(9):e0184146.

Strunecký O, Komárek J, Johansen J, Lukešová A, Elster J. 2013. Molecular and morphological criteria for revision of the genus Microcoleus (Oscillatoriales, Cyanobacteria). J Phycol 49:1167–1180.

Stumm W, Morgan JJ (Eds). 1996. Aquatic Chemistry: Chemical Equilibria and Rates in Natural Waters, 3rd edition. Wiley-Interscience, New York.

Subbiah S, Karnjanapiboonwong A, Maul JD, Wang D, Anderson TA. 2019. Monitoring cyanobacterial toxins in a large reservoir: relationships with water quality parameters. PeerJ 7:e7305.

Suda S, Watanabe MM, Otsuka S, Mahakahant A, Yongmanitchai W, Nopartnaraporn N, et al. 2002. Taxonomic revision of water-bloom-forming species of oscillatoroid cyanobacteria. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 52:1577–1595.

Svirčev Z, Lalić D, Savić GB, Tokodi N, Backović DD, Chen L. et al. 2019. Global geographical and historical overview of cyanotoxin distribution and cyanobacterial poisonings. Arch Toxicol 93:2429–2481.

Takamura N, Watanabe MM. 1987. Seasonal changes in the biomass of four species of Microcystis in Lake Kasumigaura. Jpn J Limnol 48(S1):139–144.

Takamura N, Yasuno M, Sugahara K. 1984. Overwintering of Microcystis aeruginosa Kütz. in a shallow lake. J Plankton Res 6:1019–1029.

Tandeau de Marsac N. 2003. Phycobiliproteins and phycobilisomes: The early observations. Photosynth Res 76:197–205.

Taranu ZE, Pick FR, Creed IF, Zastepa A, Watson SB. 2019. Meteorological and nutrient conditions influence microcystin congeners in freshwaters. Toxins (Basel) 11(11):620.

Taub FB. 2021. Further data analysis needed to assess the role of pH on the dominance of cyanobacterial blooms in nutrient-enriched lakes—Analyze data instead of relying on debates. Academia Lett, Article 464.

Teel JH, Lillis J, Ortez A, Bennett JD. 2013. Blue-green algae in Lake Texoma: An assessment of the health effects of cyanobacteria in Lake Texoma based on water sampling over a 16-month period. Available at: https://www.co.grayson.tx.us/upload/page/0205/docs/BGAreportmay2013ver9051713.

<u>pdf</u>.

Teixeira MR, Rosa MJ. 2006. Comparing dissolved air flotation and conventional sedimentation to remove cyanobacterial cells of Microcystis aeruginosa: Part I: The key operating conditions. Separat Purific Technol 52(1):84–94.

Teixeira MR, Rosa MJ. 2007. Comparing dissolved air flotation and conventional sedimentation to remove cyanobacterial cells of Microcystis aeruginosa: Part II. The effect of water background organics. Separat Purific Technol 53(1):126–134.

Testai E. 2021. Anatoxin-a and analogues. In: Chorus I, Welker M (Eds), Toxic Cyanobacteria in Water: A Guide to Their Public Health Consequences, Monitoring and Management, 2nd edition, CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, pp. 72–93.

Texas Parks and Wildlife Department. 2021. Zebra mussels eradicated from Lake Waco in Central Texas. Available at:

https://tpwd.texas.gov/newsmedia/releases/?req=20210121a.

Tinpranee N, Worananthakij W, Incharoensakdi A, Phunpruch S. 2018. Morphological and genetic characterization of marine filamentous cyanobacterium Geitlerinema isolated from Thailand. Science Asia 44:74–86.

Trevino JM, Petersen CB. 2020. Assessment of field and laboratory methods for the detection and analyses of cyanobacteria and cyanotoxins in Texas reservoirs: US Geological Survey Data Release. Available at: https://doi.org/10.5066/P9ASYKM7.

Tsuji K, Watanuki T, Kondo F, Watanabe MF, Suzuki S, Nakazawa H, et al. 1995. Stability of microcystins from cyanobacteria—II. Effect of UV light on decomposition and isomerization. Toxicon 33(12):1619–1631.

Tsuji K, Watanuki T, Kondo F, Watanabe MF, Nakazawa H, Suzuki M et al. 1997. Stability of microcystins from cyanobacteria—iv. Effect of chlorination on decomposition. Toxicon 35(7):1033–1041.

Turner C. 2010. Influence of zebra (Dreissena polymorpha) and quagga (Dreissena rostriformis) mussel invasions on benthic nutrient and oxygen dynamics. Can J Fisher Aquat Sci 67:1899–1908.

University of Windsor. 2021. Synechococcus-Group. Available at: http://web2.uwindsor.ca/courses/biology/fackrell/Microbes/11200.htm.

USEPA (US Environmental Protection Agency. 2012. 2012 National Lakes Assessment Laboratory Operations Manual. EPA 841-B-11-004. Available at: https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2013-11/documents/nla 2012 lab operations manual 20121009 v1.1.pdf.

USEPA (US Environmental Protection Agency. 2015. Drinking Water Health Advisory for the Cyanobacterial Microcystin Toxins, Office of Water, EPA-820R15100. Available at: https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2017-06/documents/microcystins-report-2015.pdf.

USEPA (US Environmental Protection Agency. 2017. 2017 National Lakes Assessment Laboratory Operations Manual. EPA 841-B-16-004. Available at: https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2020-03/documents/lom_nla_2017_v1.1.pdf.

USEPA (US Environmental Protection Agency. 2021. National Aquatic Resource Surveys. Available at: https://www.epa.gov/national-aquatic-resource-surveys.

USGS (US Geological Survey). 2008. Fact Sheet: Monitoring Indicators of Harmful Cyanobacteria in Texas. Available at: https://pubs.usgs.gov/fs/2008/3009/pdf/FS2008-3009.pdf.

USGS (US Geological Survey). 2021a. Cyanobacteria Methods. Available at: https://www.usgs.gov/centers/ot-water/science/cyanobacteria-methods?qt-science_center_objects=0#qt-science_center_objects.

USGS (US Geological Survey). 2021b. Zebra Mussel Monitoring Program (ZMMP). Available at: https://www.usgs.gov/centers/ot-water/science/zebra-mussel-monitoring-program-zmmp?qt-science center objects=0#qt-science center objects.

van Apeldoorn ME, van Egmond HP, Speijers GJA, Bakker GJI. 2007. Toxins of cyanobacteria. Mol Nutr Food Res 51:7–60.

Vanderploeg HA, Liebig JR, Carmichael WW, Agy MA, Johengen TH, Fahnenstiel GL, Nalepa TF. 2001. Zebra mussel (Dreissena polymorpha) selective filtration promoted toxic Microcystis blooms in Saginaw Bay (Lake Huron) and Lake Erie. Can J Fisher Aquat Sci 58(6):1208–1221.

Vasas G, Surányi G, Bácsi I, Márta M, Máthé C, Gonda S, et al. 2013. Alteration of cylindrospermopsin content of Aphanizomenon ovalisporum (Cyanobacteria, Nostocales) due to step-down from combined nitrogen to dinitrogen. Adv Microbiol 3:557.

Vidal L, Ballot A, Azevedo SMFO, Padisak J, Welker M. 2021. Introduction to cyanobacteria. In: Chorus I, Welker M (Eds), Toxic Cyanobacteria in Water: A Guide to Their Public Health Consequences, Monitoring and Management, 2nd edition, CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, pp. 163–211..

Visser PM, Ibelings BW, Bormans M, Huisman J. 2016. Artificial mixing to control cyanobacterial blooms: 0A review. Aquat Ecol 50:423–441.

Vlad S, Peldszus S, Anderson WB, Huck PM. 2019. Anatoxin-a adsorption by virgin and preloaded granular activated carbon. AWWA Water Sci e1116.

Vollenweider RA, Kerekes JJ. 1982. Eutrophication of waters. Monitoring, assessment and control. Environment Directorate OECD, Paris, 154 pp.

Walls JT, Wyatt KH, Doll JT, Rubenstein EM, Rober AR. 2018. Hot and toxic: Temperature regulates microcystin release from cyanobacteria. Sci Tot Environ 610–611:786–795.

Walsby AE. 1972. Structure and function of gas vacuoles. Bacteriol Rev 36(1):1–32.

Wang Z, Zhang J, Song L, Li E, Wang X, Xiao B. 2015. Effects of linear alkylbenzene sulfonate on the growth and toxin production of Microcystis aeruginosa isolated from Lake Dianchi. Environ Sci Pollut Res 22(7):5491–5499.

Wang X, Wang P, Wang C, Qian J, Feng T, Yang Y. 2018. Relationship between photosynthetic capacity and microcystin production in toxic Microcystis aeruginosa under different iron regimes. Int J Environ Res Public Health 15:1954.

Welker M, Christiansen G, von Döhren H. 2004. Diversity of coexisting Planktothrix (Cyanobacteria) chemotypes deduced by mass spectral analysis of microcystins and other oligopeptides. Arch Microbiol 182:288–298.

Werner V, Laughinghouse H, Fiore M, Sant'Anna CL, Hoff-Risseti C, Santos KRD, et al. 2012. Morphological and molecular studies of Sphaerospermopsis torques-reginae (Cyanobacteria, Nostocales) from South American water blooms. Phycologia 51:228–2238.

Westrick JA, Szlag DC, Southwell BJ, Sinclair J. 2010. A review of cyanobacteria and cyantoxins removal/inactivation in drinking water treatment. Analyt Bioanalyt Chem 397:1705–1714.

Wiedner C, Rücker J, Brüggemann R, Nixdorf B. 2007. Climate change affects timing and size of populations of an invasive cyanobacterium in temperate regions. Oecologia 152:473–484.

Wilken S, Verspagen J, Naus-Wiezer S, Donk E, Huisman Jef. 2014. Biological control of toxic cyanobacteria by mixotrophic predators: an experimental test of intraguild predation theory. Ecol Applicat 24:1235–1249.

Wilson AE, Sarnelle O, Tillmanns AR. 2006. Effects of cyanobacterial toxicity and morphology on the population growth of freshwater zooplankton: Metaanalyses of laboratory experiments. Limnol Oceanogr 51:1915–1924.

Wood SA, Depree C, Brown L, McAllister T, Hawes I. 2015. Entrapped sediments as a source of phosphorus in epilithic cyanobacterial proliferations in low nutrient rivers. PLoS One 10:e0141063.

Wood SA, Puddick J. 2017. The abundance of toxic genotypes is a key contributor to anatoxin variability in Phormidium-dominated benthic mats. Marine Drugs 15:307.

Wood SA, Kelly LT, Bouma-Gregson K, Humbert JF, Laughinghouse IV HD, Lazorchak J, et al. 2020. Toxic benthic freshwater cyanobacterial proliferations: Challenges and solutions for enhancing knowledge and improving monitoring and mitigation. Freshwater Biol 65:1824–1842.

Wu Y, Li L, Gan N, Zheng L, Ma H, Shan K Liu J, Xiao B. 2014. Seasonal dynamics of water bloom-forming Microcystis morphospecies and the associated extracellular microcystin concentrations in large, shallow, eutrophic Dianchi Lake. J Environ Sci 26(9):1921–1929.

Wu D, Yang S, Du W, Yin Y, Zhang J, Guo H. 2019. Effects of titanium dioxide nanoparticles on Microcystis aeruginosa and microcystins production and release. J Hazard Mater 377:1–7.

Xie L, Xie P. 2002. Long-term (1956–1999) dynamics of phosphorus in a shallow, subtropical Chinese lake with the possible effects of cyanobacterial blooms. Water Res 36:343–349.

Yu J. 2011. Characteristics of nitrogen fixation in microbial mats from the South Texas Gulf Coast and in a cyanobacterial strain isolated from mats. PhD thesis, University of Texas at Austin, School of Biological Sciences. Available at: https://repositories.lib.utexas.edu/bitstream/handle/2152/14049/YU-DISSERTATION.pdf?sequence=2&isAllowed=y.

Yu L, Kong F, Zhang M, Yang Z, Shi X, Du M. 2014. The dynamics of microcystis genotypes and microcystin production and associations with environmental factors during blooms in Lake Chaohu, China. Toxins 6(12):3238–3257.

Zhang X, Xie P, Huang X. 2008. A review of nontraditional biomanipulation. Sci World J 8:1184–1196.

Zhang J, Jiang L, Wu D, Yin Y, Guo H. 2020. Effects of environmental factors on the growth and microcystin production of Microcystis aeruginosa under TiO₂ nanoparticles stress. Sci Tot Environ 734:139443.

Zhou J, Qin B, Han X, Zhu L. 2016. Turbulence increases the risk of microcystin exposure in a eutrophic lake (Lake Taihu) during cyanobacterial bloom periods. Harmful Algae 55:213–220.

Zhou H, Chen X, Liu X, Xuan Y, Hu T. 2019. Effects and control of metal nutrients and species on Microcystis aeruginosa growth and bloom. Water Environ Res 91(1):21–31.

Znachor P, Jurczak T, Komárková-Legnerová J, Jezberova J, Mankiewicz J, Kastovska K, et al. 2006. Summer changes in cyanobacterial bloom composition and microcystin concentration in eutrophic Czech reservoirs. Environ Toxicol 21:236–243.

APPENDIX A

Short-Term Cyanotoxin Screening Levels

Appendix A: Short-Term Cyanotoxin Screening Levels

Under Task 1 of Work Order No.: 04 (PCR 23048: Comprehensive Literature Review of Cyanotoxin Toxicity and Health-Based Screening Level Derivation), ToxStrategies conducted a comprehensive literature review of toxicity factors for microcystins, cylindrospermopsin, and anatoxin-a (MCs, CYN, and ATX). Screening levels for drinking water are based on humans consuming drinking water (µg cyanotoxin per liter of water), and on animals consuming surface water (also µg cyanotoxin per liter of water). Animals can ingest intracellular cyanotoxins from cyanobacterial mats and crusts, and corresponding screening levels are also provided (mg cyanotoxin per kg of dry cyanobacteria). Existing regulatory, as well as candidate screening levels for MC-LR, CYN, and ATX for certain age groups, species, reference doses (RfD), exposure durations, and endpoints presented in the Task 1 report are given in Tables A1–A9. Refer to the Task 1 report for details on the derivation of these screening levels.

List of Tables

Table A1.	levels for cyanotoxins	2
Table A2.	Existing dog and livestock regulatory screening levels for cyanotoxins	6
Table A3.	Candidate human health-based drinking water screening levels for microcystin-LR	7
Table A4.	Candidate animal health-based drinking water screening levels for microcystin-LR	9
Table A5.	Candidate animal mat/crust health-based screening levels for microcystin-LR	15
Table A6.	Candidate human health-based drinking water screening levels for cylindrospermopsin	21
Table A7.	Candidate animal health-based drinking water screening levels for cylindrospermopsin	22
Table A8.	Candidate animal mat/crust health-based screening levels for cylindrospermopsin	25
Table A9.	Candidate human health-based drinking water screening levels for anatoxin-a and dihydroanatoxin-a	28
Table A10.	Candidate animal health-based drinking water screening levels for anatoxin-a and dihydroanatoxin-a	30
Table A11.	Candidate animal mat/crust health-based screening levels for anatoxin-a and dihydroanatoxin-a	33

Table A1. Existing human health-based drinking water regulatory screening levels for cyanotoxins

Cyanotoxin*	Regulatory Agency	Type of Drinking Water Screening level	Description of Screening level	Drinking Water Screening level (µg/L)
Microcystins	USEPA (2015a)	10-Day Health Advisory	Children pre-school age and younger (under 6 years old); applied as total microcystins using microcystin-LR as a surrogate	0.3
Microcystins	USEPA (2015a)	10-Day Health Advisory	School-age children (6 years and older); applied as total microcystins using microcystin-LR as a surrogate	1.6
Microcystins	WHO (2020a)	Provisional Guideline Value; based on lifetime drinking water exposure	Microcystin-LR (free plus cell-bound microcystins) for adults lifetime exposure	1
Microcystins	WHO (2020a)	Provisional Guideline Value; based on short- term drinking water exposure (2 weeks)	Microcystin-LR (free plus cell-bound microcystins) for adults short-term exposure (up to 2 weeks)	12
Microcystins	Brazil, Uruguay, China, Czech Republic, Denmark, Germany, Italy, Japan, Korea, Netherlands, Norway, New Zealand, Poland, South Africa, Spain, France, Finland (WHO, 2017)	Drinking Water Guideline	Microcystin-LR (free plus cell-bound microcystins) for adults lifetime exposure	1
Microcystins	Australia, NHMRC, NRMMC (2011)	Drinking Water Guideline	Total microcystins expressed as microcystin-LR toxicity equivalents for lifetime exposure	1.3

Cyanotoxin*	Regulatory Agency	Type of Drinking Water Screening level	Description of Screening level	Drinking Water Screening level (µg/L)
Microcystins	Health Canada (2017)	Drinking Water Guideline	Total microcystins expressed as microcystin-LR toxicity equivalents; for seasonal exposure (<30 days)	1.5
Microcystins	Minnesota Department of Health (2015)	Guideline Value	Acute (1-day or less), Short-term (>1 day to 30 days), Subchronic (3- days to 10% of lifetime), and Chronic Non-Cancer Health Based Value	0.1
Microcystins	Oregon Health Authority (2019)	Drinking Water Guideline	Ages 5 years and younger; up to 10 days	0.3
Microcystins	Oregon Health Authority (2019)	Drinking Water Guideline	Adults; up to 10 days	1.6
Microcystins	Ohio EPA (2020)	Drinking Water Threshold	Do Not Drink – children under 6 and sensitive populations; up to 10 days	0.3
Microcystins	Ohio EPA (2020)	Drinking Water Threshold	Do Not Drink – children 6 and older and adults; up to 10 days	1.6
Cylindrospermopsin	USEPA (2015b)	10-Day Health Advisory	Children pre-school age and younger (under 6 years old)	0.7
Cylindrospermopsin	USEPA (2015b)	10-Day Health Advisory	School-age children (6 years and older)	3
Cylindrospermopsin	WHO (2020b)	Provisional lifetime drinking water health- based guidance value	Adult lifetime	0.7
Cylindrospermopsin	WHO (2020b)	Provisional Guideline Value; based on short- term exposure	Adult short-term (up to 2 weeks)	3.0

Cyanotoxin*	Regulatory Agency	Type of Drinking Water Screening level	Description of Screening level	Drinking Water Screening level (µg/L)
Cylindrospermopsin	Australia (2018)	Health Alert	Due to lack of adequate data, no guideline is set for cylindrospermopsin; however, an initial health alert is estimated	1
Cylindrospermopsin	New Zealand (2018)	Drinking Water Standard	Provisional maximum acceptable value; lifetime	1
Cylindrospermopsin	Brazil (2009)	Guideline for Drinking Water Quality (Recommended)	N/A	15
Cylindrospermopsin	Oregon Health Authority (2019)	Drinking Water Guideline	Ages 5 years and younger; up to 10 days	0.7
Cylindrospermopsin	Oregon Health Authority (2019)	Drinking Water Guideline	Adults; up to 10 days	3
Cylindrospermopsin	Ohio EPA (2020)	Drinking Water Threshold	Do Not Drink – children under 6 and sensitive populations; up to 10 days	0.7
Cylindrospermopsin	Ohio EPA (2020)	Drinking Water Threshold	Do Not Drink – children 6 and older and adults; up to 10 days	3.0
Anatoxin-a	USEPA (2015c)	No drinking water value	Unable to derive due to lack of data	N/A
Anatoxin-a	WHO (2020c)	Provisional short- term drinking water health- based reference value	Adults; up to 2 weeks	30
Anatoxin-a	New Zealand	Drinking Water Guideline	Provisional maximum acceptable value; lifetime	6
Anatoxin-a	Minnesota Department of Health (2016)	Risk Assessment Advice	Short-term Non- Cancer Risk Assessment Advice (>1 day to 30 days)	0.1

Cyanotoxin*	Regulatory Agency	Type of Drinking Water Screening level	Description of Screening level	Drinking Water Screening level (µg/L)
Anatoxin-a	Oregon Health Authority (2019)	Drinking Water Guideline	Ages 5 years and younger; up to 10 days	0.7
Anatoxin-a	Oregon Health Authority (2019)	Drinking Water Guideline	Adults; up to 10 days	3
Anatoxin-a	Ohio EPA (2020)	Drinking Water Threshold	Do Not Drink – children under 6 and sensitive populations; up to 10 days	0.3
Anatoxin-a	Ohio EPA (2020)	Drinking Water Threshold	Do Not Drink – children 6 and older and adults; up to 10 days	1.6

^{*}Screening level applies to total cyanotoxins for the class (e.g., total microcystins), unless indicated differently in the Description of Screening level column.

Ohio EPA – Ohio Environmental Protection Agency, N/A – Not available, WHO – World Health Organization, USEPA – United States Environmental Protection Agency

Table A2. Existing dog and livestock regulatory screening levels for cyanotoxins

Cyanotoxin	Regulatory Agency	Description of Screening Level	Species*	Screening Level for Water Intake (µg/L)	Screening Level for Crust & Mat Consumption (mg/kg-dry weight)
Microcystins (Includes microcystins LA, LR, RR, and YR)	OEHHA (2012)	Acute (<24 hrs, exposure for a single day)	Dog	100	0.5
Microcystins (Includes microcystins LA, LR, RR, and YR)	OEHHA (2012)	Acute (<24 hrs, exposure for a single day)	Cattle	50	5
Microcystins (Includes microcystins LA, LR, RR, and YR)	OEHHA (2012)	Subchronic (up to 10% of lifetime)	Dog	2	0.01
Microcystins (Includes microcystins LA, LR, RR, and YR)	OEHHA (2012)	Subchronic (up to 10% of lifetime)	Cattle	0.9	1
Cylindrospermopsin	OEHHA (2012)	Acute (<24 hrs, exposure for a single day)	Dog	200	0.5
Cylindrospermopsin	OEHHA (2012)	Acute (<24 hrs, exposure for a single day)	Cattle	60	5
Cylindrospermopsin	OEHHA (2012)	Subchronic (up to 10% of lifetime)	Dog	10	0.04
Cylindrospermopsin	OEHHA (2012)	Subchronic (up to 10% of lifetime)	Cattle	5	0.4
Anatoxin-a	OEHHA (2012)	Acute (<24 hrs, exposure for a single day)	Dog	100	0.3
Anatoxin-a	OEHHA (2012)	Acute (<24 hrs, exposure for a single day)	Cattle	40	3
Anatoxin-a	OEHHA (2012)	Subchronic (up to 10% of lifetime)	Dog	100	0.3
Anatoxin-a	OEHHA (2012)	Subchronic (up to 10% of lifetime)	Cattle	40	3

^{*} Cattle screening levels based on small breed dairy cow exposure scenario (average body weight of 454 kg). OEHHA - California EPA's Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment

Table A3. Candidate human health-based drinking water screening levels for microcystin-LR

Target Age Group	Candidate RfD (μg/kg-day)	Study Duration	Study Species	Administered Doses	Point of Departure (µg/kg-day)	Human Equivalent Dose (µg/kg-day)	Uncertainty Factors	Endpoint	Candidate Screening Level (µg/L)	Study	Notes
Adult	2.6	1 day	Mouse	0, 3, 5, 7 or 9 mg/kg	2600 (BMDL)	2600 (no DAF)	1000 (UF _{A =} 10, UF _H = 10, UF _D = 10)	Relative liver weight	83.2	Chernoff et al. (2020)	Drinking water
Adult	0.43	7 days	Mouse	0, 3000, or 4000/ 5000 mg/kg-day; average daily dose for high- dose group of 4143 mg/kg- day	301 (BMDL)	43 (DAF = 7)	100 (UF _A = 1, UF _H = 10, UF _D = 10)	Liver histopath ology (degenera tion)	13.8	Mrdjen et al. (2018)	Drinking water
Adult	0.139	28 days	Rat	0, 50, or 150 μg/kg-day	50 (LOAEL)	12.5 (DAF = 4)	90 (UF _A = 1, UF _H = 10, UF _L = 3, UF _D = 3)	Liver lesions (incl. degenerat ion)	4.4	Heinze (1999)	Drinking water
USEPA HA adult*	0.05	28 days	Rat	0, 50, or 150 μg/kg-day	50 (LOAEL)	50 (no DAF)	1000 (UF _A = 10, UF _H = 10, UF _L = 3, UF _D = 3)	Liver toxicity	1.6	Heinze (1999)	Drinking water
Child	2.6	1 day	Mouse	0, 3, 5, 7 or 9 mg/kg	2600 (BMDL)	2600 (no DAF)	1000 (UF _A = 10, UF _H = 10, UF _D = 10)	Relative liver weight	17	Chernoff et al. (2020)	Drinking water

Target Age Group	Candidate RfD (μg/kg-day)	Study Duration	Study Species	Administered Doses	Point of Departure (µg/kg-day)	Human Equivalent Dose (µg/kg-day)	Uncertainty Factors	Endpoint	Candidate Screening Level (µg/L)	Study	Notes
Child	0.43	7 days	Mouse	0, 3000, or 4000/ 5000 mg/kg-day; average daily dose for high- dose group of 4143 mg/kg- day	301 (BMDL)	43 (DAF = 7)	100 (UF _A = 1, UF _H = 10, UF _D = 10)	Liver histopath ology (degenera tion)	3	Mrdjen et al. (2018)	Drinking water
Child	0.139	28 days	Rat	0, 50, or 150 μg/kg-day	50 (LOAEL)	12.5 (DAF = 4)	90 (UF _A = 1, UF _H = 10, UF _L = 3, UF _D = 3)	Liver lesions (incl. degenerat ion)	0.9	Heinze (1999)	Drinking water
USEPA HA child*	0.05	28 days	Rat	0, 50, or 150 μg/kg-day	50 (LOAEL)	50 (no DAF)	1000 (UF _A = 10, UF _H = 10, UF _L = 3, UF _D = 3)	Liver toxicity	0.3	Heinze (1999)	Drinking water

^{*} Regulatory screening levels are indicated with an asterisk and blue, italicized text.

BMDL – benchmark dose level, DAF – dosimetric adjustment factor, HA - health advisory, incl. – including, LOAEL - lowest observed adverse effect level, mg/kg – milligram per kilogram, mg/kg-day – milligram per kilogram per day, OEHHA – California EPA's Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment, RfD – reference dose, UF_A - interspecies uncertainty factor from animal to human, UF_D - database uncertainty factor, UF_H - intraspecies variability factor, UF_L - LOAEL-to-NOAEL uncertainty factor, μ g/kg-day – microgram per kilogram day, μ g/L – microgram per liter, USEPA – US Environmental Protection Agency

Table A4. Candidate animal health-based drinking water screening levels for microcystin-LR

Target Species	Candidate RfD (µg/kg-day)	Study Duration	Study Species	Administered Doses	Point of Departure (µg/kg-day)	Species Equivalent Dose (µg/kg- day)	Uncertainty Factors	Endpoint	Candidate Screening Level (µg/L)	Study	Notes
Dogs	37	1 day	Sheep	0, 730-1840 mg dry algae/kg (2.7-6.7 mg MC/ kg [OEHHA 2012])	3700 (NOAEL)	3700 (no DAF)	100 (UF _A = 10, UF _L = 1 UF _D = 10)	Mortality	145	Jackson et al. (1984)	
Dogs	26	1 day	Mouse	0, 3, 5, 7 or 9 mg/kg	2600 (BMDL	2600 (no DAF)	100 (UF _A = 10, UF _L = 1, UF _D = 10)	Relative liver weight	102	Chernoff et al. (2020)	
Dogs	5.7	7 days	Mouse	0, 3000, or 4000/ 5000 mg/kg-day; average daily dose for high- dose group of 4143 mg/kg- day	301 (BMDL)	57 (DAF = 5.3)	10 (UF _A = 1, UF _L = 1, UF _D = 10)	Liver histopat hology (degener ation)	22	Mrdjen et al. (2018)	
Dogs	1.9	28 days	Rat	0, 50, or 150 μg/kg-day	50 (LOAEL)	17 (DAF = 3)	9 (UF _A = 1, UF _L = 3, UF _D = 3)	Liver lesions (incl. degenera tion)	7.3	Heinze (1999)	

Target Species	Candidate RfD (µg/kg-day)	Study Duration	Study Species	Administered Doses	Point of Departure (µg/kg-day)	Species Equivalent Dose (µg/kg- day)	Uncertainty Factors	Endpoint	Candidate Screening Level (µg/L)	Study	Notes
Dogs*	37	1 day	Sheep	0, 730-1840 mg dry algae/kg (2.7-6.7 mg MC/ kg [OEHHA 2012])	3700 (NOAEL)	3700 (no DAF)	100 (UF _A = 10, UF _L = 1 UF _D = 10)	Mortality	100	Jackson et al. (1984)	OEHHA, based on acute RfD
Dogs*	0.64	28 days	Rat	0, 50, or 150 μg/kg-day	6.4 (BMDL)	6.4 (no DAF)	10 (UF _A = 3, UF _D = 3)	Liver toxicity	2	Heinze (1999)	OEHHA, based on subchronic RfD
Dairy cattle	37	1 day	Sheep	0, 730-1840 mg dry algae/kg (2.7-6.7 mg MC/ kg [OEHHA 2012])	3700 (NOAEL)	3700 (no DAF)	100 (UF _A = 10, UF _L = 1 UF _D = 10)	Mortality	54	Jackson et al. (1984)	
Dairy cattle	26	1 day	Mouse	0, 3, 5, 7 or 9 mg/kg	2600 (BMDL)	2600 (no DAF)	100 (UF _A = 10, UF _L = 1, UF _D = 10)	Relative liver weight	38	Chernoff et al. (2020)	

Target Species	Candidate RfD (μg/kg-day)	Study Duration	Study Species	Administered Doses	Point of Departure (µg/kg-day)	Species Equivalent Dose (µg/kg- day)	Uncertainty Factors	Endpoint	Candidate Screening Level (µg/L)	Study	Notes
Dairy cattle	2.4	7 days	Mouse	0, 3000, or 4000/ 5000 mg/kg-day; average daily dose for high- dose group of 4143 mg/kg- day	301 (BMDL)	24 DAF = 12.4)	10 (UF _A = 1, UF _L = 1, UF _D = 10)	Liver histopat hology (degener ation)	3.5	Mrdjen et al. (2018)	
Dairy cattle	0.79	28 days	Rat	0, 50, or 150 μg/kg-day	50 (LOAEL)	7 (DAF = 7)	9 (UF _A = 1, UF _L = 3, UF _D = 3)	Liver lesions (incl. degenera tion)	1.2	Heinze (1999)	
Dairy cattle*	37	1 day	Sheep	0, 730-1840 mg dry algae/kg (2.7-6.7 mg MC/ kg [OEHHA 2012])	3700 (NOAEL)	3700 (no DAF)	100 (UF _A = 10, UF _L = 1 UF _D = 10)	Mortality	50	Jackson et al. (1984)	OEHHA, based on acute RfD
Dairy cattle*	0.64	28 days	Rat	0, 50, or 150 μg/kg-day	6.4 (BMDL)	6.4 (no DAF)	10 (UF _A = 3, UF _D = 3)	Liver toxicity	0.9	Heinze (1999)	OEHHA, based on subchronic RfD

Target Species	Candidate RfD (μg/kg-day)	Study Duration	Study Species	Administered Doses	Point of Departure (µg/kg-day)	Species Equivalent Dose (µg/kg- day)	Uncertainty Factors	Endpoint	Candidate Screening Level (µg/L)	Study	Notes
Beef cattle	37	1 day	Sheep	0, 730-1840 mg dry algae/kg (2.7-6.7 mg MC/ kg [OEHHA 2012])	3700 (NOAEL)	3700 (no DAF)	100 (UF _A = 10, UF _L = 1, UF _D = 10)	Mortality	176	Jackson et al. (1984)	
Beef cattle	26	1 day	Mouse	0, 3, 5, 7 or 9 mg/kg	2600 (BMDL)	2600 (no DAF)	100 (UF _A = 10, UF _L = 1, UF _D = 10)	Relative liver weight	124	Chernoff et al. (2020)	
Beef cattle	2.4	7 days	Mouse	0, 3000, or 4000/ 5000 mg/kg-day; average daily dose for high- dose group of 4143 mg/kg- day	301 (BMDL)	24 DAF = 12.4)	10 (UF _A = 1, UF _L = 1, UF _D = 10)	Liver histopat hology (degener ation)	11.6	Mrdjen et al. (2018)	
Beef cattle	0.79	28 days	Rat	0, 50, or 150 μg/kg-day	50 (LOAEL)	7 (DAF = 7)	9 (UF _A = 1, UF _L = 3, UF _D = 3)	Liver lesions (incl. degenera tion)	3.8	Heinze (1999)	

Target Species	Candidate RfD (µg/kg-day)	Study Duration	Study Species	Administered Doses	Point of Departure (µg/kg-day)	Species Equivalent Dose (µg/kg- day)	Uncertainty Factors	Endpoint	Candidate Screening Level (µg/L)	Study	Notes
Beef cattle*	37	1 day	Sheep	0, 730-1840 mg dry algae/kg (2.7-6.7 mg MC/ kg [OEHHA 2012])	3700 (NOAEL)	3700 (no DAF)	100 (UF _A = 10, UF _L = 1, UF _D = 10)	Mortality	200	Jackson et al. (1984)	OEHHA, based on acute RfD
Beef cattle*	0.64	28 days	Rat	0, 50, or 150 μg/kg-day	6.4 (BMDL)	6.4 (no DAF)	10 (UF _A = 3, U _{FD} = 3)	Liver toxicity	3	Heinze (1999)	OEHHA, based on subchronic RfD
Horses	37	1 day	Sheep	0, 730-1840 mg dry algae/kg (2.7-6.7 mg MC/ kg [OEHHA 2012])	3700 (NOAEL)	3700 (no DAF)	100 (UF _A = 10, UF _L = 1, UF _D = 10)	Mortality	206	Jackson et al. (1984)	
Horses	26	1 day	Mouse	0, 3, 5, 7 or 9 mg/kg	2600 (BMDL)	2600 (no DAF)	100 (UF _A = 10, UF _L = 1, UF _D = 10)	Relative liver weight	144	Chernoff et al. (2020)	

Target Species	Candidate RfD (μg/kg-day)	Study Duration	Study Species	Administered Doses	Point of Departure (µg/kg-day)	Species Equivalent Dose (µg/kg- day)	Uncertainty Factors	Endpoint	Candidate Screening Level (µg/L)	Study	Notes
Horses	2.6	7 days	Mouse	0, 3000, or 4000/5000 mg/kg-day; average daily dose for high- dose group of 4143 mg/kg- day	301 (BMDL)	26 (DAF = 11.8)	10 (UF _A = 1, UF _L = 1, UF _D = 10)	Liver histopat hology (degener ation)	14	Mrdjen et al. (2018)	
Horses	0.84	28 days	Rat	0, 50, or 150 μg/kg-day	50 (LOAEL)	7.6 (DAF = 6.6)	9 (UF _A = 1, UF _L = 3, UF _D = 3)	Liver lesions (incl. degenera tion)	5	Heinze (1999)	

^{*} Regulatory screening levels are indicated with an asterisk and blue, italicized text.

BMDL – benchmark dose level, DAF – dosimetric adjustment factor, HA - health advisory, incl. – including, LOAEL - lowest observed adverse effect level, MC – microcystin, mg/kg – milligram per kilogram, mg/kg-day – milligram per kilogram per day, NOAEL - no observed adverse effect level, OEHHA – California EPA's Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment, RfD – reference dose, UF_A - interspecies uncertainty factor from animal to human, UF_D - database uncertainty factor, UF_L - LOAEL-to-NOAEL uncertainty factor, μ g/kg-day – microgram per kilogram day, μ g/L – microgram per liter

Table A5. Candidate animal mat/crust health-based screening levels for microcystin-LR

Target Species	Candidate RfD (μg/kg- day)	Study Duration	Study Species	Administered Doses	Point of Departure (µg/kg- day)	Species Equivalent Dose (µg/kg-day)	Uncertainty Factors	Endpoint	Candidate Screening Level (mg/kg, dry weight)	Study	Notes
Dogs	37	1 day	Sheep	0, 730-1840 mg dry algae/kg (2.7-6.7 mg MC/ kg [OEHHA 2012])	3700 (NOAEL)	3700 (no DAF)	100 (UF _A = 10, UF _L = 1, UF _D = 10)	Mortality	0.5	Jackson et al. (1984)	
Dogs	26	1 day	Mouse	0, 3, 5, 7 or 9 mg/kg	2600 (BMDL)	2600 (no DAF)	100 (UF _A = 10, UF _L = 1, UF _D = 10)	Relative liver weight	0.35	Chernoff et al. (2020)	
Dogs	5.7	7 days	Mouse	0, 3000, or 4000/ 5000 mg/kg-day; average daily dose for high- dose group of 4143 mg/kg- day	301 (BMDL)	57 (DAF = 5.3)	10 (UF _A = 1, UF _L = 1, UF _D = 10)	Liver histopat hology (degener ation)	0.08	Mrdjen et al. (2018)	
Dogs	1.9	28 days	Rat	0, 50, or 150 μg/kg-day	50 (LOAEL)	17 (DAF = 3)	9 (UF _A = 1, UF _L = 3, UF _D = 3)	Liver lesions (incl. degenera tion)	0.025	Heinze (1999)	

Target Species	Candidate RfD (μg/kg- day)	Study Duration	Study Species	Administered Doses	Point of Departure (µg/kg- day)	Species Equivalent Dose (µg/kg-day)	Uncertainty Factors	Endpoint	Candidate Screening Level (mg/kg, dry weight)	Study	Notes
Dogs*	37	1 day	Sheep	0, 730-1840 mg dry algae/kg (2.7-6.7 mg MC/ kg [OEHHA 2012])	3700 (NOAEL)	3700 (no DAF)	100 (UF _A = 10, UF _L = 1, UF _D = 10)	Mortality	0.5	Jackson et al. (1984)	OEHHA, based on acute RfD
Dogs*	0.64	28 days	Rat	0, 50, or 150 μg/kg-day	6.4 (BMDL)	6.4 (no DAF)	10 (UF _A = 3, UF _D = 3)	Liver toxicity	0.01	Heinze (1999)	OEHHA, based on subchronic RfD
Dairy cattle	37	1 day	Sheep	0, 730-1840 mg dry algae/kg (2.7-6.7 mg MC/ kg [OEHHA 2012])	3700 (NOAEL)	3700 (no DAF)	100 (UF _A = 10, UF _L = 1, UF _D = 10)	Mortality	5	Jackson et al. (1984)	
Dairy cattle	26	1 day	Mouse	0, 3, 5, 7 or 9 mg/kg	2600 (BMDL)	2600 (no DAF)	100 (UF _A = 10, UF _L = 1, UF _D = 10)	Relative liver weight	3	Chernoff et al. (2020)	

Target Species	Candidate RfD (μg/kg- day)	Study Duration	Study Species	Administered Doses	Point of Departure (µg/kg- day)	Species Equivalent Dose (µg/kg-day)	Uncertainty Factors	Endpoint	Candidate Screening Level (mg/kg, dry weight)	Study	Notes
Dairy cattle	2.4	7 days	Mouse	0, 3000, or 4000/ 5000 mg/kg-day; average daily dose for high- dose group of 4143 mg/kg- day	301 (BMDL)	24 DAF = 12.4)	10 (UF _A = 1, UF _L = 1, UF _D = 10)	Liver histopat hology (degener ation)	0.3	Mrdjen et al. (2018)	
Dairy cattle	0.79	28 days	Rat	0, 50, or 150 μg/kg-day	50 (LOAEL)	7 (DAF = 7)	9 (UF _A = 1, UF _L = 3, UF _D = 3)	Liver lesions (incl. degenera tion)	0.1	Heinze (1999)	
Dairy cattle	37	1 day	Sheep	0, 730-1840 mg dry algae/kg (2.7-6.7 mg MC/ kg [OEHHA 2012])	3700 (NOAEL)	3700 (no DAF)	100 (UF _A = 10, UF _L = 1, UF _D = 10)	Mortality	5	Jackson et al. (1984)	OEHHA, based on acute RfD
Dairy cattle	0.64	28 days	Rat	0, 50, or 150 μg/kg-day	6.4 (BMDL)	6.4 (no DAF)	10 (UF _A = 3, UF _D = 3)	Liver toxicity	0.1	Heinze (1999)	OEHHA, based on subchronic RfD

Target Species	Candidate RfD (μg/kg- day)	Study Duration	Study Species	Administered Doses	Point of Departure (µg/kg- day)	Species Equivalent Dose (µg/kg-day)	Uncertainty Factors	Endpoint	Candidate Screening Level (mg/kg, dry weight)	Study	Notes
Beef cattle	37	1 day	Sheep	0, 730-1840 mg dry algae/kg (2.7-6.7 mg MC/ kg [OEHHA 2012])	3700 (NOAEL)	3700 (no DAF)	100 (UF _A = 10, UF _L = 1, UF _D = 10)	Mortality	6	Jackson et al. (1984)	
Beef cattle	26	1 day	Mouse	0, 3, 5, 7 or 9 mg/kg	2600 (BMDL)	2600 (no DAF)	100 (UF _A = 10, UF _L = 1, UF _D = 10)	Relative liver weight	5	Chernoff et al. (2020)	
Beef cattle	2.4	7 days	Mouse	0, 3000, or 4000/5000 mg/kg-day; average daily dose for high- dose group of 4143 mg/kg- day	301 (BMDL)	24 DAF = 12.4)	10 (UF _A = 1, UF _L = 1, UF _D = 10)	Liver histopat hology (degener ation)	0.4	Mrdjen et al. (2018)	
Beef cattle	0.79	28 days	Rat	0, 50, or 150 μg/kg-day	50 (LOAEL)	7 (DAF = 7)	9 (UF _A = 1, UF _L = 3, UF _D = 3)	Liver toxicity Liver lesions (incl. degenera tion)	0.1	Heinze (1999)	

Target Species	Candidate RfD (μg/kg- day)	Study Duration	Study Species	Administered Doses	Point of Departure (µg/kg- day)	Species Equivalent Dose (µg/kg-day)	Uncertainty Factors	Endpoint	Candidate Screening Level (mg/kg, dry weight)	Study	Notes
Beef cattle*	37	1 day	Sheep	0, 730-1840 mg dry algae/kg (2.7-6.7 mg MC/ kg [OEHHA 2012])	3700 (NOAEL)	3700 (no DAF)	100 (UF _A = 10, UF _L = 1, UF _D = 10)	Mortality	6	Jackson et al. (1984)	OEHHA, based on acute RfD
Beef cattle*	0.64	28 days	Rat	0, 50, or 150 μg/kg-day	6.4 (BMDL)	6.4 (no DAF)	10 (UF _A = 3, UF _D = 3)	Liver toxicity	0.1	Heinze (1999)	OEHHA, based on subchronic RfD
Horses	37	1 day	Sheep	0, 730-1840 mg dry algae/kg (2.7-6.7 mg MC/ kg [OEHHA 2012])	3700 (NOAEL)	3700 (no DAF)	100 (UF _A = 10, UF _L = 1, UF _D = 10)	Mortality	6.9	Jackson et al. (1984)	
Horses	26	1 day	Mouse	0, 3, 5, 7 or 9 mg/kg	2600 (BMDL)	2600 (no DAF)	100 (UF _A = 10 UF _L = 1, UF _D = 10)	Relative liver weight	4.8	Chernoff et al. (2020)	

Target Species	Candidate RfD (μg/kg- day)	Study Duration	Study Species	Administered Doses	Point of Departure (µg/kg- day)	Species Equivalent Dose (µg/kg-day)	Uncertainty Factors	Endpoint	Candidate Screening Level (mg/kg, dry weight)	Study	Notes
Horses	2.6	7 days	Mouse	0, 3000, or 4000/5000 mg/kg-day; average daily dose for high- dose group of 4143 mg/kg- day	301 (BMDL)	26 (DAF = 11.8)	10 (UF _A = 1, UF _L = 1, UF _D = 10)	Liver histopat hology (degener ation)	0.5	Mrdjen et al. (2018)	
Horses	0.84	28 days	Rat	0, 50, or 150 μg/kg-day	50 (LOAEL)	7.6 (DAF = 6.6)	9 (UF _A = 1, UF _L = 3, UF _D = 3)	Liver toxicity Liver lesions (incl. degenera tion)	0.16	Heinze (1999)	

^{*} Regulatory screening levels are indicated with an asterisk and blue, italicized text.

BMDL – benchmark dose level, DAF – dosimetric adjustment factor, HA - health advisory, incl. – including, LOAEL - lowest observed adverse effect level, MC – microcystin, mg/kg – milligram per kilogram, mg/kg-day – milligram per kilogram per day, NOAEL - no observed adverse effect level, OEHHA – California EPA's Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment, RfD – reference dose, UF_A - interspecies uncertainty factor from animal to human, UF_D - database uncertainty factor, UF_L - LOAEL-to-NOAEL uncertainty factor, μ g/kg-day – microgram per kilogram day, μ g/L – microgram per liter

Table A6. Candidate human health-based drinking water screening levels for cylindrospermopsin

Target Age Group	Candidate RfD (μg/kg- day)	Study Duration	Study Species	Administered Doses	Point of Departure (µg/kg- day)	Human Equivalent Dose (μg/kg- day)	Uncertainty Factors	Endpoint	Candidate Screening Level (µg/L)	Study	Notes
Adult	0.085	11 weeks	Mouse	0, 30, 60, 120, or 240 μg/kg-day	17.9 (BMDL)	2.6 (DAF = 7)	30 (UF _A = 1, UF _H = 10, UF _L = 1 UF _D = 3)	Relative Kidney weight	2.7	Humpage & Falconer (2003)	Drinking water
USEPA HA adult*	0.10	11 weeks	Mouse	0, 30, 60, 120, or 240 μg/kg-day	30 (NOAEL)	30 (no DAF)	300 (UF _A = 10, UF _H = 10, UF _L = 1 UF _D = 3)	Kidney toxicity	3.2	Humpage & Falconer (2003)	Drinking water
Child	0.085	11 weeks	Mouse	0, 30, 60, 120, or 240 μg/kg-day	17.9 (BMDL)	2.6 (DAF = 7)	30 (UF _A = 1, UF _H = 10, UF _L = 1 UF _D = 3)	Relative Kidney weight	0.6	Humpage & Falconer (2003)	Drinking water
USEPA HA child*	0.10	11 weeks	Mouse	0, 30, 60, 120, or 240 μg/kg-day	30 (NOAEL)	30 (no DAF)	300 (UF _A = 10, UF _H = 10, UF _L = 1 UF _D = 3)	Kidney toxicity	0.7	Humpage & Falconer (2003)	Drinking water

^{*} Regulatory screening levels are indicated with an asterisk and blue, italicized text.

BMDL – benchmark dose level, DAF – dosimetric adjustment factor, HA - health advisory, NOAEL - no observed adverse effect level, RfD – reference dose, UF_A - interspecies uncertainty factor from animal to human, UF_D - database uncertainty factor, UF_H - intraspecies variability factor, UF_L- LOAEL-to-NOAEL uncertainty factor, $\mu g/kg$ -day – microgram per kilogram day, $\mu g/kg$ – microgram per liter, USEPA – US Environmental Protection Agency

Table A7. Candidate animal health-based drinking water screening levels for cylindrospermopsin

Target Species	Candidate RfD (μg/kg- day)	Study Duration	Study Species	Administered Doses	Point of Departure (µg/kg- day)	Species Equivalent Dose (µg/kg- day)	Uncertainty Factors	Endpoint	Candidate Screening Level (µg/L)	Study	Notes
Dogs	40	1 day	Mouse	4.4–8.3 mg/kg (Seawright et al. 1999); 0, 2, 4, 6, or 8 mg/kg (Shaw et al. 2000)	4000 (NOAEL)	4000 (no DAF)	100 (UF _A = 10, UF _L = 1 UF _D = 10)	Mortality	157	Shaw et al. (2000) & Seawright et al. (1999)	
Dogs	3.4	11 weeks	Mouse	0, 30, 60, 120, or 240 μg/kg-day	17.9 (BMDL)	3.4 (DAF = 5.3)	1 (UF _A = 1, UF _L = 1 UF _D = 1)	Relative Kidney weight	13	Humpage & Falconer (2003)	
Dogs*	40	1 day	Mouse	4.4–8.3 mg/kg (Seawright et al. 1999); 0, 2, 4, 6, or 8 mg/kg (Shaw et al. 2000)	4000 (NOAEL)	4000 (no DAF)	100 (UF _A = 10, UF _L = 1, UF _D and severity of endpoint = 10)	Mortality	200	Shaw et al. (2000) & Seawright et al. (1999)	OEHHA, based on acute RfD
Dogs*	3.3	11 weeks	Mouse	0, 30, 60, 120, or 240 μg/kg-day	33 (BMDL)	33 (no DAF)	10 $(UF_A = 3, UF_L = 1, UF_D = 3)$	Kidney toxicity	10	Humpage & Falconer (2003)	OEHHA, based on subchronic RfD
Dairy cattle	24	13 weeks	Mouse	0, 75, 150, or 300 μg/kg- day	300 (NOAEL)	24 (DAF = 12.4)	1 (UF _A = 1, UF _L = 1, UF _D = 1)	Mortality	35	Chernoff et al. (2018)	

Target Species	Candidate RfD (µg/kg- day)	Study Duration	Study Species	Administered Doses	Point of Departure (µg/kg- day)	Species Equivalent Dose (µg/kg- day)	Uncertainty Factors	Endpoint	Candidate Screening Level (µg/L)	Study	Notes
Dairy cattle	1.4	11 weeks	Mouse	0, 30, 60, 120, or 240 μg/kg-day	17.9 (BMDL)	1.4 (DAF = 12.4)	1 (UF _A = 1, UF _L = 1, UF _D = 1)	Relative Kidney weight	2.1	Humpage & Falconer (2003)	
Dairy cattle*	40	1 day	Mouse	4.4–8.3 mg/kg (Seawright et al. 1999); 0, 2, 4, 6, or 8 mg/kg (Shaw et al. 2000)	4000 (NOAEL)	4000 (no DAF)	100 (UF _A = 10, UF _L = 1 UF _D = 10)	Mortality	60	Shaw et al. (2000) & Seawright et al. (1999)	OEHHA, based on acute RfD
Dairy cattle*	3.3	11 weeks	Mouse	0, 30, 60, 120, or 240 μg/kg-day	33 (BMDL)	33 (no DAF)	10 (UF _A = 3, UF _L = 1, UF _D = 3)	Kidney toxicity	5	Humpage & Falconer (2003)	OEHHA, based on subchronic RfD
Beef cattle	24	13 weeks	Mouse	0, 75, 150, or 300 μg/kg- day	300 (NOAEL)	24 (DAF = 12.4)	1 (UF _A = 1, UF _L = 1, UF _D = 1)	Mortality	115	Chernoff et al. (2018)	
Beef cattle	1.4	11 weeks	Mouse	0, 30, 60, 120, or 240 μg/kg-day	17.9 (BMDL)	1.4 (DAF = 12.4)	1 (UF _A = 1, UF _L = 1, UF _D = 1)	Relative Kidney weight	6.9	Humpage & Falconer (2003)	

Target Species	Candidate RfD (µg/kg- day)	Study Duration	Study Species	Administered Doses	Point of Departure (µg/kg- day)	Species Equivalent Dose (µg/kg- day)	Uncertainty Factors	Endpoint	Candidate Screening Level (µg/L)	Study	Notes
Beef cattle*	40	1 day	Mouse	4.4–8.3 mg/kg (Seawright et al. 1999); 0, 2, 4, 6, or 8 mg/kg (Shaw et al. 2000)	4000 (NOAEL)	4000 (no DAF)	100 (UF _A = 10, UF _L = 1 UF _D = 10)	Mortality	200	Shaw et al. (2000) & Seawright et al. (1999)	OEHHA, based on acute RfD
Beef cattle*	3.3	11 weeks	Mouse	0, 30, 60, 120, or 240 μg/kg-day	33 (BMDL)	33 (no DAF)	10 (UF _A = 3, UF _L = 1, UF _D = 3)	Kidney toxicity	20	Humpage & Falconer (2003)	OEHHA, based on subchronic RfD
Horses	25	13 weeks	Mouse	0, 75, 150, or 300 μg/kg- day	300 (NOAEL)	25 (DAF = 11.8)	1 (UF _A = 1, UF _L = 1, UF _D = 1)	Mortality	141	Chernoff et al. (2018)	
Horses	1.5	11 weeks	Mouse	0, 30, 60, 120, or 240 μg/kg-day	17.9 (BMDL)	1.5 (DAF = 11.8)	1 (UF _A = 1, UF _L = 1, UF _D = 1)	Relative Kidney weight	8.4	Humpage & Falconer (2003)	

^{*} Regulatory screening levels are indicated with an asterisk and blue, italicized text .

BMDL – benchmark dose level, DAF – dosimetric adjustment factor, HA - health advisory, mg/kg – milligram per kilogram, NOAEL - no observed adverse effect level, OEHHA – California EPA's Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment, RfD – reference dose, UF_A - interspecies uncertainty factor from animal to human, UF_D - database uncertainty factor, UF_L - LOAEL-to-NOAEL uncertainty factor, μ g/kg-day – microgram per kilogram day, μ g/L – microgram per liter

Table A8. Candidate animal mat/crust health-based screening levels for cylindrospermopsin

Target Species	Candidate RfD (µg/kg- day)	Study Duration	Study Species	Administered Doses	Point of Departure (µg/kg- day)	Species Equivalent Dose (µg/kg- day)	Uncertainty Factors	Endpoint	Candidate Screening Level (mg/kg, dry weight)	Study	Notes
Dogs	40	1 day	Mouse	4.4–8.3 mg/kg (Seawright et al. 1999); 0, 2, 4, 6, or 8 mg/kg (Shaw et al. 2000)	4000 (NOAEL)	4000 (no DAF)	100 (UF _A = 10, UF _L = 1 UF _D = 10)	Mortality	0.53	Shaw et al. (2000) & Seawright et al. (1999)	
Dogs	3.4	11 weeks	Mouse	0, 30, 60, 120, or 240 μg/kg-day	17.9 (BMDL)	3.4 (DAF = 5.3)	1 (UF _A = 1, UF _L = 1 UF _D = 1)	Relative Kidney weight	0.045	Humpage & Falconer (2003)	
Dogs*	40	1 day	Mouse	4.4–8.3 mg/kg (Seawright et al. 1999); 0, 2, 4, 6, or 8 mg/kg (Shaw et al. 2000)	4000 (NOAEL)	4000 (no DAF)	100 (UF _A = 10, UF _L = 1, UF _D and severity of endpoint = 10)	Mortality	0.53	Shaw et al. (2000) & Seawright et al. (1999)	OEHHA, based on acute RfD
Dogs*	3.3	11 weeks	Mouse	0, 30, 60, 120, or 240 μg/kg-day	33 (BMDL)	33 (no DAF)	10 (UF _A = 3, UF _L = 1, UF _D = 3)	Kidney toxicity	0.044	Humpage & Falconer (2003)	OEHHA, based on subchronic RfD

Target Species	Candidate RfD (μg/kg- day)	Study Duration	Study Species	Administered Doses	Point of Departure (µg/kg- day)	Species Equivalent Dose (µg/kg- day)	Uncertainty Factors	Endpoint	Candidate Screening Level (mg/kg, dry weight)	Study	Notes
Dairy cattle	24	13 weeks	Mouse	0, 75, 150, or 300 μg/kg- day	300 (NOAEL)	24 (DAF = 12.4)	1 (UF _A = 1, UF _L = 1, UF _D = 1)	Mortality	3.1	Chernoff et al. (2018)	
Dairy cattle	1.4	11 weeks	Mouse	0, 30, 60, 120, or 240 μg/kg-day	17.9 (BMDL)	1.4 (DAF = 12.4)	1 (UF _A = 1, UF _L = 1, UF _D = 1)	Relative Kidney weight	0.19	Humpage & Falconer (2003)	
Dairy cattle*	40	1 day	Mouse	4.4–8.3 mg/kg (Seawright et al. 1999); 0, 2, 4, 6, or 8 mg/kg (Shaw et al. 2000)	4000 (NOAEL)	4000 (no DAF)	100 (UF _A = 10, UF _L = 1 UF _D = 10)	Mortality	5.1	Shaw et al. (2000) & Seawright et al. (1999)	OEHHA, based on acute RfD
Dairy cattle*	3.3	11 weeks	Mouse	0, 30, 60, 120, or 240 μg/kg-day	33 (BMDL)	33 (no DAF)	10 (UF _A = 3, UF _L = 1, UF _D = 3)	Kidney toxicity	0.42	Humpage & Falconer (2003)	OEHHA, based on subchronic RfD
Beef cattle	24	13 weeks	Mouse	0, 75, 150, or 300 μg/kg- day	300 (NOAEL)	24 (DAF = 12.4)	1 (UF _A = 1, UF _L = 1, UF _D = 1)	Mortality	4.2	Chernoff et al. (2018)	
Beef cattle	1.4	11 weeks	Mouse	0, 30, 60, 120, or 240 μg/kg-day	17.9 (BMDL)	1.4 (DAF = 12.4)	1 (UF _A = 1, UF _L = 1, UF _D = 1)	Relative Kidney weight	0.25	Humpage & Falconer (2003)	

Target Species	Candidate RfD (µg/kg- day)	Study Duration	Study Species	Administered Doses	Point of Departure (µg/kg- day)	Species Equivalent Dose (µg/kg- day)	Uncertainty Factors	Endpoint	Candidate Screening Level (mg/kg, dry weight)	Study	Notes
Beef cattle*	40	1 day	Mouse	4.4–8.3 mg/kg (Seawright et al. 1999); 0, 2, 4, 6, or 8 mg/kg (Shaw et al. 2000)	4000 (NOAEL)	4000 (no DAF)	100 (UF _A = 10, UF _L = 1 UF _D = 10)	Mortality	7.0	Shaw et al. (2000) & Seawright et al. (1999)	OEHHA, based on acute RfD
Beef cattle*	3.3	11 weeks	Mouse	0, 30, 60, 120, or 240 μg/kg-day	33 (BMDL)	33 (no DAF)	10 (UF _A = 3, UF _L = 1, UF _D = 3)	Kidney toxicity	0.58	Humpage & Falconer (2003)	OEHHA, based on subchronic RfD
Horses	25	13 weeks	Mouse	0, 75, 150, or 300 μg/kg- day	300 (NOAEL)	25 (DAF = 11.8)	1 (UF _A = 1, UF _L = 1, UF _D = 1)	Mortality	4.7	Chernoff et al. (2018)	
Horses	1.5	11 weeks	Mouse	0, 30, 60, 120, or 240 μg/kg-day	17.9 (BMDL)	1.5 (DAF = 11.8)	1 (UF _A = 1, UF _L = 1, UF _D = 1)	Relative Kidney weight	0.28	Humpage & Falconer (2003)	

^{*} Regulatory screening levels are indicated with an asterisk and blue, italicized text.

BMDL – benchmark dose level, DAF – dosimetric adjustment factor, HA - health advisory, mg/kg – milligram per kilogram, NOAEL - no observed adverse effect level, OEHHA – California EPA's Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment, RfD – reference dose, UF_A - interspecies uncertainty factor from animal to human, UF_D - database uncertainty factor, UF_L - LOAEL-to-NOAEL uncertainty factor, $\mu g/kg$ -day – microgram per kilogram day, $\mu g/k$ – microgram per liter

Table A9. Candidate human health-based drinking water screening levels for anatoxin-a and dihydroanatoxin-a

Target Age Group	Candidate RfD (µg/kg- day)	Study Duration	Study Species	Administered Doses	Point of Departure (µg/kg- day)	Human Equivalent Dose (µg/kg- day)	Uncertainty Factors	Endpoint	Candidate Screening Level (µg/L)	Study	Notes
Adult	0.25	1 day (dhATX- a)	Mouse	Range; using OECD (2008) "up and down" procedure	2500 (LD ₅₀)	2500 (no DAF)	10,000 (UF _A = 10, UF _H = 10, UF _L = 10, UF _D = 10)	Mortality	8	Puddick et al. (2021)	Drinking water
Adult	1.1	1 day (ATX-a)	Mouse	Range; using OECD (2008) "up and down" procedure	10,600 (LD ₅₀)	10,600 (no DAF)	10,000 (UF _A = 10, UF _H = 10, UF _L = 10, UF _D = 10)	Mortality	34	Puddick et al. (2021)	Drinking water
USEPA HA adult*	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	No Value	NA	Drinking water
Child	0.25	1 day (dhATX- a)	Mouse	Range; using OECD (2008) "up and down" procedure	2500 (LD ₅₀)	2500 (no DAF)	10,000 (UF _A = 10, UF _H = 10, UF _L = 10, UF _D = 10)	Mortality	1.7	Puddick et al. (2021)	Drinking water
Child	1.1	1 day (ATX-a)	Mouse	Range; using OECD (2008) "up and down" procedure	10,600 (LD ₅₀)	10,600 (no DAF)	10,000 (UF _A = 10, UF _H = 10, UF _L = 10, UF _D = 10)	Mortality	7	Puddick et al. (2021)	Drinking water
USEPA HA child*	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	No Value	NA	Drinking water

 $[\]ensuremath{^{*}}$ Regulatory screening levels are indicated with an asterisk and blue, italicized text .

ATX-a anatoxin-a, BMDL – benchmark dose level, DAF – dosimetric adjustment factor, dhATX-a – dihydroanatoxin-a, HA – health advisory, LD_{50} – lethal dose for 50 percent of the population, NA – not applicable, OECD – Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, RfD – reference dose, UF_A – interspecies uncertainty factor from animal to human, UF_D – database uncertainty factor, UF_H – intraspecies variability factor, UF_L – LOAEL-to-NOAEL uncertainty factor, $\mu g/kg$ -day – microgram per kilogram day, $\mu g/L$ – microgram per liter, USEPA – US Environmental Protection Age

Table A10. Candidate animal health-based drinking water screening levels for anatoxin-a and dihydroanatoxin-a

Target Species	Candidate RfD (μg/kg- day)	Study Duration	Study Species	Administered Doses	Point of Departure (µg/kg- day)	Species Equivalent Dose (µg/kg- day)	Uncertainty Factors	Endpoint	Candidate Screening Level (µg/L)	Study	Notes
Dogs	2.5	1 day (dhATX- a)	Mouse	Range; using OECD (2008) "up and down" procedure	2500 (LD ₅₀)	2500 (no DAF)	1000 (UF _A = 10, UF _L = 10, UF _D = 10)	Mortality	10	Puddick et al. (2021)	
Dogs	11	1 day (ATX-a)	Mouse	Range; using OECD (2008) "up and down" procedure	10,600 (LD ₅₀)	10,600 (no DAF)	1000 (UF _A = 10, UF _L = 10, UF _D = 10)	Mortality	42	Puddick et al. (2021)	
Dogs*	25	5 day (ATX-a)	Mouse	1.2 – 12.3^ mg/kg-day	2500^ (NOAEL)	2500 (no DAF)	100 $(UF_A = 10, UF_L = 1, UF_D = 10)$	Mortality	98	Fawell (1999b)	OEHHA, acute and subchronic
Dairy cattle	2.5	1 day (dhATX- a)	Mouse	Range; using OECD (2008) "up and down" procedure	2500 (LD ₅₀)	2500 (no DAF)	1000 (UF _A = 10, UF _L = 10, UF _D = 10)	Mortality	3.6	Puddick et al. (2021)	
Dairy cattle	11	1 day (ATX-a)	Mouse	Range; using OECD (2008) "up and down" procedure	10,600 (LD ₅₀)	10,600 (no DAF)	1000 (UF _A = 10, UF _L = 10, UF _D = 10)	Mortality	15	Puddick et al. (2021)	

Target Species	Candidate RfD (µg/kg- day)	Study Duration	Study Species	Administered Doses	Point of Departure (µg/kg- day)	Species Equivalent Dose (µg/kg- day)	Uncertainty Factors	Endpoint	Candidate Screening Level (µg/L)	Study	Notes
Dairy cattle*	25	5 day (ATX-a)	Mouse	1.2 – 12.3^ mg/kg-day	2500^ (NOAEL)	2500 (no DAF)	100 ($UF_A = 10$, $UF_L = 1$, $UF_D = 10$)	Mortality	36	Fawell (1999b)	OEHHA, acute and subchronic
Beef cattle	2.5	1 day (dhATX- a)	Mouse	Range; using OECD (2008) "up and down" procedure	2500 (LD ₅₀)	2500 (no DAF)	1000 (UF _A = 10, UF _L = 10, UF _D = 10)	Mortality	12	Puddick et al. (2021)	
Beef cattle	11	1 day (ATX-a)	Mouse	Range; using OECD (2008) "up and down" procedure	10,600 (LD ₅₀)	10,600 (no DAF)	1000 (UF _A = 10, UF _L = 10, UF _D = 10)	Mortality	50	Puddick et al. (2021)	
Beef cattle*	25	5 day (ATX-a)	Mouse	1.2 - 12.3^ mg/kg-day	2500^ (NOAEL)	2500 (no DAF)	100 ($UF_A = 10$, $UF_L = 1$, $UF_D = 10$)	Mortality	119	Fawell (1999b)	OEHHA, acute and subchronic
Horses	2.5	1 day (dhATX- a)	Mouse	Range; using OECD (2008) "up and down" procedure	2500 (LD ₅₀)	2500 (no DAF)	1000 (UF _A = 10, UF _L = 10, UF _D = 10)	Mortality	14	Puddick et al. (2021)	

Target Species	Candidate RfD (μg/kg- day)	Study Duration	Study Species	Administered Doses	Point of Departure (µg/kg- day)	Species Equivalent Dose (µg/kg- day)	Uncertainty Factors	Endpoint	Candidate Screening Level (µg/L)	Study	Notes
Horses	11	1 day (ATX-a)	Mouse	Range; using OECD (2008) "up and down" procedure	10,600 (LD ₅₀)	10,600 (no DAF)	1000 (UF _A = 10, UF _L = 10, UF _D = 10)	Mortality	59	Puddick et al. (2021)	

^{*} Regulatory screening levels are indicated with an asterisk and blue, italicized text.

ATX-a anatoxin-a, DAF – dosimetric adjustment factor, dhATX-a - dihydroanatoxin-a, LD $_{50}$ - lethal dose for 50 percent of the population, mg/kg-day – milligram per kilogram per day, NOAEL – no observed adverse effect level, RfD – reference dose, OECD - Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, UF $_{\rm A}$ - interspecies uncertainty factor from animal to human, UF $_{\rm D}$ - database uncertainty factor, UF $_{\rm L}$ - LOAEL-to-NOAEL uncertainty factor, $\mu g/kg$ -day – microgram per kilogram day, $\mu g/L$ – microgram per liter

[^]Doses are listed as reported by OEHHA (2012). However, doses in the reference study (Fawell 199b) are indicated as 1.5, 3, 7.5 or 15 mg/kg-day, with 3 mg/kg-day as the maximum tolerated dose.

Table A11. Candidate animal mat/crust health-based screening levels for anatoxin-a and dihydroanatoxin-a

Target Species	Candidate RfD (µg/kg- day)	Study Duration	Study Species	Administered Doses	Point of Departure (µg/kg- day)	Species Equivalent Dose (µg/kg-day)	Uncertainty Factors	Endpoint	Candidate Screening Level (mg/kg, dry weight)	Study	Notes
Dogs	2.5	1 day (dhATX)	Mouse	Range; using OECD (2008) "up and down" procedure	2500 (LD ₅₀)	2500 (no DAF)	1000 (UF _A = 10, UF _L = 10, UF _D = 10)	Mortality	0.033	Puddick et al. (2021)	
Dogs	11	1 day (ATX)	Mouse	Range; using OECD (2008) "up and down" procedure	10,600 (LD ₅₀)	10,600 (no DAF)	1000 (UF _A = 10, UF _L = 10, UF _D = 10)	Mortality	0.14	Puddick et al. (2021)	
Dogs*	25	5 day (ATX)	Mouse	1.2 - 12.3^ mg/kg-day	2500^ (NOAEL)	2500 (no DAF)	100 (UF _A = 10, UF _L = 1, UF _D = 10)	Mortality	0.33	Fawell (1999b)	OEHHA, acute and subchronic
Dairy cattle	2.5	1 day (dhATX)	Mouse	Range; using OECD (2008) "up and down" procedure	2500 (LD ₅₀)	2500 (no DAF)	1000 (UF _A = 10, UF _L = 10, UF _D = 10)	Mortality	0.32	Puddick et al. (2021)	
Dairy cattle	11	1 day (ATX)	Mouse	Range; using OECD (2008) "up and down" procedure	10,600 (LD ₅₀)	10,600 (no DAF)	1000 (UF _A = 10, UF _L = 10, UF _D = 10)	Mortality	1.4	Puddick et al. (2021)	

Target Species	Candidate RfD (µg/kg- day)	Study Duration	Study Species	Administered Doses	Point of Departure (µg/kg- day)	Species Equivalent Dose (µg/kg-day)	Uncertainty Factors	Endpoint	Candidate Screening Level (mg/kg, dry weight)	Study	Notes
Dairy cattle*	25	5 day (ATX)	Mouse	1.2 - 12.3^ mg/kg-day	250^0 (NOAEL)	2500 (no DAF)	100 (UF _A = 10, UF _L = 1, UF _D = 10)	Mortality	3.2	Fawell (1999b)	OEHHA, acute and subchronic
Beef cattle	2.5	1 day (dhATX)	Mouse	Range; using OECD (2008) "up and down" procedure	2500 (LD ₅₀)	2500 (no DAF)	1000 (UF _A = 10, UF _L = 10, UF _D = 10)	Mortality	0.44	Puddick et al. (2021)	
Beef cattle	11	1 day (ATX)	Mouse	Range; using OECD (2008) "up and down" procedure	10,600 (LD ₅₀)	10,600 (no DAF)	1000 (UF _A = 10, UF _L = 10, UF _D = 10)	Mortality	1.9	Puddick et al. (2021)	
Beef cattle*	25	5 day (ATX)	Mouse	1.2 - 12.3^ mg/kg-day	2500^ (NOAEL)	2500 (no DAF)	100 (UF _A = 10, UF _L = 1, UF _D = 10)	Mortality	4.4	Fawell (1999b)	OEHHA, acute and subchronic
Horses	2.5	1 day (dhATX)	Mouse	Range; using OECD (2008) "up and down" procedure	2500 (LD ₅₀)	2500 (no DAF)	1000 (UF _A = 10, UF _L = 10, UF _D = 10)	Mortality	0.5	Puddick et al. (2021)	
Horses	11	1 day (ATX)	Mouse	Range; using OECD (2008) "up and down" procedure	10,600 (LD ₅₀)	10,600 (no DAF)	1000 (UF _A = 10, UF _L = 10, UF _D = 10)	Mortality	2.0	Puddick et al. (2021)	

^Doses are listed as reported by OEHHA (2012). However, doses in the reference study (Fawell 199b) are indicated as 1.5, 3, 7.5 or 15 mg/kg-day, with 3 mg/kg-day as the maximum tolerated dose.

ATX-a anatoxin-a, DAF – dosimetric adjustment factor, dhATX-a - dihydroanatoxin-a, LD_{50} - lethal dose for 50 percent of the population, mg/kg-day – milligram per kilogram per day, NOAEL – no observed adverse effect level, RfD – reference dose, OECD - Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, UF_A - interspecies uncertainty factor from animal to human, UF_D - database uncertainty factor, UF_L - LOAEL-to-NOAEL uncertainty factor, μ g/kg-day – microgram per kilogram day, μ g/L – microgram per liter

^{*} Regulatory screening levels are indicated with an asterisk and blue, italicized text .